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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forwaciking statements” that involve risks and uncetiadn as well as assumptions that, if they never
materialize or prove incorrect, could cause ouunltego differ materially from those expressedroplied by such forward-looking statements. The
statements contained in this Annual Report on FDOARK that are not purely historical are forwardiom statements within the meaning of Section 27A o
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Seesriict, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchamef 1934, as amended, or Exchange Act. Such
forward-looking statements include any expectatibearnings, revenue or other financial items; stayements of the plans, strategies and objeatives
management for future operations; factors that affgct our operating results; statements relatextithng employees; statements related to potential
benefits of the acquisition of substantially alltbé assets of Unicorn Media, Inc. and certairto$ubsidiaries; statements related to future abpit
expenditures; statements related to future econoamditions or performance; statements as to imgtiginds and other matters that do not relatetbtitio
historical facts or statements of assumptions uyiderany of the foregoing. Forward-looking statertseare often identified by the use of words sughat
not limited to, “anticipate,” “believe,” “can,” “agtinue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,”rhay,” “will,” “plan,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “target,”
“will,” “would,” and similar expressions or variatns intended to identify forward-looking statemefiisese statements are based on the beliefs and
assumptions of our management based on informetioently available to management. Such forwardilog statements are subject to risks, uncertainties
and other important factors that could cause acasallts and the timing of certain events to diffexterially from future results expressed or imglyy such
forward-looking statements. Factors that could earscontribute to such differences include, batrast limited to, those identified below, and those
discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” unted in Item 1A of Part | of this Annual ReportlBorm 10-K, and the risks discussed in our otheuBges
and Exchange Commission, or SEC, filings. Furtheemsuch forward-looking statements speak onlyfélsendate of this report. Except as required by, la
we undertake no obligation to update any forwankilog statements to reflect events or circumstaaftes the date of such statements. Forward-looking
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K nmejude statements about:

e our ability to achieve profitability

¢ our competitive position and the effect of competitin our industry

e our ability to retain and attract new custom

¢ our ability to penetrate existing markets and depelew markets for our service

e our ability to integrate Unicorn products with Val€loud;

e our ability to retain or hire qualified accountiagd other personne

< our ability to protect our intellectual propertydaoperate our business without infringing uponitttellectual property rights of othet

¢ our ability to maintain the security and relialyilaf our systems

¢ our estimates with regard to our future performaenue total potential market opportuni

e our estimates regarding our anticipated resultgpefations, future revenue, capital requirementiscam needs for additional financing; &

e our goals and strategies, including those relaigdtenue growtt




PART |
Item 1. Business
Overview

Brightcove Inc., or Brightcove, is a leading glopabvider of cloud-based services for video. Bragive was incorporated in Delaware in August 2004
and our headquarters are in Boston, Massachuefttssuite of products and services reduces theazmstomplexity associated with publishing,
distributing, measuring and monetizing video acaeaces.

Brightcove Video Cloud, or Video Cloud, our flagstroduct released in 20086, is the world’s leadintine video platform. Video Cloud enables our
customers to publish and distribute video to Intééiconnected devices quickly, easily and in a effgietive and high-quality manner. Brightcove Zeaeq
or Zencoder, is a cloud-based video encoding serddghtcove Once, or Once, is an innovative, dtbased ad insertion and video stitching serviaé th
addresses the limitations of traditional onlineeadd insertion technology. Brightcove GalleryCallery, released in May 2014, is a cloud-basedicer
that enables customers to create and publish yideals. Brightcove Perform, or Perform, release8eéptember 2014, is a cloud-based service fotiogea
and managing video player experiences. Brightcoded'Marketing Suite, or Video Marketing Suite eaded in May 2014, is a comprehensive suite of
video technologies designed to address the needsuddeters to drive awareness, engagement and rsiowve

Since 2014, our go-to-market approach for our gmisthas been focused primarily on (i) media corgsaand (ii) digital marketers in a wide range of
enterprises and organizations.

As of December 31, 2014, we had 5,770 customersen 75 countries, including many of the world’adeng media companies, broadcasters,
publishers, brands and corporations, as well asmovents, educational institutions and non-prafianizations.

We generate revenue by offering our products téooosrs on a subscription-based, software as acggmi SaaS, model. Our revenue grew from $109.9
million in the year ended December 31, 2013 to $1#4llion in the year ended December 31, 20140Becember 31, 2013, we had 6,318 customers, of
which 4,556 used our volume offerings and 1,762use premium offerings. As of December 31, 2014 had 5,770 customers, of which 3,907 used our
volume offerings and 1,863 used our premium offgsirDuring 2013, we decided to prioritize our premiproduct editions over our volume product
editions. Our premium product editions have higtrézes, the customers of our premium product edfitiose more of our solutions, and we believe that o
premium customers represent a greater opportumitydr solutions. To date, substantially all of cewenue has been attributable to our Video Cloud
product.

Our Solutions
Our solutions provide our customers with the follogvkey benefits:

« Comprehensive, modular and scalable solutiodi&leo Cloud provides a single, integrated solutio meet a range of video publishing and
distribution needs. Video Marketing Suite is an-¢ménd solution of video technologies built foe theeds of modern marketers. Each of
Zencoder, Once, Gallery and Perform are modulartisols that customers can either use on a stame-dlasis or integrate into their existing
video workflows. In addition, our multi-tenant arigtture enables us to deliver each of our solstaeross our customer base with a single version
of our software for each product, making it eatiescale our solutions as our customer and endbaser expand

¢ [Easy to use and low total cost of owners. Our products were designed to be intuitive aasl¢o use. We provide reliable, cost-effectivedemand
solutions to our customers, relieving them of thstctime and resources associated with in-houséias and enabling them to be up and running
quickly after signing with us

«  Open platforms and extensive ecosyste@ur open and extensible platforms enable ouoausrs to customize standard features and fundiipred
easily integrate third-party technology to meetrtbe/n specific requirements and business objestiVée have an extensive ecosystem of partners,
which we refer to as the Brightcove Alliance. Mtinan 150 Brightcove Alliance members have built8ohs that rely upon, or are already integrated
with, our platforms. This ecosystem includes legdgchnology companies such as Akamai, comScoregi@@nd Oracle and providers of niche
technology services. These integrated technolqg@ade our customers with enhanced flexibilityndtionality and ease of us

¢ Help customers achieve business objec!. Our customers use our products to achieve keinbss objectives such as driving site trafficréasing
viewer engagement on their sites, monetizing cdniecreasing conversion rates for transaction@giasing brand awareness and expanding their
audiences. We believe our customers view us agi@gic partner in part because our business niedet dependent on building our own audience or
generating our own ad revenue. Our business irtseaéign with our customers’ interests as we eaaiebt from the success of our customers’ online
strategy




Ongoing customer-driven developmenthrough our account managers, customer supgamig, product managers and regular outreach froirse
leadership, we solicit and capture feedback fromcostomer base for incorporation into ongoing @ckanents to our solutions. We regularly provide
our customers with enhancements to our productseXample, in 2014 we introduced an entirely neslewi player with significantly faster load times
and faster video starts. The new player also allavesomers to deliver video using a single protodITP Live Streaming, or HLS, across both mo
and desktop, integrates easily with modern webaitesprovides consistent behavior across platfoamd,is easily customizable using standard CSS
and JavaScript application program interfaces, RIsADelivering cloud-based solutions allows useéove additional customers with little incremental
expense and to deploy innovations and best praagjeekly and efficiently to our existing custome

Our Business Strengths

We believe that the following business strengtfifedintiate us from our competitors and are kegubsuccess:

We are the recognized online video platform maldader. In 2014, our customers used Video Cloud to @elan average of approximately 1.5 bill
video streams per month, which we believe is madeo/streams per month than any other professigwiation. Frost & Sullivan awarded us the
Global Market Leadership Award for Online Video tRlams in 2014. In 2012, 2013 and 2014, we were stdected to the Deloitte Technology Fast
500 list.

We have established a global presend&’e have established a global presence, beginmithgour first non-U.S. customer in 2007, and awuing
with the expansion of our operations into Europgah, Asia Pacific and the Middle East. Today, @aeehemployees in nine countries. We built our
solutions to be localized into almost any languageé currently offer 24/7 customer support worldwille of December 31, 2014, organizations
throughout the world used Video Cloud to reach @esan approximately 245 countries and territot

We have high visibility and predictability in oundiness We sell our subscription and support servicesutph monthly, quarterly or annual contracts
and recognize revenue ratably over the committed.t€he majority of our revenue comes from annealtiacts. Our existing contracts provide us
with visibility into revenue that has not yet beecognized. We have also achieved an overall riscudollar retention rate of at least 86% in eath o
the last four fiscal quarters, including 88%, 98%% and 101% for the three months ended March@4,2June 30, 2014, September 30, 2014 and
December 31, 2014, respectively. Our business mattttustomer loyalty provide greater levels ofireng revenue and predictability compared to
traditional, perpetu-license business mode

We have customers of all sizes across multiplesinighis. We offer different editions of our products ¢teéd to meet the needs of organizations of
various sizes, from large global enterprises tollsama medium-sized businesses, across indus@iesofferings range from entry-level editions to
enterpris-level editions used by multiple departments innl& organization

Our management team has experience building anthgcsoftware companies Our senior leadership team has built innovadiviware platform
businesses. Members of our senior leadership team teld senior product, business and technoldgg i companies such as Adobe, Allaire,
Amazon Web Services, Citrix, EMC, Lycos and Macrdiae

Our Customers

As of December 31, 2014, we had 5,770 customersen 75 countries. We provide our solutions to mafithe world’s leading media companies,
broadcasters, publishers, brands and corporatensell as governments, educational institutiortsraom-profit organizations. While our solutions are
tailored to meet the needs of media companies mitdldmarketers in a wide range of enterprises @g@nizations, we believe our solutions can beaefy
organization with a website or digital content.

Our Products and Services

Video Cloud

Video Cloud, the world’s leading online video ptath, enables our customers to publish and disgibideo to Internet-connected devices quickly,
easily and in a cost-effective and high-quality mam Our innovative technology and intuitive usgeiface give customers control over a wide rarfge o
features and functionality needed to publish ardivelea compelling user experience, including tbkofving:

Uploading and Encoding Using Video Cloud, customers may upload videogairious formats for adaptive encoding that maz@siquality and
minimizes file size. Video Cloud then automaticalyables the content to be delivered to end uses third-party content delivery network, or CDN,
such as Akamai Technologies, Inc., or Akamai, onélight Networks, Inc., or Limeligh

Content ManagementWhether a customer has a few short video clifeausands of full-length episodes, Video Cloudkesait easy to organize a
media library. Videos can be grouped together ditig-and-drop controls or smart playlists that enattically organize content. Customers can set
rules for geographic access and schedules to defieee and when their videos can be viev

Video Players Video Cloud includes leading video player tedbgy, with fast load times and fast video start&lés Cloud allows for point-andlick
styling and configuration of video players that cafiect the brand or design of the customer. Qdew players also include built-in support for
advertising, analytics and content protection, proyide a consistent crogdatform playback experience. Developers can @ke advantage of a set
tools to create completely custom video player erpees.




e Multi-platform video experiencesWe have built Video Cloud to support numerousrafing systems, formats and devices. In additioneb-based
experiences, Video Cloud provides publishing arliveley services for cross-platform devices inclugismartphones, tablets and Connected TVs. Our
solution includes automated device detection andages multiple renditions of the same video encanleiifferent forms with optimized delivery
protocols for different target forma

e Live Video Streamin. In addition to on-demand video distribution, ¥@Cloud includes support for live video broadcagideo Cloud accepts
multiple live streams at different quality levelsdadelivers the rendition that attempts to bestimatch viewer's available bandwidth, processor
utilization and player siz¢

« Distribution and Syndicatio. Video Cloud supports a blended distributionteygg across the Internet, allowing customers ttrilige videos on their
own website, partner websites or video-sharing siteh as YouTube. These tools help content ovtoetsve site traffic, increase brand awareness
and expand their audienc

¢« Social Media Customers can expand their audience by levegabm social network of their viewers. Through greged Video Cloud capabilities,
users can share videos through Facebook, Twittko#irer social media destinatiol

¢ Advertising and Monetizatic. Video Cloud can help customers grow and mondiieg audience with video ad features such astfoolad insertions
and built-in ad server and network integrationgléd Cloud includes tools to support synchronizeplayer ads with embedded link functionality and
overlays for persistent brandir

¢ Analytics. Video Cloud’s integrated video analytics presafdarmation to optimize and support customersimabideo publishing and distribution
strategy. Online publishers can also choose tgiate web analytics solutions such as Adobe OnmituiGoogle Analytics with Video Clou

Zencoder
Zencoder is a cloud-based video encoding servieec@er provides our customers with high-qualijiable encoding of live and on-demand video and
access to highly scalable encoding power withouirtzato pay for, manage and scale expensive haalamd software. Zencoder includes the following
principal features and functionality:
* File Suppori. Zencoder accepts files in an extensive randerofats and codecs and supports video output taltitude of devices
¢ Quality and Contro. Zencoder includes tools to support high qualiieo output and to adjust and edit vid
¢ Speed and Reliability.Zencoder provides extremely fast transcoding addstry leading reliability

¢ Platform and Securit. Zencoder is scalable, globally distributed amzdudes advanced security features designed tegirobntent

¢ Account and Integratio. Zencoder provides a simple API for streamlingdgration, supports most major transfer protoaats accelerated file
transfers and allows users to manage their accamot€ncoding jobs from an intuitive, online dasirdc

Once
Once is an innovative, cloud-based ad insertionvaaheb stitching service that addresses the limitatof traditional online video ad insertion
technology. Once reduces or eliminates the neepléform-specific ad technology and makes it galssior customers to reliably deliver live or onaaknd

video with dynamically customized programming aagyeted ads to the maximum range of devices. Qmedes the following principal features and
functionality:

¢« Reach. Once features clo-based ad monetization of video on demand, liveosated simulcast TV across devices, apps and wekt
¢ Integrations. Once is pr-integrated with ad networks and ad decision syst
e Serve-Side Solutior. Once is a serv-side solution, requiring no SDKSs, p-ins or clien-side code
«  Simplicity.Once uses a single URL with automatic device digtedb deliver high b-rate broadcast quality video a
Gallery
Gallery is a cloud-based service that enables me&t®to create and publish video portals. Thisisermombines portal templates with best practioes f
search engine optimization, responsive designaksbaring and conversion in a single solution taat be implemented and updated with ease. Gallery
allows customers to create engaging video expeggnuach as video channels, product showcases, mi@osites and video support centers. Gallery

includes the following principal features and fuatlity:

¢ Portal TemplatesCustomers can choose from over 100 templates, taymd color combinations to customize a desighawit any technical
resources

e Search Engine OptimizatioPortals include video search engine optimizatiomwgry page to help increase traf
« Brand PrecisionPoint and click tools to change any page eleménivatustomers to match their exact colors and brdedtity.

¢ ConversionGallery includes built-in lead capture featuresxiible messaging areas and integrations with Igadiarketing automation solutions like
Elogua and Omniture to help customers capture heads.






* Mobile / Responsive DesicCustomers can reach their audience on desktopstgaiy mobile devices with responsive design tenesl that
automatically adapt to an end U's device

¢ Social.Gallery allows customers to expand the reach of g@tals with social sharing options for Twitt€acebook, YouTube, Pinterest, LinkedIn
and more

¢ Ease of UseCustomers can go live in minutes with a cl-based solution that can be managed and updatecast
Gallery allows customers to create engaging vidgeeences such as video channels, product shogjoagent microsites and video support centers.
Perform

Perform is a cloud-based service for creating andaging video player experiences. This serviceigesvcustomers with leading video player
technology, a robust set of management APIs arfdnpeance optimization services. Perform delivesssrplatform playback experiences and includes
built-in support for advertising, analytics and tmnt protection. Perform includes the followingrmipal features and functionality:

¢ Leading Video Player TechnolocPerform includes a fast HTML5-first video playezsponsive design, social sharing and integratiols @nd support
for HLS across all major mobile and desktop platfsr

* SpeedPerform is designed to have the fastest load tamelsthe fastest video starts. Perform’s precompiledins, skinned assets and thumbnails
minimize download size. Perform is optimized toueel network traffic. Perform also allows custonterdeploy changes to thousands of player
embeds with batch publishing to accelerate -to-market.

¢ Wide Reach Perform allows customers to reach the maximurgeasf Internet-connected devices and operatingBystvith consistent playback
across desktop and mobile devic

*  Powerful APIs, Plugins and SDI. The developer-friendly, HTML5 video player is #sasustomized with CSS and JavaScript APIs. Penfer
Management APIs also allow customers to easilyrobptayer configurations. Perform has a robussgstem of plugins and integrations, including
built-in support for advertising, analytics and tant protection, as well as numerous open-sourggims from the Video.js community. Perform also
includes native player SDKs for easy developmedtdeployment of native applicatior

Video Marketing Suite

Video Marketing Suite is a comprehensive suiteidé® technologies designed to address the neadarideters to drive awareness, engagement and
conversion. Video Marketing Suite is a bundled wffg of Video Cloud, the Video Cloud Live module,ldve module, and Gallery. The Live module is an
optional add-on to Video Cloud designed to enable-technical users to set up live events and deliudti-bitrate streams to multiple devices, withthe need
for hardware encoders or development work.

Editions

Each of our products is offered to customers onbsaription-based SaaS model, with varying levéfsinctionality, usage entitlements and supportr Ou
customers pay us a monthly, quarterly or annuaaiition fee for access to our products. This rhatlews our customers to scale their level of stmeent and
usage based on the size and complexity of thedlsiee

Video Cloud is offered in two product lines. Thesfiproduct line is comprised of our premium prddeditions, Pro and Enterprise. All Pro and Entiegor
editions include functionality to publish and diistite video to Internet-connected devices. The fpnitge edition provides additional features anc:fiomality
such as a multi-account environment with consoéiddtilling, IP address filtering, the ability toopluce live events with DVR functionality and advedapload
acceleration of content. The second product lirmprised of our volume product edition, whichneter to as our Express edition. Our Express editingets
small and medium-sized businesses, or SMBs. TheeSgpedition provides customers with the same Hasationality that is offered in our premium pradu
editions but has been designed for customers whe loaver usage requirements and do not typicakk selvanced features and functionality.

Customers of Zencoder on annual contracts are @emsl premium customers. Customers of Zencoderamh¥to-month contracts, pay-as-you-go contracts,
or contracts for a period of less than one yearcansidered volume customers.

All Once, Gallery, Perform and Video Marketing ®uitustomers are considered premium customers.
Account Management

An important component of our sales strategy isameount management organization. This organizadiémcused on ongoing customer success and
engagement, as well as contract renewals and gpeaur customer base.




Professional Services

While our products are easy for customers to udedaploy without any additional specialized sersjage offer a range of professional services for
customers who seek customization or assistancethethimplementations. These professional senégegpriced on a time and materials basis or a per
project basis and include projects such as comtégrations from other vendors or in-house solutisideo player enhancements and the creation of web
pages optimized for video.

Support

Our products generally include basic support fohiegcal and operational issues. The premium editadfrour products generally include telephone
support during normal business hours. We also @4ér global telephone support to customers pafgngremium support packages.

Training

We offer free basic online training to registeraens of our products. We also offer customizeditemsaining for customers that is priced on a per
engagement basis.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products primarily through our globakdt sales organization. Our sales team is orgariz the following geographic regions: Americas,
Europe and the Middle East, Asia Pacific, and Jayénfurther organize our go-to-market approaciidoysing our sales and marketing teams on selling
primarily to (i) media companies, who generally wandistribute video content to a broad audiente @) digital marketers in a wide range of ent&rps
and organizations, who generally use video for meimk or communication purposes. A small amourtstabés are generated through referral partners,
channel partners and resellers. We also sell sémergroducts online through our website.

We generate customer leads, accelerate sales opjied and build brand awareness through our niackerograms. Our marketing programs target
executives, technology professionals and senidnbss leaders. Like our sales teams, our markégigng and programs are organized by geography and
industry segment. Our principal marketing programctude:

e public relations and social med
« online event marketing activities, direct emaikrsh engine marketing and display ads and bl

« field marketing events for customers and prospt
e participation in, and sponsorship of, user confeesntrade shows and industry eve

e use of our website to provide product and orgaiumahformation, as well as learning opportunitiespotential customer:

e cooperative marketing efforts with partners]inling joint press announcements, joint trade shotivities, channel marketing campaigns and joint
seminars

« telemarketing and lead generation representativesraspond to incoming leads to convert them i sales opportunities; al
e customer programs, including user meetings ananolime customer communit
Operations

We operate data center facilities in the greatest@®oarea, the greater Chicago area, Phoenix, argtekdam, and also use third-party cloud computing
platforms. We operate our own servers for systérasrhanage meta-data, business rules and archivage of media assets. We take advantage of
geographically dispersed, third-party, cloud conmmutapacity to improve the responsiveness of etrise and lower network latency for our customers.

Media delivery to end users, including video, auditages, JavaScript and Adobe Flash componergsnied primarily through CDN providers,
including Akamai and Limelight. We believe our agmeents with our CDN providers are based on conipetiharket terms and conditions, including
service level commitments from these CDN providers.

We entered into our agreement with Akamai in JA¥@ It enables us to use Akamai CDN services fioroavn benefit and to resell Akamai CDN
services to our customers in every geographic imeat which we offer our products. The current ieafion date of the agreement is December 31, 2017.

We entered into our agreement with Limelight in BaR006. Our agreement with Limelight enables uss®Limelight CDN services for our own
benefit and to resell Limelight CDN services to oustomers in every geographic location in whichoffer our products. The current expiration daté¢hef
agreement is March 31, 2015. We are engaged invartéscussions with Limelight and believe the agnent will be renewed or the term of the agreement
will be extended again prior to March 31, 2015 opto the expiration of the service continuatfmeriod described below.

Each agreement contains a service continuationgéoilowing expiration of the agreement, which bedieve is sufficient to enable transition to an
alternative provider to avoid material disruptionour business or to our customers. Our agreemiémtAkamai provides that, upon termination for any
reason, Akamai will continue to provide CDN sergit¢e our existing customers for up to twelve mon@wsr agreement with Limelight provides that, upon
termination for any reason, Limelight will continteeprovide CDN services for our benefit for upste months.

Intellectual Property
We rely principally on a combination of trademapktent, copyright and trade secret laws in theddn8tates and other jurisdictions, as well as

confidentiality procedures and contractual provisito protect our proprietary technology, confiderihformation, business strategies and brandsalse
believe that factors such as the technologicalcaedtive skills of our employees and personnel lwith the creation of new features, functionadind



products are essential to establishing and maintaintechnology leadership position. We enter auofidentiality and invention assignment
agreements with our employees and consultants @amfitlentiality agreements with other third partiasd we rigorously control access to our propnetar
technology.




In the United States, we have 22 issued and/owaliopatents and 21 patent applications pendingrriationally, we have 9 issued patents and 15 paten
applications pending. We currently have patentiappbns pending in Canada, United Kingdom, Ausdrdiong Kong and Japan, and we may seek
coverage in additional jurisdictions to the extemtdetermine such coverage is appropriate andetfesttive. Our issued patents cover a variety ciiiécal
domains relevant to our business, including aspEqtsiblishing and distributing digital media ordircloud-based stream delivery and ad insertion.

Our registered trademarks in the United Statesideel BRIGHTCOVE”, “ZENCODER”, ONCEVOD and our log@hese trademarks are also registered
in certain non-U.S. jurisdictions, including therBpean Union and Canada. We may apply for registraffor these and other marks in additional
jurisdictions to the extent we determine such cageris appropriate and c-effective.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tggtunauthorized parties may attempt to copy aaiokdnd use our technology to develop products with
the same functionality as our solutions. Policinguthorized use of our technology is difficult aagbensive. Our competitors could also independently
develop technologies equivalent to ours, and detlectual property rights may not be broad encfaglus to prevent competitors from selling products
incorporating those technologies.

Competition

We compete with video-sharing sites such as YouTimbleouse solutions, online video platforms andaie niche technology providers. Some of our
actual and potential competitors may enjoy competiadvantages over us, such as larger marketidgdis, as well as greater financial, technical@thdr
resources. The overall markets for our productgragamented, rapidly evolving and highly compettiv

We expect that the competitive landscape will cleasg our markets consolidate and mature. We betievprincipal competitive factors in our industry
include the following:

¢ total cost of ownershig

¢ breadth and depth of product functional

e ability to innovate and respond to customer neegglly;

« level of resources and investment in sales, marfgefiroduct and technolog
¢ ease of deployment and use of solutic

« level of integration into existing workflows, cogfirability, scalability and reliability
e customer service

¢ brand awareness and reputati

« ability to integrate with thir-party applications and technologi

e size and scale of provider; a

¢ size of customer base and level of user adop

The mix of factors relevant in any given situati@ries with regard to each prospective customerb@ieve we compete favorably with respect to &ll o
these factors.

Some of our competitors have made or may make sitiqais or enter into partnerships or other stiiategjationships to offer a more comprehensive
service than we do. These combinations may makeiie difficult for us to compete effectively, indimg on the basis of price, sales and marketing
programs, technology or service functionality. WWeet these trends to continue as organizatioesnattto strengthen or maintain their market posgio

Research and Development

We have focused our research and development®fiorexpanding the functionality and scalabilityoaf products and enhancing their ease of use, as
well as creating new product offerings. We expesearch and development expenses to increasedhutgbdollars as we intend to continue to regularly
release new features and functionality, expancpoadluct offerings, continue the localization of @uoducts in various languages, upgrade and exiend
service offerings, and develop new technologie®r@ve long term, we believe that research andldpreent expenses as a percentage of revenue will
decrease, but will vary depending upon the mixeeEnue from new and existing products, featuresfamctionality, as well as changes in the technplog
that our products must support, such as new operatistems or new Internet-connected devices.

Our research and development expenses were $2B@En$21.1 million and $18.7 million in 2014, 28&nd 2012, respectively, which included stock-
based compensation expense of $1.4 million, $1limiand $687,000, respectively.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 410 employeeshaftw47 provided customer support services, 23igeal/professional services, 136 were in
research and development, 149 were in sales arkktiray and 55 were in general and administrativ@tipms. Of these employees, 327 were locatedan th
United States and 83 were located outside of theetiStates. None of our employees are represégtadabor union or covered by a collective bargejn
agreement. We consider our relationship with ouplegees to be good.






Information about Segment and Geographic Revenue

Information about segment and geographic revensetiforth in Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidatethncial Statements under Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information

Our principal executive offices are located at Z2hgress Street, Boston, Massachusetts, 0221Ge@phone number is (888) 882-1880. Our website
address isvww.brightcove.comOur Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Report Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K andredments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sectig(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act@84 are available free of charge through the ioves
relations page of our internet website as sooea@sonably practicable after we electronically §ileh material with, or furnish it to, the Secustand
Exchange Commission. Alternatively, these reposy tme accessed at the SEC’s websitgvalv.sec.gov

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully review the risk factors ddsed below and those described in other reportsilevith the Securities and Exchange Commission, as
well as the other information contained in this AahReport on Form 10-K, in evaluating our businé3ar business, prospects, financial condition, or
operating results could be harmed by any of thedesyas well as other risks not currently knowmisar that we currently consider immaterial. Ifyaof
such risks and uncertainties actually occurs, ousibess, financial condition or operating resultaild differ materially from the plans, projectioasd
other forward-looking statements included in thetiem titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis-inancial Condition and Results of Operations”
and elsewhere in this report and in our other palfilings. The trading price of our common stockldodecline due to any of these risks, and, assalte
you may lose all or part of your investme

We have a history of losses, we expect to contitmiimcur losses and we may not achieve or sustaiofipability in the future.

We have incurred significant losses in each figealr since our inception in 2004. We experiencedresolidated net loss of $12.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012, a consolidated net |d8$002 million for the year ended December 31, 284@ a consolidated net loss of $16.9 million Far t
year ended December 31, 2014. These losses wete thesubstantial investments we made to buitdboeducts and services, grow and maintain our
business and acquire customers. Key elements afrowrth strategy include acquiring new customes @ntinuing to innovate and build our brand. As a
result, we expect our operating expenses to inerigethe future due to expected increased salesnanmkieting expenses, operations costs, research and
development costs and general and administratists @nd, therefore, our operating losses will cartior even potentially increase for the foreseeabl
future. In addition, as a public company we indgn#icant legal, accounting and other expenseswadid not incur as a private company. Furtheenty
the extent that we are successful in increasingostomer base, we will also incur increased exgebecause costs associated with generating and
supporting customer agreements are generally iedwp front, while revenue is generally recognizgdbly over the committed term of the agreementi Y
should not rely upon our recent revenue growtmegative of our future performance. We cannot esgou that we will reach profitability in the futior
at any specific time in the future or that, if amden we do become profitable, we will sustain gaddflity. If we are ultimately unable to generatdficient
revenue to meet our financial targets, become ol and have sustainable positive cash flow®stors could lose their investment.

Substantially all of our revenue comes from a siegbroduct, Video Clouc

We are currently substantially dependent on revémume a single product, Video Cloud. Our businessild be harmed by a decline in the market for
Video Cloud, increased competition in the marketdfioline video platforms, or our failure or inabjlio provide sufficient investment to support \ide
Cloud as needed to maintain or grow its competjpiosition.

If we are unable to retain our existing customeiar revenue and results of operations will be adsely affected

We sell our products pursuant to agreements tieagemerally for annual terms. Our customers havehbtigation to renew their subscriptions after thei
subscription period expires, and we have experitlasses of customers that elected not to renewaddiition, even if these subscriptions are renewes),
may not be renewed on the same or on more prdditabins. As a result, our ability to retain ourséirig customers and grow depends in part on sytiEoTi
renewals. We may not be able to accurately prédliate trends in customer renewals, and our custgmenewal rates have and may continue to decline
fluctuate because of several factors, includingr thetisfaction or dissatisfaction with our sengcthe cost of our services and the cost of seswffered by
our competitors, reductions in our customers’ spantévels or the introduction by competitors dfattive features and functionality. If our custame
retention rate decreases, we may need to increasate at which we add new customers in orderdimtain and grow our revenue, which may requiréous
incur significantly higher advertising and marketiexpenses than we currently anticipate, or ouemae may decline. If our customers do not reneiv the
subscriptions for our services, renew on less favierterms, or do not purchase additional functiyhar subscriptions, our revenue may grow mooawy
than expected or decline, and our profitability gndss margins may be harmed or affected.
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The actual market for our solutions could be sigiténtly smaller than our estimates of our total mottial market opportunity, and if customer demand
for our services does not meet expectations, oufligito generate revenue and meet our financiakg¢gts could be adversely affecte

While we expect strong growth in the markets for products, it is possible that the growth in samall of these markets may not meet our expectafio
or materialize at all. The methodology on which estimate of our total potential market opportumstpased includes several key assumptions basedron
industry knowledge and customer experience. If@frthese assumptions proves to be inaccurate thieeactual market for our solutions could be
significantly smaller than our estimates of ouatqotential market opportunity. If the customemdad for our services or the adoption rate in arget
markets does not meet our expectations, our abdiggenerate revenue from customers and meetmandial targets could be adversely affected.

Our business is substantially dependent upon thetowued growth of the market for on-demand softwaselutions.

We derive, and expect to continue to derive, suibisidy all of our revenue from the sale of our d@mand solutions. As a result, widespread acceptanc
and use of the on-demand business model is critiaalir future growth and success. Under the pegbet periodic license model for software procueetn
users of the software would typically install anzbrate the applications on their hardware. Beceng®y companies are generally predisposed to maingai
control of their information technology, or IT, $gms and infrastructure, there may be resistantieetooncept of accessing software as a servicadaw
by a third party. In addition, the market for onsgand software solutions is still evolving, and cetitpye dynamics may cause pricing levels to chaage
the market matures and as existing and new masekétipants introduce new types of solutions arffetBnt approaches to enable organizations to addre
their technology needs. As a result, we may beefibto reduce the prices we charge for our produradsmay be unable to renew existing customer
agreements or enter into new customer agreemetite aame prices and upon the same terms thatweehiigtorically. If the market for on-demand softea
solutions fails to grow, grows more slowly than ewgrently anticipate or evolves and forces us thuce the prices we charge for our products, oweneg,
gross margin and other operating results could &ernally adversely affected.

Our operating results may fluctuate from quarter tpuarter, which could make them difficult to predic

Our quarterly operating results are tied to cerfimancial and operational metrics that have flattd in the past and may fluctuate significantlyhia
future. As a result, you should not rely upon ocastmjuarterly operating results as indicators tfriperformance. Our operating results depend on
numerous factors, many of which are outside ofamuntrol. In addition to the other risks describedhis “Risk Factors” section, the following risksuld
cause our operating results to fluctuate:

e our ability to retain existing customers and attraav customers

e the rates at which our customers ren

¢ the timing and amount of costs of new and existiragketing and advertising effor

¢ the timing and amount of operating costs and chpijaenditures relating to expansion of our busineperations and infrastructu

¢ the cost and timing of the development and intréidacof new product and service offerings by user competitors; an

e system or service failures, security breaches twarlk downtime,
We have a relatively short operating history in elatively new and rapidly developing market, whictakes it difficult to evaluate our business and fue
prospects

Our business has a relatively short operating histad the market for our products and serviceslaively new and rapidly developing, which makes
difficult to evaluate our business and future pextp. We have been in existence since 2004, ant ofumur growth has occurred in recent periods.nakee
encountered, and will continue to encounter, regkd difficulties frequently experienced by growitgmpanies in rapidly changing industries, including
those related to:

¢ market acceptance of our current and future pradaictl services

e customer renewal rate

¢ our ability to compete with other companies thataurrently in, or may in the future enter, the keafor our products

e our ability to successfully expand our businespeeslly internationally

e our ability to control costs, including our opengtiexpense:

« the amount and timing of operating expensesiqodarly sales and marketing expenses, relatede¢anaintenance and expansion of our business,

operations and infrastructut
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e network outages or security breaches and any adedaxpense
- foreign currency exchange rate fluctuatic
« write-downs, impairment charges or unforeseen liabilitiesonnection with acquisition
¢ our ability to successfully manage acquisitiong]
¢ general economic and political conditions in oumastic and international marke
If we do not manage these risks successfullypoagmess will be harmed.

Our long-term success depends, in part, on our &pito expand the sales of our products to customkrcated outside of the United States, and thus ou
business is susceptible to risks associated witkrimational sales and operations.

We currently maintain offices and have sales persbim Australia, France, Japan, Singapore, Sowtte& Spain, the United Arab Emirates and the
United Kingdom, and we intend to expand our intéamel operations. Any international expansion gffdhat we may undertake may not be successful. In
addition, conducting international operations satgjeis to new risks that we have not generallydacehe United States. These risks include:

« unexpected costs and errors in the localizatfosur products, including translation into foreilginguages and adaptation for local practices and
regulatory requirement

¢ lack of familiarity with and burdens of complyingttvforeign laws, legal standards, regulatory regmients, tariffs, and other barrie
« unexpected changes in regulatory requirementssiarale laws, tariffs, export quotas, custom dutieother trade restriction

« difficulties in managing systems integrators arght®logy partners

« differing technology standard

« longer accounts receivable payment cycles anccdiffes in collecting accounts receivak

« difficulties in managing and staffing internatiomgderations and differing employer/employee retetops;

« fluctuations in exchange rates that may increasedfatility of our foreigr-based revenut

« potentially adverse tax consequences, inclutiegzomplexities of foreign value added tax (dreottax) systems and restrictions on the repatniaf
earnings

e uncertain political and economic climates; :
« reduced or varied protection for intellectual pndpeights in some countrie

These factors may cause our costs of doing businékese geographies to exceed our comparablestantests. Operating in international markets also
requires significant management attention and firdmesources. Any negative impact from our insional business efforts could negatively impaat ou
business, results of operations and financial dadas a whole.

We must keep up with rapid technological changer¢onain competitive in a rapidly evolving industry.

Our markets are characterized by rapid technolbglange, frequent new product and service intridaos and evolving industry standards. Our future
success will depend on our ability to adapt quidklyapidly changing technologies, to adapt ouvises and products to evolving industry standardkta
improve the performance and reliability of our seeg and products. To achieve market acceptanaaufgproducts, we must effectively anticipate affdro
products that meet changing customer demandsimmedytmanner. Customers may require features anctifunality that our current products do not hdfe.
we fail to develop products that satisfy custonrefgrences in a timely and cost-effective manner ability to renew our contracts with existing tarmers
and our ability to create or increase demand forpooaducts will be harmed.

We may experience difficulties with software deyetent, industry standards, design or marketingdbald delay or prevent our development,
introduction or implementation of new products amthancements. The introduction of new productsdoypetitors, the emergence of new industry
standards or the development of entirely new teldyies to replace existing offerings could render existing or future products obsolete.

If we are unable to successfully develop or acquéaw features and functionality, enhance our exgspiroducts to anticipate and meet customer
requirements or sell our products into new marlais revenue and results of operations will be esblg affected.
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We face significant competition and may be unsucsfesagainst current and future competitors. If wao not compete effectively, our operating results
and future growth could be harmed.

We compete with video sharing sites, in-house 8oist online video platforms and certain niche tedbgy providers, as well as larger companies that
offer multiple services, including those that mayused as substitute services for our products.p@ttion is already intense in these markets arith, tive
introduction of new technologies and market enawe expect competition to further intensify ie fiature. In addition, some of our competitors magke
acquisitions, be acquired, or enter into strategi@tionships to offer a more comprehensive sertfiae we do. These combinations may make it more
difficult for us to compete effectively. We expdlaese trends to continue as competitors attemgitémgthen or maintain their market positions.

Demand for our services is sensitive to price. Meagyors, including our advertising, customer astiain and technology costs, and our current anatéu
competitors’ pricing and marketing strategies, sigmificantly affect our pricing strategies. Thean be no assurance that we will not be forcedchgage in
price-cutting initiatives, or to increase our adigéng and other expenses to attract and retaitomess in response to competitive pressures, edhehich
could have a material adverse effect on our reveoperating results and resources.

We will likely encounter significant, growing contfi®n in our business from many sources, includdogtals and digital media retailers, search ergjine
social networking and consumer-sharing servicespaomes, broadband media distribution platformshitetogy suppliers, direct broadcast satellite
television service companies and digital and trawidl cable systems. Many of our present and likelyre competitors have substantially greaterrfaial,
marketing, technological and other resources thaev Some of these companies may even chooséetesefvices competitive with ours at no cost as a
strategy to attract or retain customers of théieoservices. If we are unable to compete sucdgssfith traditional and other emerging providefs o
competing services, our business, financial comigind results of operations could be adversegcadtl.

We depend on the experience and expertise of o@cekive officers, senior management team and keghtécal employees, and the loss of any key
employee could have an adverse effect on our bussnéinancial condition and results of operations.

Our success depends upon the continued serviagr @xecutive officers, senior management team aydéchnical employees, as well as our ability to
continue to attract and retain additional highhalified personnel. Each of our executive officesemnior management team, key technical personnebiuea
employees could terminate his or her relationshth ws at any time. The loss of any member of emicr management team or key personnel might
significantly delay or prevent the achievement af business objectives and could materially harmboisiness and our customer relationships. In eaidit
because of the nature of our business, the loasy$ignificant number of our existing engineeripgject management and sales personnel coulddrave
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

Our business and operations have experienced ragiowth and organizational change in recent periodghich has placed, and may continue to place,
significant demands on our management and infrastture. If we fail to manage our growth effectivend successfully recruit additional highly-
gualified employees, we may be unable to executebusiness plan, maintain high levels of serviceaddress competitive challenges adequately.

We increased our number of full-time employees f&886 as of December 31, 2012, to 347 as of DeceBhe2013 and to 410 as of December 31, 2014,
and our revenue grew from $88.0 million in 201%189.9 million in 2013 and to $125.0 million in 2DDur headcount and operations have grown, both
domestically and internationally, since our inceptiThis growth has placed, and will continue t&cpgl, a significant strain on our management,
administrative, operational and financial infrastuwre. We anticipate further growth will be requite address increases in our product and serviegrgs
and continued international expansion. Our sucedlsgepend in part upon the ability of our senmanagement team to manage this growth effectively.
do so, we must continue to recruit, hire, trainnage and integrate a significant number of qualiffeanagers, technical personnel and employees in
specialized roles within our company, includingéohnology, sales and marketing. If our new empaygerform poorly, or if we are unsuccessful in
recruiting, hiring, training, managing and integrgtthese new employees, or retaining these oewigting employees, our business may suffer.

In addition, to manage the expected continued drafbur headcount, operations and geographic expaywe will need to continue to improve our
information technology infrastructure, operatioralancial and management systems and procedutesxXpected additional headcount and capital
investments will increase our costs, which will makmore difficult for us to address any futurearue shortfalls by reducing expenses in the shom. If
we fail to successfully manage our growth we wilunable to successfully execute our business wlaich could have a negative impact on our business
financial condition or results of operations.
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Our recent transaction with Unicorn Media, and/orgpential future acquisitions, could be difficult tintegrate, divert the attention of key personnel,
disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value amdpair our financial results.

As part of our business strategy, we intend to icemsacquisitions of companies, technologies amdipets that we believe could accelerate our atiity
compete in our core markets or allow us to enter markets. For example, in January 2014 we comglete acquisition of substantially all of the asseft
Unicorn Media, Inc., or Unicorn, a leading proviaércloud video ad insertion technology. Acquisioincluding the Unicorn transaction, involve nuoues
risks, any of which could harm our business, initigd

« difficulties in integrating the technologiespgducts, operations and existing contracts of getatompany and realizing the anticipated benefithe
combined businesse

« difficulties in integrating the personnel ofaaget company, including the onboarding of apprately 60 Unicorn employees whom we hired in
connection with the Unicorn transactic

« difficulties in supporting and transitioning custers, if any, of a target compar
« diversion of financial and management resourceas fegisting operations

« the price we pay or other resources that wettemay exceed the value we realize, or the vakieauld have realized if we had allocated the paseh
price or other resources to another opportul

«  risks of entering new markets in which we havetiédior no experienc

¢ potential loss of key employees, customers andegfi@alliances from either our current businesa target compar's business; an

inability to generate sufficient revenue to offaetuisition costs

Acquisitions also frequently result in the recoglof goodwill and other intangible assets whichsargject to potential impairments in the future twuld
harm our financial results. In addition, if we fir@ acquisitions by issuing equity securities, eusting stockholders may be diluted. As a resiulte fail to
properly evaluate acquisitions or investments, vag mot achieve the anticipated benefits of any setjuisitions, and we may incur costs in excesshatt
we anticipate. The failure to successfully evaluzatd execute acquisitions or investments or ottsenadequately address these risks could matehiiim
our business and financial results.

We may experience delays in product and servicesttiggment, including delays beyond our control, whicould prevent us from achieving our growth
objectives and hurt our business.

Many of the problems, delays and expenses we meguater may be beyond our control. Such problemsimdude, but are not limited to, problems
related to the technical development of our proglacid services, problems with the infrastructuretfe distribution and delivery of online mediag th
competitive environment in which we operate, margeproblems, consumer and advertiser acceptartteasis and expenses that may exceed current
estimates. Problems, delays or expenses in amesétareas could have a negative impact on oundsssifinancial conditions or results of operations

Delays in the timely design, development, deploynaer commercial operation of our product and sereiferings, and consequently the achievement of
our revenue targets and positive cash flow, coeddlt from a variety of causes, including many eaubkat are beyond our control. Such delays inclode
are not limited to, delays in the integration ofmeffers into our existing offering, changes to punducts and services made to correct or enhuede t
features, performance or marketability or in reggoto regulatory developments or otherwise, dedagsuntered in the development, integration oirtgst
of our products and services and the infrastrudiuréhe distribution and delivery of online mediad other systems, unsuccessful commercial laurafhes
new products and services, delays in our abilitgtitain financing, insufficient or ineffective mating efforts and slower-than-anticipated consumer
acceptance of our products. Delays in any of tiesiers could hinder or prevent our achievemewouofgrowth objectives and hurt our business.

There is no assurance that the current cost of Imet connectivity and network access will not rigéth the increasing popularity of online media
services.

We rely on third-party service providers for ouingipal connections to the Internet and networkeascand to deliver media to consumers. As derm@and f
online media increases, there can be no assurhatcternet and network service providers will thome to price their network access services on
reasonable terms. The distribution of online medduires delivery of digital content files and piders of network access and distribution may chahge
business models and increase their prices significavhich could slow the widespread adoptionudtsservices. In order for our services to be ss&foé
there must be a reasonable price model in plaaédw for the continuous distribution of digital diie files. We have limited or no control over theest to
which any of these circumstances may occur, andtiffork access or distribution prices rise, ouiiess, financial condition and results of operatiaould
likely be adversely affected.
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Failure of our infrastructure for the distributionand delivery of online media could adversely affectr business.

Our success as a business depends, in large party @bility to provide a consistently high-qualitigital experience to consumers via our relatios
and infrastructure for the distribution and delivef online media generally. There is no guaratiet our relationships and infrastructure will Baperience
problems or other performance issues, which caeflidbgsly impair the quality and reliability of odelivery of digital media to end users. For example
primarily use two content delivery networks, or CIb deliver content to end users. If one or lndtthese CDNs were to experience sustained tedhnica
failures, it could cause delays in our service wedcould lose customers. If we do not accuratedgiot our infrastructure capacity requirements, our
customers could experience service outages orcgetieigradation that may subject us to financiahfties and liabilities and result in customer lasde the
past we have, on limited occasions, suffered tearganterruptions of certain aspects of our seniceluding our customers’ ability to upload newntent
into our system, our customers’ ability to accedmiaistrative control of their accounts, and ouitigbto deliver content to end users in certaimgeaphic
locations. These service interruptions were thaeltesf human error, hardware and software failarefilures of third-party networks. On a limitadmber
of occasions, these service interruptions haveiredjuis to provide service credits to customers.cafaot guarantee that service interruptions vaillatcur
again or predict the duration of interruptions of eervice or the impact of such interruptions ane@ustomers. Failures and interruptions of owisermay
impact our reputation, result in our payment of pemsation or service credits to our customers/trgsloss of customers and adversely affect onarficial
results and ability to grow our business. In additiif our hosting infrastructure capacity failskisep pace with increased sales or if our delivapabilities
fail, customers may experience delays as we seektton additional capacity or enable alternatigbvery capability, which could harm our reputatimd
adversely affect our revenue growth.

We may have difficulty scaling and adapting our sting infrastructure to accommodate increased tiafind storage, technology advances or customer
requirements.

In the future, advances in technology, increasésaffic and storage, and new customer requiremmiatg require us to change our infrastructure, edpan
our infrastructure or replace our infrastructurérety. Scaling and adapting our infrastructurékely to be complex and require additional teclahic
expertise. If we are required to make any changesit infrastructure, we may incur substantial s@std experience delays or interruptions in owicer
These delays or interruptions may cause custonmerpartners to become dissatisfied with our seraim® move to competing service providers. Our failu
to accommodate increased traffic and storage, &seict costs, inefficiencies or failures to adaptee technologies or customer requirements and the
associated adjustments to our infrastructure chatch our business, financial condition and resaflisperations.

We rely on software and services licensed from otbarties. The loss of software or services fronirthparties could increase our costs and limit the
features available in our products and servict

Components of our service and product offeringhuthe various types of software and services licérisam unaffiliated parties. If any of the software
services we license from others or functional ealeints thereof were either no longer availablestouno longer offered on commercially reasonadims,
we would be required to either redesign our sesvared products to function with software or serviaeailable from other parties or develop these
components ourselves. In either case, the tranditi@ new service provider or an internally-depelb solution could result in increased costs amddco
result in delays in our product launches and theaee of new service and product offerings. Funtioee, we might be forced to temporarily limit treafures
available in our current or future products andriiees. If we fail to maintain or renegotiate anytloése software or service licenses, we could saggficant
delays and diversion of resources in attemptingcémse and integrate functional equivalents.

If our software products contain serious errors defects, then we may lose revenue and market aecegt and may incur costs to defend or settle clai

Complex software applications such as ours ofteriain errors or defects, particularly when firdtaguced or when new versions or enhancements are
released. Despite internal testing and testingusycastomers, our current and future products noewain serious defects, which could result in tesenue,
lost customers, slower growth or a delay in magcaeeptance.

Since our customers use our products for criticaifess applications, such as online video, erdafects or other performance problems could résult
damage to our customers. They could seek signifibmmpensation from us for the losses they suf#hough our customer agreements typically contain
provisions designed to limit our exposure to claimgsting or future laws or unfavorable judicigcisions could negate these limitations. Even if no
successful, a claim brought against us would likelytime-consuming and costly and could serioualyage our reputation in the marketplace, making it
harder for us to sell our products.

Unauthorized disclosure of data or unauthorized &ss to our service could adversely affect our besia

Any security breaches, unauthorized access, unaegitousage, virus or similar breach or disruptionld result in loss of confidential information,
personal data and customer content, damage te@putation, early termination of our contractsghtion, regulatory investigations or other liakgl If our
security measures, or those of our partners oicgeproviders, are breached as a result of thirt¢@ection, employee error, malfeasance or othenaisd, as
a result, someone obtains unauthorized accessfmential information, personal data or customamtent, our reputation will be damaged, our busines
may suffer or we could incur significant liability.
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Techniques used to obtain unauthorized accesssatiotage systems change frequently and generallyoarecognized until launched against a taryet.
a result, we may be unable to anticipate thesentgahs or to implement adequate preventative measlifran actual or perceived security breach a;dhe
market perception of our security measures coulddsmed and we could lose sales and customerssignificant violations of data privacy or unauthzed
disclosure of information could result in the l@usiness, litigation and regulatory investigati@nd penalties that could damage our reputatidn a
adversely impact our results of operations andhfired condition. Moreover, if a security breach mecwith respect to another software as a sereic8aas,
provider, our customers and potential customers losgy/trust in the security of the SaaS businesieigenerally, which could adversely impact outigbi
to retain existing customers or attract new ones.

We use a limited number of data centers and clowinputing services facilities to deliver our servicéAny disruption of service at these facilitiesutd
harm our business.

We manage our services and serve all of our custofrem a limited number of third-party data cerftilities and cloud computing services facilities
While we control the actual computer and storagtesys upon which our software runs, and deploy tleetine data center facilities, we do not contnel t
operation of these facilities.

The owners of these facilities have no obligatmnenew their agreements with us on commercialgoeable terms, or at all. If we are unable towene
these agreements on commercially reasonable tarensiay be required to transfer to new facilitiex] ve may incur significant costs and possibleiserv
interruption in connection with doing so.

Any changes in third-party service levels at thiasdities or any errors, defects, disruptions thves performance problems at or related to thesétfas
that affect our services could harm our reputatind may damage our customers’ businesses. Intemgph our services might reduce our revenue,eass
to issue credits to customers, subject us to piatdiathility, and cause customers to terminatérthebscriptions or harm our renewal rates.

These facilities are vulnerable to damage or semviterruption resulting from human error, intentibbad acts, security breaches, earthquakeschnes,
floods, fires, war, terrorist attacks, power lossesdware failures, systems failures, telecomnatigos failures and similar events. For example, on
September 18, 2014, we suffered a service disnupésulting from a distributed denial-of-serviceek at third-party data center facilities useduby By
September 20, 2014, we had restored the serviqescied by the attack. We contacted federal lawreafoent authorities regarding the denial-of-service
attack and cooperated with them. We also condutessessment of our internet service providerslatadcenter providers, potential future vulnergbib
malicious activity, and the sufficiency of our iastructure to withstand and recover rapidly fromhsattacks. While this matter did not have a nialter
adverse effect on our operating results, therebeamo assurance that such incidents will not oagain, and they could occur more frequently and arore
significant scale. The occurrence of a naturadster or an act of terrorism, or vandalism or othgsconduct, or a decision to close the facilitiéhout
adequate notice or other unanticipated problemkiaesult in lengthy interruptions in our services.

Our business may be adversely affected by thirdtpataims, including by governmental bodies, regamgl the content and advertising distributed through
our service.

We rely on our customers to secure the rightsdestébute content over the Internet, and we dostoten the content that is distributed through our
service. There is no assurance that our custonaseslicensed all rights necessary for distributiooluding Internet distribution. Other parties n@gim
certain rights in the content of our customers.

In the event that our customers do not have thesseey distribution rights related to content, way/rbe required to cease distributing such contentie
may be subject to lawsuits and claims of damagemfiongement of such rights. If these claims ength frequency, the likelihood of our businessge
adversely affected would rise significantly. In sooases, we may have rights to indemnificationl@nts against our customers if they do not have
appropriate distribution rights related to specifimtent items, however there is no assurancenthatould be successful in any such claim.

We operate an “open” publishing platform and dosaten the content that is distributed throughseuvice. Content may be distributed through our
platform that is illegal or unlawful under interimatal, federal, state or local laws or the lawsthfer countries. We may face lawsuits, claims anev
criminal charges for such distribution, and we rbaysubject to civil, regulatory or criminal sanascand damages for such distribution. Any suchmdasr
investigations could adversely affect our businBsancial condition and results of operations.

We could incur substantial costs as a result of agigim of infringement of another party’s intellecgl property rights.

In recent years, there has been significant litbgeih the United States involving patents and othiellectual property rights. Companies providing
Internet-related products and services are inanghsbringing and becoming subject to suits allggmringement of proprietary rights, particulapgatent
rights. These risks have been amplified by theeiase in third parties whose sole or primary busiie® assert such claims, some of whom havelsiats
to and/or filed suit alleging infringement agaiastne of our customers. From time to time, thirdiparclaim that we are infringing upon their inéefual
property rights. For information regarding thesairok, see Part |, Item 3, “Legal Proceedings.” \Weld incur substantial costs in prosecuting or deiieg
any intellectual property litigation. Additionallyhe defense or prosecution of claims could be-teresuming, and could divert our management’s itten
away from the execution of our business plan.
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Moreover, any settlement or adverse judgment rieguftom a claim could require us to pay substdmatiaounts or obtain a license to continue to use th
technology that is the subject of the claim, oreottise restrict or prohibit our use of the techggloThere can be no assurance that we would bet@ble
obtain a license from the third party assertingdlaém on commercially reasonable terms, if atthtit we would be able to develop alternative tetdgy on
a timely basis, if at all, or that we would be atdebtain a license to use a suitable alternagéebnology to permit us to continue offering, amnd customers
to continue using, our affected product or seniseaddition, we may be required to indemnify oustomers for third-party intellectual property
infringement claims, which would increase the ¢oais. An adverse determination could also preusritom offering our products or services to others
Infringement claims asserted against us may haaelaerse effect on our business, financial condliéiod results of operations.

Our agreements with customers often include cottaehobligations to indemnify them against claimattour products infringe the intellectual property
rights of third parties. The results of any intelleal property litigation to which we might becomearty, or for which we are required to provide
indemnification, may force us to do one or moré¢hef following:

e cease selling or using products or services thwairporate the challenged intellectual prope

* make substantial payments for costs or dams

« obtain a license, which may not be available osgrable terms, to sell or use the relevant teclgyolor
¢ redesign those products or services to avoid igénent

If we are required to make substantial paymentsdertake any of the other actions noted aboveraesudt of any intellectual property infringement
claims against us or any obligation to indemnify oustomers for such claims, such payments or costisl have a material adverse effect upon oumiessi
and financial results.

Failure to adequately protect our intellectual prepty could substantially harm our business and op#ng results.

Because our business depends substantially omliectual property, the protection of our intetleal property rights is important to the successun
business. We rely upon a combination of trademaatent, trade secret and copyright law and contehcéestrictions to protect our intellectual prager
These afford only limited protection. Despite offods to protect our property rights, unauthorizedties may attempt to copy aspects of our praduct
service, software and functionality or obtain asd information that we consider proprietary. Mommyolicing our proprietary rights is difficult dmay
not always be effective. In addition, we may nedriforce our rights under the laws of countrieg tho not protect proprietary rights to as greagxent as
do the laws of the United States.

Litigation or proceedings before the U.S. Patewt Brademark Office or other governmental auth@itiead administrative bodies in the United Statek an
abroad may be necessary in the future to enforcentellectual property rights, to protect our pateghts, trade secrets, trademarks and domairesaamd
to determine the validity and scope of the proprietights of others. Such litigation or proceedimgay be very costly and impact our financial penfance.
We may also incur substantial costs defending agiivolous litigation or be asked to indemnifyraustomers against the same. Our efforts to eaforc
protect our proprietary rights may prove to befieetive and could result in substantial costs amdrdion of resources and could substantially haam
operating results.

Our exposure to risks associated with the usetefi@ctual property may increase as a result ofisitipns, as we have less opportunity to havebitisy
into the development process with respect to aeduichnology or the care taken to safeguard againsmgement risks. Third parties may make
infringement and similar or related claims afterhewe acquired technology that had not been agserier to our acquisition.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and otheray not adequately prevent disclosure of tradersts and other proprietary information.

We have devoted substantial resources to the dawelot of our technology, business operations asthbss plans. In order to protect our trade secrets
and proprietary information, we rely in significgrdrt on confidentiality agreements with our empley, licensees, independent contractors, advisdrs a
customers. These agreements may not be effectimest@nt disclosure of confidential informationcliding trade secrets, and may not provide an aatequ
remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosureoofidential information. In addition, others maylependently discover trade secrets and proprietary
information, and in such cases we would not be ttbéssert trade secret rights against such pafiethe extent that our employees and others witbm
we do business use intellectual property ownedtbgrs in their work for us, disputes may arisecathé rights in related or resulting know-how and
inventions. Laws regarding trade secret rightseiniain markets in which we operate may affordditit no protection to our trade secrets. The |bssde
secret protection could make it easier for thirdipa to compete with our products by copying fiorzlity. In addition, any changes in, or unexpédcte
interpretations of, the trade secret and othefl@ttizial property laws in any country in which wgeoate may compromise our ability to enforce cader
secret and intellectual property rights. Costly &ntk-consuming litigation could be necessary timere and determine the scope of our proprietayiytsi,
and failure to obtain or maintain trade secretguton could adversely affect our competitive bassiposition.
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Our use of “open source” software could negativelffect our ability to sell our services and subjagt to possible litigation.

A portion of the technology licensed by us incogies “open source” software, and we may incorparpén source software in the future. Such open
source software is generally licensed by its awtlomther third parties under open source liceribeg fail to comply with these licenses, we nizey
subject to certain conditions, including requiretsehat we offer our services that incorporatedpen source software for no cost, that we makdablai
source code for modifications or derivative works eveate based upon, incorporating or using tha eperce software and that we license such
modifications or alterations under the terms offiagticular open source license. If an author bepthird party that distributes such open souofevare
were to allege that we had not complied with thediiions of one or more of these licenses, we cbeldequired to incur significant legal expenses
defending against such allegations and could besutp significant damages, enjoined from the séleur services that contained the open sourdevacé
and required to comply with the foregoing condiipwhich could disrupt the distribution and salsamhe of our services.

Fluctuations in the exchange rate of foreign curreres could result in currency translation losses.

We currently have foreign sales denominated in raliah dollars, British pound sterling, Euros, Jegee yen and New Zealand dollars and may, in the
future, have sales denominated in the currencieslditional countries in which we establish or hastablished sales offices. In addition, we incppgion
of our operating expenses in British pound sterlfigros and, to a lesser extent, other foreigreowies. Any fluctuation in the exchange rate o§¢he
foreign currencies may negatively impact our bussnénancial condition and operating results. Vileehnot previously engaged in foreign currency
hedging. If we decide to hedge our foreign curremgyosure, we may not be able to hedge effectidedyto lack of experience, unreasonable costs or
illiquid markets.

We may be required to collect sales and use taxethe services we sell in additional jurisdictioms the future, which may decrease sales, and we rhay
subject to liability for sales and use taxes andiated interest and penalties on prior sales.

State and local taxing jurisdictions have differnages and regulations governing sales and use &@xe these rules and regulations are subjectryinga
interpretations that may change over time. In palkdr, the applicability of sales and use taxesuosubscription services in various jurisdictiemsinclear.
We cannot assure you that we will not be subjesttes and use taxes or related penalties forsplesdt in states where we presently believe satbsise
taxes are not due. We reserve estimated salessartdxes in our financial statements but we cabeaertain that we have made sufficient reservesver
all taxes that might be assessed.

If one or more taxing authorities determines thaes should have, but have not, been paid witrertsp our services, we may be liable for pastdame
addition to being required to collect sales or kiaxes in respect of our services going forwardbility for past taxes may also include substnhterest
and penalty charges. Our client contracts typigaltyvide that our clients must pay all applicatdées and similar taxes. Nevertheless, clients neay b
reluctant to pay back taxes and may refuse regpititysfor interest or penalties associated witbgh taxes or we may determine that it would ndehsible
to seek reimbursement. If we are required to cbled pay back taxes and the associated interdgiemalties and if our clients do not reimburséousll or
a portion of these amounts, we will incur unplaneggdenses that may be substantial. Moreover, irtippgif such taxes on our services going forwardl wi
effectively increase the cost of such servicesutoctients and may adversely affect our abilitydtain existing clients or to gain new clientshie fireas in
which such taxes are imposed.

Government and industry regulation of the Internet evolving and could directly restrict our busiresr indirectly affect our business by limiting the
growth of our markets. Unfavorable changes in gomerent regulation or our failure to comply with redations could harm our business and operatil
results.

Federal, state and foreign governments and agehaiesadopted and could in the future adopt reiguisicovering issues such as user privacy, content,
and taxation of products and services. Governmemtlations could limit the market for our produatsl services or impose burdensome requirements that
render our business unprofitable. Our products leralr customers to collect, manage and store a reidge of data. The United States and various stat
governments have adopted or proposed limitationthermrollection, distribution and use of personébimation. Several foreign jurisdictions, inclugithe
European Union and the United Kingdom, have adoletgidlation (including directives or regulatiorisat increase or change the requirements governing
data collection and storage in these jurisdictidinsur privacy or data security measures fail donly with current or future laws and regulatiows, may be
subject to litigation, regulatory investigationsather liabilities, or our customers may terminideir relationships with us.
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In addition, although many regulations might ngplsgo our business directly, we expect that laegutating the solicitation, collection or processof
personal and consumer information could affectaustomers’ ability to use and share data, potéptietiucing demand for our services. The
Telecommunications Act of 1996 and the EuropearobJiiata Protection Directive along with other saniaws and regulations prohibit certain types of
information and content from being transmitted aber Internet. The scope of this prohibition angl ltability associated with a violation are curtgnt
unsettled. In addition, although substantial pogiof the Communications Decency Act were heldetaificonstitutional, we cannot be certain that simil
legislation will not be enacted and upheld in thefe. Legislation like the Telecommunications Aotl the Communications Decency Act could dampen the
growth in web usage and decrease its acceptareenaslium of communications and commerce. Moredf/Rrture laws and regulations limit our
customers’ ability to use and share consumer dadaroability to store, process and share data aithcustomers over the Internet, demand for oodyxts
could decrease, our costs could increase, ancesults of operations and financial condition cdugdharmed.

In addition, taxation of services provided over lihiernet or other charges imposed by governmesngs or by private organizations for accessieg th
Internet may be imposed. Any regulation imposingager fees for Internet use or restricting infoioraexchange over the Internet could result incide
in the use of the Internet and the viability ofeimtet-based services, which could harm our busaed®perating results.
Our stock price has been volatile and is likelytie volatile in the future.

The market price of our common stock has been sitikdly to be highly volatile and could be subjezsignificant fluctuations in response to, among
other things, the risk factors described in thgoré and other factors beyond our control. Markétgs for securities of early stage companies have
historically been particularly volatile. Some, Imatt all, of the factors that may cause the markieef our common stock to fluctuate include:

e fluctuations in our quarterly or annual finaaaiesults or the quarterly or annual financialiesof companies perceived to be similar to usetevant
for our business

« changes in estimates of our financial results comemendations by securities analy

« failure of our products to achieve or maintain nearkcceptance

« changes in market valuations of similar or relevamhpanies

¢ success of competitive service offerings or tecbgiels;

¢ changes in our capital structure, such as the esuaf securities or the incurrence of dt

¢ announcements by us or by our competitors of siganf services, contracts, acquisitions or stratafiiances
« regulatory developments in the United States, fpreountries, or bott

e litigation;
¢ additions or departures of key personi

¢ investor’ general perceptions; ali
* changes in general economic, industry or markeditions.

In addition, if the market for technology stocksfle stock market in general, experiences a lbBs/estor confidence, the trading price of our coom
stock could decline for reasons unrelated to osintass, financial condition, or results of openagidf any of the foregoing occurs, it could caose stock
price to fall and may expose us to lawsuits thegndf unsuccessful, could be costly to defend adistraction to management.

If securities or industry analysts do not publisby cease publishing, research or reports about asr business or our market, or if they adverselyatge
their recommendations regarding our stock, our skggrice and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by research and reports that industryarrigg analysts may publish about us, our business,
our market or our competitors. If any of the anewsho may cover us adversely change their recordat&ms regarding our stock, or provide more
favorable relative recommendations about our coitgust our stock price would likely decline. If aapalyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of
our company or fail to regularly publish reportsiua we could lose visibility in the financial matk, which in turn could cause our stock pricaadinhg
volume to decline.
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We are an “emerging growth company” and we cannet bertain if the reduced disclosure requirementspéipable to emerging growth companies will
make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definethénJumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 201#edOBS Act, and we may take advantage of
certain exemptions from various reporting requiretaghat are applicable to other public comparfias @are not “emerging growth companies” includingy,
not limited to, reduced disclosure obligations regsy executive compensation in our periodic repartd proxy statements and exemptions from the
requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory varteexecutive compensation and shareholder appod\aly golden parachute payments not previously
approved. We cannot predict if investors will fiodr common stock less attractive because we mgyrethese exemptions. If some investors find our
common stock less attractive as a result, therebmeayless active trading market for our commonksémd our stock price may be more volatile. We may
take advantage of these reporting exemptions wetire no longer an “emerging growth company.”

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also pde that an “emerging growth company” can take i@ of the extended transition period provided
in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for qulying with new or revised accounting standardsother words, an “emerging growth company” can ylela
the adoption of certain accounting standards tmie standards would otherwise apply to privategamies. However, we are choosing to “opt out’uafts
extended transition period, and as a result, weocaihply with new or revised accounting standandshe relevant dates on which adoption of suchdstats
is required for non-emerging growth companies. i8ect07 of the JOBS Act provides that our decigmopt out of the extended transition period for
complying with new or revised accounting standasdeevocable.

We do not expect to declare any dividends in the$eeable future.

We do not anticipate declaring any dividends talbod of our common stock in the foreseeable fu@omnsequently, investors may need to rely on s#les
their common stock after price appreciation, whitdly never occur, as the only way to realize anyréugains on their investment. Investors seeking
dividends should not purchase our common stock.

We may be unable to meet our future capital requirents, which could limit our ability to grow.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivaleiitbevsufficient to meet our anticipated workingpital and capital expenditure needs over at thast
next 12 months. We may, however, need, or coulct &beseek, additional funding at any time. To ¢léent that existing resources are insufficierfutal
our business operations, our future activitiegterexpansion of our service and our product aftesj developing and sustaining our relationshigs an
infrastructure for the distribution and deliverydigital media online, marketing, and supporting office facilities, we may need to raise additibfuads
through equity or debt financing. Additional funadsay not be available on terms favorable to us oistackholders. Furthermore, if we issue equity
securities, our stockholders may experience additidilution or the new equity securities may hegats, preferences and privileges senior to thidseir
existing classes of stock. If we cannot raise fumsicceptable terms, we may not be able to dewwlephance our products, take advantage of future
opportunities or respond to competitive pressuragianticipated requirements.

Failure to maintain effective internal control ovefinancial reporting could result in our failure toaccurately report our financial results. Any inality to
report and file our financial results accurately ahtimely could harm our business and adversely irapmvestor confidence in our company and, as a
result, the value of our common stock.

We are required to evaluate our internal contr@rdinancial reporting in connection with Sectid4of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and our independent
registered public accounting firm is required testtto the effectiveness of our internal contr@rdinancial reporting. This assessment incluties t
disclosure of any material weaknesses in our iatezantrol over financial reporting identified byromanagement, as well as our independent registere
public accounting firm’s attestation report on @uernal control over financial reporting. Durirtgetevaluation and testing process, if we identifg or
more material weaknesses in our internal contref émancial reporting, we will be unable to assdkat our internal control over financial reportiisg
effective. If we are unable to assert that ourrimécontrol over financial reporting is effectiva, if our independent registered public accounfing is
unable to express an opinion on the effectiventéssiointernal control over financial reporting, weuld lose investor confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, which cdwddle a material adverse effect on the price otomtmon stock.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our amended amdtated certificate of incorporation and amendeddarestated bylaws, as well as provisions of
Delaware law, could impair a takeover attem

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpameadind bylaws, and Delaware law, contain provisitbas could have the effect of rendering more
difficult or discouraging an acquisition deemed esicable by our board of directors. Our corporateegnance documents include provisions:

¢ authorizing blank check preferred stock, which ddug issued with voting, liquidation, dividend, asttier rights superior to our common stc
« limiting the liability of, and providing indemnifation to, our directors and officel

« limiting the ability of our stockholders to call&bring business before special meetings and ®dakion by written consent in lieu of a meeti
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« requiring advance notice of stockholder propofa business to be conducted at meetings oftmakholders and for nominations of candidates for
election to our board of director

« controlling the procedures for the conduct and dahieg of board of directors and stockholder meg;ji

«  providing our board of directors with the exgggower to postpone previously scheduled annuefings and to cancel previously scheduled special
meetings

¢ establishing a classified board of directors st tiod all members of our board are selected atiome

« limiting the determination of the number ofeditors on our board of directors and the fillingrzatancies or newly created seats on the boardrto o
board of directors then in office; al

«  providing that directors may be removed by stoc#tbrs only for caust
These provisions, alone or together, could delatileatakeovers and changes in control of our comma changes in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdwipions of Delaware law, including Section 203lué Delaware General Corporation Law, which
prevents some stockholders holding more than 15&t0butstanding common stock from engaging inageibusiness combinations without approval of the
holders of substantially all of our outstanding coom stock. Any provision of our amended and redtaggtificate of incorporation or bylaws or Delawar
law that has the effect of delaying or deterrirghange in control could limit the opportunity farrastockholders to receive a premium for their shaf our
common stock, and could also affect the price sbate investors are willing to pay for our commarckt

We record substantial expenses related to our issxeof equity awards that may have a material acdseeimpact on our operating results for the
foreseeable future

We expect our stock-based compensation expenslesontinue to be significant in future periods, aiwill have an adverse impact on our operating
results. The model used by us requires the inphighfly subjective assumptions, including the progatility of the option’s underlying stock. If é&s and
circumstances change and we employ different assomsgfor estimating stock-based compensation esgpémfuture periods, or if we decide to use a
different valuation model, the future period expEnmay differ significantly from what we have reded in the current period and could materially etffbe
fair value estimate of stock-based payments, oaraing income, net income and net income per share

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in Bostassithusetts. We lease 82,184 square feet putsumtgase that terminates March 31, 2022. We
have sales and marketing offices in New York, NewkY London, England; Paris, France; Barcelonajr§@akyo, Japan; Sydney, Australia; Seoul, South
Korea; Singapore; and Dubai, United Arab Emirafs: offices in Seattle, Washington, San Franci§aifornia and Tempe, Arizona are used for salek an
marketing as well as research and development. &evie our facilities are adequate for our curreseds.

The Company’s primary office lease has the optiorenew the lease for two successive periods efyfears each. In connection with the office lease,
the Company entered into a letter of credit inahwunt of $2,404.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On August 27, 2012, a complaint was filed by Blpes, LLC naming us in a patent infringement caBlei¢ Spike, LLC v. Audible Magic Corporation,
et al., United States District Court for the EastBrstrict of Texas). The complaint alleges thathvawe infringed U.S. Patent No. 7,346,472 witrstell
issue date of March 18, 2008, entitled “Method Bredice for Monitoring and Analyzing Signals,” UBatent No. 7,660,700 with a listed issue date of
February 9, 2010, entitled “Method and Device fasoring and Analyzing Signals,” U.S. Patent N@40,494 with a listed issue date of May 24, 2011,
entitled “Method and Device for Monitoring and Apaihg Signals” and U.S. Patent No. 8,214,175 wilistad issue date of July 3, 2012, entitled “Metho
and Device for Monitoring and Analyzing Signalsfiercomplaint seeks an injunction enjoining infrimget, damages and pre- and post-judgment costs
and interest. We answered and filed counterclagainat Blue Spike on December 3, 2012. We amendedrswer and counterclaims on July 15, 2013.
This complaint is subject to indemnification by afeour vendors. We cannot yet determine whethisrptobable that a loss will be incurred in corniieec
with this complaint, nor can we reasonably estintiagepotential loss, if any.
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On September 10, 2013, a complaint was filed by &jrinc. naming us in a patent infringement cases@y Inc. v. Brightcove Inc. and Joyus Inc.,
United States District Court for the Northern Distof Texas). The complaint alleged that we hafénged U.S. Patent No. 8,312,486 with a listestiés
date of November 13, 2012, entitled “InteractivedRrct Placement and Method Therefor” and U.S. P&ten8,533,753 with a listed issue date of
September 10, 2013, entitled “Interactive Produat®&ment and Method Therefor.” On October 1, 2TiBsay filed an amended complaint against us in
which it reasserted the allegations of infringenmafnit).S. Patent No. 8,312,486 and U.S. Patent Nil83753 and added allegations that we infringesl U.
Patent No. 8,549,555 with a listed issue date abkr 1, 2013, entitled “Interactive Product Plaeetrand Method Therefor.” The amended complaint
sought an injunction enjoining infringement, danmsaged pre- and post-judgment costs and intereseaWwered the amended complaint on November 12,
2013. We settled the matter on July 15, 2014 faaraount that is not material and, pursuant to étéesnent, all claims against us were dismisset wit
prejudice on August 14, 2014. We recorded the imphathe settlement as a charge to operationsarctimsolidated statements of operations for the yea
ended December 31, 2014.

In addition, we are, from time to time, party ttigiation arising in the ordinary course of our Imesis. Management does not believe that the outobme
these claims will have a material adverse effeabanconsolidated financial position, results oégiions or cash flows based on the status of priogs

at this time.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il
Iltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Eify Securities
Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ & Mdlarket under the symbol “BCOV” since our initjaublic offering on February 17, 2012.

Prior to this time, there was no public marketdar common stock. The following table shows thenragd low sale prices per share of our common stock
as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market for theigas indicated:

High Low

2013

First Quarter 201. $ 1028 $ 5.71
Second Quarter 201 $ 9.0 $ 4.8¢
Third Quarter 201: $ 11.7¢  $ 8.3t
Fourth Quarter 201 $ 16.2t $ 10.8¢
2014

First Quarter 201. $ 14.7C $ 9.17
Second Quarter 201 $ 10.8C $ 7.7¢
Third Quarter 201- $ 109 $ 5.4C
Fourth Quarter 201 $ 8.1¢ $ 5.0¢€

On February 27, 2015, the last reported sale foiceur common stock on the NASDAQ Global Marketsv# .81 per share.
Dividend Policy

We have never paid or declared any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retaip eash flow to finance the growth and
development of our business, and we do not expguay any cash dividends on our common stock irfidreseeable future. Payment of future dividerfds, i
any, will be at the discretion of our board of diars and will depend on our financial conditiogsults of operations, capital requirements, regiris
contained in current or future financing instrunseand other factors our board of directors deetevaat.

Stockholders

As of February 27, 2015, there were approximat@y lolders of record of our common stock (not idalg beneficial holders of stock held in street
name).

Stock Performance Graph

The graph set forth below compares the cumulatited stockholder return on our common stock betwessruary 17, 2012 (the date of our initial
public offering) and December 31, 2014, with thenaiative total return of (a) the NASDAQ ComputeiData Processing Index and (b) the NASDAQ
Composite Index, over the same period. This graghraes the investment of $100 on February 17, B0&dr common stock, the NASDAQ Computer &
Data Processing Index and the NASDAQ CompositeXrahel assumes the reinvestment of dividends, if @hg graph assumes our closing sales price on
February 17, 2012 of $14.30 per share as thelindiae of our common stock and not the initialesfiig price to the public of $11.00 per share.

The comparisons shown in the graph below are based historical data. We caution that the stockgpgerformance shown in the graph below is not
necessarily indicative of, nor is it intended toefoast, the potential future performance of ourmam stock. Information used in the graph was okethin
from the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, a financial dageovider and a source believed to be reliable. NASDAQ Stock Market LLC is not responsible for
any errors or omissions in such information.
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Sales of Unregistered Securities
Not applicable.
Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stdc

On February 16, 2012, our registration statemerifam S-1 (File No. 333-176444) was declared eiffedor our initial public offering. On February
23, 2012, we closed our initial public offering®#50,000 shares of common stock, including 7509@0es pursuant to the underwriters’ overallotment
option, at an offering price of $11.00 per shatee Thanaging underwriters of the offering were Mar§#anley & Co. LLC, and Stifel, Nicolaus &
Company, Incorporated. Following the sale of tharel in connection with the closing of our inipalblic offering, the offering terminated.

As a result of the offering, including the undeters’ option to purchase additional shares, weivedenet proceeds of approximately $54.5 million,
after deducting total expenses of approximately $8illion, consisting of underwriting discounts armmmissions of $4.4 million and offering-related
expenses reasonably estimated to be $4.3 millioneMdf such payments were direct or indirect paysnany of our directors or officers or their
associates, to persons owning 10% or more of amnuan stock, or to any of our affiliates.

We have used $7.0 million of the net proceeds foominitial public offering to repay certain indebiness. None of such payments were direct or
indirect payments to any of our directors or officer their associates, to persons owning 10% oerbour common stock, or to any of our affiliatége
also used approximately $27.4 million of the netgeeds from our initial public offering as consatérn for the purchase of Zencoder in August 2@Ir2.
January 31, 2014, we acquired substantially ahefassets of Unicorn for total consideration gfragimately $39.7 million, which was funded by
approximately $9.1 million of the net proceeds froum initial public offering and 2,850,547 sharé®or common stock.

There has been no material change in the planredfysoceeds from our initial public offering assdribed in our final prospectus filed with the SEC
on February 17, 2012 pursuant to Rule 424(b) utideBecurities Act.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer or Alffated Purchasers
There were no repurchases of shares of common stadk during the year ended December 31, 2014.
Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data
The following selected consolidated financial dsttauld be read in conjunction with “Management’sddission and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations”, the consolidated firerstatements and related notes, and other finhimdbrmation included in this Annual Report onrifo
10-K.
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We derived the consolidated financial data foryjtbars ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 asfdesember 31, 2014 and 2013 from our
audited consolidated financial statements, whiehiseluded elsewhere in this Annual Report on FérK. We derived the consolidated financial data fo
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 arfezember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 from our auditedolidated financial statements which are not
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Histat results are not necessarily indicative ofrésults to be expected in future periods.

Year Ended December 31

2014@ 2013 20124 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per share d

Consolidated statements of operations datze

Revenue
Subscription and support

revenue $ 120,32: $ 103,11t $ 84,257 $ 60,16¢ $ 40,52
Professional services and other revenue 4,69: 6,77¢ 3,71¢ 3,39¢ 3,19¢
Total revenue 125,01° 109,89! 87,97: 63,56: 43,71¢
Cost of revenue® ()
Cost of subscription and support revel 38,01°¢ 29,20 22,55 15,47¢ 11,06¢(
Cost of professional services and other revenue 5,71¢ 7,58¢ 4,831 4,744 4,06
Total cost of revenue 43,73 36,79( 27,38¢ 20,22: 15,12¢
Gross profil 81,28¢ 73,10 60,58¢ 43,34: 28,59:
Operating expense®) 4)
Research and developme 28,25 21,05: 18,72t 15,26° 12,257
Sales and marketir 46,01« 41,00( 38,72t 31,56+ 24,12«
General and administrati\ 19,13¢ 18,47¢ 16,73¢ 12,64( 9,617
Merger-related 3,07t 2,06¢ 1,852 — —
Total operating expenses 96,47 82,59¢ 76,03¢ 59,47: 45,99¢
Loss from operation (15,199 (9,499 (15,44°) (16,130 (17,40°)
Other income (expense
Interest incom: 11 58 10€ 23 18t
Interest expens (96) — (247) (35¢) —
Other (expense) income, net (1,35%) (594 (359) (719 (509)
Total other expense, net (1,440 (536) (499 (1,059 (31¢)
Loss before income taxes and non-controlling irsteire

consolidated subsidial (16,63) (20,030 (15,94)) (17,189 (17,729
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 26C 21z (3,489 9C 56
Consolidated net los (16,897 (10,24 (12,45) (17,27 (17,787

Net (income) loss attributable to r-controlling interest in

consolidated subsidiary - (20) (734) (361 28C
Net loss attributable to Brightcove Ir (16,897 (10,267) (13,18¢) (17,635 (17,507
Accretion of dividends on redeemable convertiblefgmred stocl — — (733) (5,639 (5,470
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (16,899 $ (10,260 $ (13,919 $ (23,279 $ (22,97)
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldre— basic

and diluted $ (059 $ (030 $ (057 $ 47 $ (4.99
Weighted-average number of common shares usediputing

net loss per share attributable to common stocldnsld basic

and dilutec 31,94¢ 28,35 24,62¢ 4,90( 4,612

(1) The results of operations for Zencoder havenlieeluded in our consolidated financial statemairise the date of acquisition on August 14, 2012.

(2) The results of operations for Unicorn have bieefuded in our consolidated financial statemeimise the date of acquisition on January 31, 2014.
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Stock-based compensation included in above line
?3) items:

Cost of subscription and support revel

Cost of professional services and other reve

Research and developme

Sales and marketir

General and administrative

Total stocl-based compensatic

Amortization of acquired intangible assets include
4) above line items

Cost of subscription and support revel

Research and developme

Sales and marketing

Total amortization of acquired intangible as¢

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date

Cash, cash equivalents and investm
Accounts receivable, n

Property and equipment, r

Working capital

Total asset

Current and lon-term debi

Current and lon-term deferred revent
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warr
Total stockholder equity (deficit)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands
$ 21€ % 248 $ 12t $ 52 26
141 14¢ 11€ 117 99
1,39¢ 1,191 687 367 36¢
2,19: 2,22t 1,60€ 1,00¢ 1,45¢
2,43¢€ 2,58¢ 3,30¢ 2,65% 1,36:
$ 6,387 $ 6,401 $ 584: $ 4,197 3,31t
$ 1,94¢ $ 1,012 $ 37¢ $ = $—
14C 3¢ 15 — —
1,11¢ 667 25C — —
$ 3,20C $ 1,71¢  $ 664 $ — $—
As of December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands
$ 22,91¢ $ 36,10¢ $ 33,04. $ 17,227 23,21¢
21,46: 21,56( 18,59¢ 14,69: 9,272
10,37: 8,79t 8,40( 6,07¢ 4,70¢
4,691 20,75¢ 20,84: 10,20¢ 17,26:
127,58: 103,12t 96,99: 47,33¢ 41,98¢
— — 7,00C —
29,70« 23,81¢ 19,21¢ 13,77 5,742
— — — 424 28t
80,76: 60,38( 64,49: (105,089 (86,93)
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finiahcondition and results of operations should bead in conjunction with the financial statementd an
related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annug@dReon Form 10-K. The following discussion consafarward-looking statements that reflect our plans
estimates, and beliefs. Our actual results couftedimaterially from those discussed in the forwlrdking statements. Factors that could cause or
contribute to these differences include those dised below and elsewhere in this Annual ReportasmFL0-K, particularly in “Risk Factors.”

Overview

We are a leading global provider of cloud-basetdlises for video. We were incorporated in Delawardugust 2004 and our headquarters are in
Boston, Massachusetts. Our suite of products amnices reduce the cost and complexity associatéd puiblishing, distributing, measuring and monetigi
video across devices.

Brightcove Video Cloud, or Video Cloud, our flagstroduct released in 20086, is the world’s leadintine video platform. Video Cloud enables our
customers to publish and distribute video to Intéwonnected devices quickly, easily and in a effstetive and high-quality manner. Brightcove Zetheq
or Zencoder, is a cloud-based video encoding seridghtcove Once, or Once, is an innovative, dtbased ad insertion and video stitching serviee th
addresses the limitations of traditional onlineedadd insertion technology. Brightcove GalleryGallery, released in May 2014, is a cloud-basedicer
that enables customers to create and publish yideals. Brightcove Perform, or Perform, release8eéptember 2014, is a cloud-based service fotiogea
and managing video player experiences. Brightcoded/Marketing Suite, or Video Marketing Suite eaded in May 2014, is a comprehensive suite of
video technologies designed to address the needsuddeters to drive awareness, engagement and rsiove

Our philosophy for the next few years will continieebe to invest in our product strategy and dgualent, sales, and go-to-market to support our long-
term revenue growth. We believe these investmeiiithelp us address some of the challenges facingasiness such as demand for our products by
customers and potential customers, rapid technzddghange in our industry, increased competitiosh r@sulting price sensitivity. These investments
include support for the expansion of our infrastune within our hosting facilities, the hiring ofiditional technical and sales personnel, the intionaf
new features for existing products and the develgrof new products. We believe this strategy éllp us retain our existing customers, increase our
average annual subscription revenue per premiutomeas and lead to the acquisition of new customidslitionally, we believe customer growth will
enable us to achieve economies of scale whichredllice our cost of goods sold, research and dewelopand general and administrative expenses as a
percentage of total revenue.

As of December 31, 2013, we had 347 employees @iB@&ustomers, of which 4,556 used our volumerioiis and 1,762 used our premium offerings.
As of December 31, 2014, we had 410 employees aifd Bustomers, of which 3,907 used our volumerioifis and 1,863 used our premium offerings.
During 2013, we decided to prioritize our premiurnguct editions over our volume product editionar @remium product editions have higher prices, the
customers of our premium product editions use mbir solutions, and we believe that our premiwstemers represent a greater opportunity for our
solutions.

We generate revenue by offering our products téoooers on a subscription-based, software as acggmi SaaS, model. Our revenue grew from $109.9
million in the year ended December 31, 2013 to $124llion in the year ended December 31, 2014mprily as a result of continued adoption of Video
Cloud across our customer base. On January 31, 2@&ldcquired substantially all of the assets atbm Media, Inc. (and certain of its subsidiarjes)
Unicorn, a provider of cloud-based video ad insertechnology. The Unicorn Once service, re-brarateBrightcove Once, or Once, contributed $6.5
million in revenue during 2014. In the third quareé 2014, one of our major customers, Rovio Eaiarhent Limited, or Rovio, did not renew its agresn
with us, which impacted our revenue and revenue/tjroates. The combination of losses generatedrmeand the lost revenue from Rovio, contributed
to a higher loss on a year-over-year basis. Asateur consolidated net loss was $16.9 millind $10.2 million for the years ended December 8142
and 2013, respectively. Included in consolidatedams for the year ended December 31, 2013 wak-4tased compensation expense and amortization of
acquired intangible assets of $6.4 million and $tilfion, respectively. Included in consolidated tss for the year ended December 31, 2014 wag-sto
based compensation expense and amortization ofradgantangible assets of $6.4 million and $3.2lionil, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2018¢wemue derived from customers located outsidelNamerica was 40% and 41%, respectively.
We expect the percentage of total net revenue e@firom outside North America to increase in futpegiods as we continue to expand our international
operations.

Acquisitions

On August 14, 2012, we acquired Zencoder, a claskth media processing service and HTML5 video pleghnology provider, for total
consideration of approximately $27.4 million. Thiansaction was accounted for under the purchasieoth®f accounting. Accordingly, the results of
operations of Zencoder have been included in onsaldated financial statements since the dateagdiaition. All of the assets acquired and liakakt
assumed in the transaction have been recognizbdinacquisition date fair values, which were fimed at December 31, 2012. The acquisition did not
result in the addition of any reportable segments.

On January 8, 2013, we acquired the remaining 3itéeast of our majority-owned subsidiary, Brighted¢abushiki Kaisha, or Brightcove KK, a
Japanese joint venture which was formed on July2@88. The purchase price of the remaining equtigrest was approximately $1.1 million and was
funded by cash on hand. Given that we own 100%rigfiBcove KK, we will continue to consolidate Brighve KK for financial reporting purposes,
however, commencing on January 8, 2013, we no lomgerd a non-controlling interest in the consatét statements of operations.
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On January 31, 2014, we acquired substantiallgfatie assets of Unicorn Media, Inc. and certaiitso$ubsidiaries, or Unicorn, a provider of clotideo ad
insertion technology, for total consideration opeagximately $39.7 million, which was funded by cashhand of $9.1 million and 2,850,547 shares of ou
common stock. The results of operations of Unidwame been consolidated with our results of opemnatizeginning on January 31, 2014, the closing ofatiee
transaction.

Key Metrics

We regularly review a number of metrics, includthg following key metrics, to evaluate our businessasure our performance, identify trends affgotior
business, formulate financial projections and metk&tegic decisions.

¢« Number of Customel. We define our number of customers at the eradpdrticular quarter as the number of customersrgéing subscription revenue
at the end of the quarter. We believe the numbeusfomers is a key indicator of our market petiemmathe productivity of our sales organizatiordan
the value that our products bring to our custom@éfs classify our customers by including them il@itpremium or volume offerings. Our premium
offerings include our premium Video Cloud customi@sterprise and Pro editions), our Once custonmensZencoder customers, our Gallery
customers, our Perform customers and our Video btar Suite customers who are on annual contr@etsvolume offerings include our Video Cloud
Express customers and our Zencoder customers oth-to-month and pe-as-you-go contracts

As of December 31, 2014, we had 5,770 customemshih 3,907 used our volume offerings and 1,868lusur premium offerings. As of December

31, 2013, we had 6,318 customers, of which 4,586 wsir volume offerings and 1,762 used our prenoftferings. During 2013, we shifted our go-to-
market focus and growth strategy to growing ounpuen customer base, as we believe our premium mes®represent a greater opportunity for our
solutions. Volume customers decreased during 2@tdaply due to our discontinuation of the promaig Video Cloud Express offering. As a result,
we experienced attrition of this base level offgnimthout a corresponding addition of customers.&kgect customers using our volume offerings to

continue to decrease in 2015 as we continue tesfoouhe market for our premium solutions and adficeo Cloud Express price levels.

« Average Monthly Strean. We define average monthly streams as the yedat® average number of monthly stream starts ded/Cloud and other
products. We believe the average number of morstingams is an indicator of both the adoption ofédi€Cloud as an online video platform and the
growth of video content across the Internet, butleeot believe it continues to be a good meastioeioperformance and therefore will not be
identified as a key metric in the futu

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the ageramber of monthly streams was approximately il an increase of 56% from
approximately 963 million during the year ended &aber 31, 2013.

¢ Recurring Dollar Retention Ra. We assess our ability to retain customers uaimgetric we refer to as our recurring dollar retantate. We calculate
the recurring dollar retention rate by dividing tle¢ained recurring value of subscription reverareafperiod by the previous recurring value of
subscription revenue for the same period. We degtaned recurring value of subscription revensithe committed subscription fees for all contracts
that renew in a given period, including any inceeasdecrease in contract value. We define previeasrring value of subscription revenue as the
recurring value from committed subscription feesdib contracts that expire in that same period.tWécally calculate our recurring dollar retentirate
on a monthly basis. Recurring dollar retention @tevides visibility into our ongoing revenue. Dgithe years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, th
recurring dollar retention rate was 93% and 94%peetively.

¢ Average annual subscription revenue per premiuntocosr. We define average annual subscription revenugneenium customer as the total
subscription revenue from premium customers foaramual period, excluding professional servicesmaegdivided by the average number of premium
customers for that period. We believe that thisrimés important in understanding subscriptionenewe for our premium offerings in addition to the
relative size of premium customer arrangeme

The following table includes our key metrics foe theriods presented:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013

Customers (at period en

Volume 3,907 4,55¢

Premium 1,86: 1,76z
Total customers (at period end) 5,77( 6,31¢
Average monthly ye-to-date streams (in thousant 1,512,08. 962,84¢
Recurring dollar retention ra 93% 94%
Average annual subscription revenue per premiurtooer 60.2 54.1
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Components of Consolidated Statements of Operations
Revenue
Subscription and Support RevenueWe generate subscription and support revenue fnensdle of our products.

Video Cloud is offered in two product lines. Thesfiproduct line is comprised of our premium pradeditions, Pro and Enterprise. All Pro and Entisepr
editions include functionality to publish and distite video to Internet-connected devices. The fpnitee edition provides additional features anctfiomality
such as a multi-account environment with consodiddtilling, IP address filtering, the ability toguluce live events with DVR functionality and advedapload
acceleration of content. Customer arrangementsypigally one year contracts, which include a suipsion to Video Cloud, basic support and a presd®eined
amount of video streams, bandwidth, and managetéobrWe also offer gold support to our premiumteoeers for an additional fee, which includes exeshd
phone support. The pricing for our premium editicmbased on the number of users, accounts ane usagh is comprised of video streams, bandwidith a
managed content. Should a customersage exceed the contractual entitiements, thieaod will provide the rate at which the custonmerst pay for actual usa
above the contractual entitlements. The seconduystdohe is comprised of our volume product editiatich we refer to as our Express edition. Ourrgsp
edition targets small and medium-sized businesseSMBs. The Express edition provides customerh thié same basic functionality that is offeredm o
premium product editions but has been designedustomers who have lower usage requirements andttypically seek advanced features and functignal
We are discontinuing the lower level pricing opsdor the Express edition and expect the total remob customers using the Express edition to castio
decrease. Customers who purchase the Expressnegiierally enter into month-taenth agreements. Express customers are geneitily dn a monthly bas
and pay via a credit card.

Zencoder is offered to customers on a subscrifitasis, with either committed contracts or pay-as-go contracts. The pricing is based on usage,wibic
comprised of minutes of video processed. The cotathitontracts include a fixed number of minutesidéo processed. Should a customer’s usage exbeed t
contractual entitlements, the contract will provitle rate at which the customer must pay for aatsage above the contractual entitlements. Custafer
Zencoder on annual contracts are considered premiistomers. Customers on month-to-month contrpeisas-you-go contracts, or contracts for a pesiod
less than one year, are considered volume customers

Once is offered to customers on a subscriptiorsbasth varying levels of functionality, usage detinents and support based on the size and cortypleixa
customer’s needs.

Gallery is offered to customers of our premium \dd&oud editions on a subscription basis. A custtanesage of Gallery counts against the pre-detezthi
amount of video streams, bandwidth and managecenbimtcluded with their Video Cloud Pro or Enteggricontract. Should a customer’s usage exceed the
contractual entitlements, the contract will provitle rate at which the customer must pay for aatsage above the contractual entitlements. Weadfso gold
support to our Gallery customers for an additidaal which includes extended phone support.

Perform is offered to customers on a subscriptasih Customer arrangements are typically oneg@@racts, which include a subscription to Perfdoasic
support and a pre-determined amount of video stsesvie also offer gold support to our Perform cusimrior an additional fee, which includes extenpledne
support. The pricing for Perform is based on thealner of users, accounts and usage, which is coetpabvideo streams. Should a customer’s usagesexbe
contractual entitlements, the contract will provitle rate at which the customer must pay for aatsage above the contractual entitlements.

Video Marketing Suite is offered to customers @uhbscription basis. Customer arrangements areaijypioene year contracts, which include a subsaipto
Video Cloud, the Video Cloud Live Module, Gallehgsic support and a pre-determined amount of vitleams or plays, bandwidth and managed content. We
also offer gold support to our Video Marketing 8utistomers for an additional fee, which includgemrded phone support. The pricing for Video Mariget
Suite is based on the number of users, accountasagk, which is comprised of video streams orgplagndwidth and managed content. Should a cust®mer
usage exceed the contractual entitlements, theazill provide the rate at which the customerstpay for actual usage above the contractualemignts.

All Once, Gallery, Perform and Video Marketing ®uitistomers are considered premium customers.

Professional Services and Other Reveru@rofessional services and other revenue coristsrvices such as implementation, software cugitions and
project management for customers who subscribet@@mium editions. These arrangements are peithdr on a fixed fee basis with a portion due upon
contract signing and the remainder due when tlaga@lservices have been completed, or on a timenabefials basis.

Our backlog consists of the total future value @f committed customer contracts, whether billedrdrilled. As of December 31, 2014, we had backlog o
approximately $68 million compared to backlog opapimately $59 million as of December 31, 2013 i@ approximately $68 million in backlog as of
December 31, 2014, between $61 million and $63anilis expected to be recognized as revenue dthimgear ended December 31, 2015. Because revenue f
any period is a function of revenue recognized flzaoklog at the beginning of the period as wefras contract renewals and new customer contractsiged
during the period, backlog at the beginning of paxiod is not necessarily indicative of future pemfiance. Our presentation of backlog may diffemfthat of
other companies in our industry.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost of subscription, support and professionaliseswrevenue primarily consists of costs relatesiggporting and hosting our product offerings and
delivering our professional services. These costside salaries, benefits, incentive compensatimhséock-based compensation expense related to the
management of our data centers, our customer sutg@on and our professional services staff. Intaadio these expenses, we incur third-party serpiovider
costs such as data center and content deliveryonietar CDN, expenses, allocated overhead, depieciaxpense and amortization of capitalized irdérrse
software development costs and acquired intangibdets. We allocate overhead costs such as riditiesuaind supplies to all departments based tative
headcount. As such, general overhead expensesfieted in cost of revenue in addition to eachrajyeg expense category.

The costs associated with providing professionalises are significantly higher as a percentagelaited revenue than the costs associated withedizlg
our subscription and support services due to therlaosts of providing professional services. Ashstihe implementation and professional servicessolating
to an arrangement with a new customer are moréfisigmt than the costs to renew a customer’s siftsen and support arrangement.

Cost of revenue increased in absolute dollars #2648 to 2014. In future periods we expect our obseévenue will increase in absolute dollars as our
revenue increases. We also expect that cost ofivevas a percentage of revenue will decrease ioveras we are able to achieve economies of scalerin
business. However, cost of revenue as a percenfaggenue could fluctuate from period to periogeeding on the growth of our professional servimesiness
and any associated costs relating to the delivesylscription services and the timing of significaxpenditures. To the extent that our customse lgaows, we
intend to continue to invest additional resourcesxpanding the delivery capability of our produatsl other services. The timing of these additienaenses
could affect our cost of revenue, both in termalmolute dollars and as a percentage of revena@yiparticular quarterly or annual period.

Operating Expenses
We classify our operating expenses as follows:

Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expenses consist pyimpersonnel and related expenses for our rekegnd development staff,
including salaries, benefits, incentive compensasinod stock-based compensation, in addition t@dises associated with contractors and allocatetheed. We
have focused our research and development efforéxpanding the functionality and scalability of puoducts and enhancing their ease of use, asawell
creating new product offerings. We expect reseanthdevelopment expenses to increase in absollitesdas we intend to continue to periodically asie new
features and functionality, expand our productrirfifgs, continue the localization of our productsvamious languages, upgrade and extend our sesffieengs,
and develop new technologies. Over the long terenbelieve that research and development expenseparsentage of revenue will decrease, but wily va
depending upon the mix of revenue from new andiegiproducts, features and functionality, as wslichanges in the technology that our products must
support, such as new operating systems or newnktteonnected devices.

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses consist primaripeisonnel and related expenses for our salesnamkleting staff, including salaries,
benefits, incentive compensation, commissions kshased compensation and travel costs, amortizafiaequired intangible assets, in addition to €ost
associated with marketing and promotional evemparate communications, advertising, other branttling and product marketing expenses and allacate
overhead. Our sales and marketing expenses haeas®r in absolute dollars in each of the lasethiears. We intend to continue to invest in satek a
marketing and increase the number of sales repesass to add new customers and expand the salergfroduct offerings within our existing custonhbarse,
build brand awareness and sponsor additional magkevents. Accordingly, in future periods we exales and marketing expense to increase in absolu
dollars and continue to be our most significantrapeg expense. Over the long term, we believeshbgs and marketing expense as a percentageesfuewill
decrease, but will vary depending upon the mixeeEnue from new and existing customers and fromlsmedium-sized and enterprise customers, asagell
changes in the productivity of our sales and marggtrograms.

General and Administrative General and administrative expenses consistgpiiyrof personnel and related expenses for exeeulggal, finance,
information technology and human resources funstigrcluding salaries, benefits, incentive compgasand stocksased compensation, in addition to the ¢
associated with professional fees, insurance prasyiother corporate expenses and allocated overhrehdure periods we expect general and admatise
expenses to increase in absolute dollars as wéncentd incur additional personnel and professiceabices costs in order to support the growthusftmusiness.
Over the long term, we believe that general andimidtrative expenses as a percentage of revenlidedgiease.

Merger-related. Merger-related costs consisted of transactigeeses incurred as part of the Unicorn acquisa®well as costs associated with the
retention of key employees of Unicorn and Zencodeproximately $1.6 million is required to be paidretain certain key employees from the Unicorn
acquisition. The period in which these servicestarge performed varies by employee. Additionadiyproximately $2.5 million was required to be paidetain
certain key employees from the Zencoder acquisitizer a two-year period from the date of acquisitid Zencoder as services were performed. Giverthiea
retention amount is related to a future serviceiiregnent, the related expense is being recordedeager-related compensation expense in the corsetid
statement of operations over the expected serddeg
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Other Expense

Other expense consists primarily of interest inceaeed on our cash, cash equivalents and inveitnfereign exchange gains and losses, interestresep
payable on our debt, loss on disposal of equipraedtchanges in the fair value of the warrants sueonnection with a line of credit.

Non-Controlling Interest

On January 8, 2013, we acquired the remaining 3i@teast in Brightcove KK for a purchase price gbmximately $1.1 million. As a result of the
transaction, we now own 100% of Brightcove KK antl gontinue to consolidate Brightcove KK for fineial reporting purposes, however, commencing on
January 8, 2013, we will no longer record a nontwdiing interest in the consolidated statementspérations.

Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolidifiteancial statements, we are required to estirnatdaxes in each of the jurisdictions in which egerate.
We account for income taxes in accordance witteiget and liability method. Under this method, defktax assets and liabilities are recognizeddase
temporary differences between the financial repgréind income tax bases of assets and liabilisggystatutory rates. In addition, this method mezga
valuation allowance against net deferred tax asdtased upon the available evidence, it is niigedy than not that some or all of the deferrex aasets will
not be realized. We have provided a valuation alove against our existing net deferred tax ass@e@mber 31, 2014, with the exception of the detktax
assets related to Brightcove KK.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Our cost of revenue, research and developmens aaft marketing, and general and administrativersgs include stock-based compensation expense.
Stock-based compensation expense represents tivalizé of outstanding stock options and restristiedk awards, which is recognized as expensetbeer
respective stock option and restricted stock awardice periods. For the years ended Decemberd34, 2013, and 2012, we recorded $6.4 million, $6.4
million, and $5.8 million, respectively, of stoclkeded compensation expense. We expect stock-basgrkneation expense to increase in absolute daflars
future periods.

Foreign Currency Translation

With regard to our international operations, weyérently enter into transactions in currencies othan the U.S. dollar. As a result, our revenupgeeses an
cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to chang foreign currency exchange rates, particulgignges in the euro, British pound, Australiadatpbnd
Japanese yen. For the year ended December 31,2013}, and 2012, 44%, 45%, and 41%, respectivélyuorevenue was generated in locations outside th
United States. During the same periods, 31%, 31 28%, respectively, of our revenue was in culiemnather than the U.S. dollar, as were some of the
associated expenses. In periods when the U.Srdi@tdines in value as compared to the foreignengies in which we conduct business, our foreigneticy-
based revenue and expenses generally increaskimmwhen translated into U.S. dollars. We expectforeign currency-based revenue to increase inlates
dollars and as a percentage of total revenue.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with accounting principles generatlgepted in the United States. The preparatiohesfet
financial statements requires us to make estinsatdsassumptions that affect the reported amourasssts and liabilities and the disclosure of cgeint assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial sta¢eits and the reported amounts of revenue and espeusing the reporting periods. We base our eggismn
historical experience and on various other assumgtihat are believed to be reasonable under thienecstances, the results of which form the basistaking
judgments about the carrying values of assetsiahilities that are not readily apparent from otbeurces. Our actual results may differ from thestenate:
under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that the following significant accouugtipolicies, which are more fully described in tltes to our consolidated financial statements dexdu
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, ineoh greater degree of judgment and complexityoAdiogly, these are the policies we believe arentst
critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluagtiour financial condition and results of operasion

Revenue Recognitio

We primarily derive revenue from the sale of oulirmvideo platform, which enables our customerpublish and distribute video to Internet-connected
devices quickly, easily and in a cost-effective aigh-quality manner. Revenue is derived from ttpemary sources: (1) the subscription to our tetbgy and
related support; (2) hosting, bandwidth and enapdervices; and (3) professional services, whicluite initiation, set-up and customization services

We recognize revenue when all of the following dtinds are satisfied: (1) there is persuasive ewideof an arrangement; (2) the service has beemdea
to the customer; (3) the collection of fees is pitalb; and (4) the amount of fees to be paid byctlstomer is fixed or determinable.

Our subscription arrangements provide customersighéto access our hosted software applicati@ustomers do not have the right to take possessgion
our software during the hosting arrangement. Adoggl, we recognize revenue in accordance with Aotimg Standards Codification (ASC) 608 venue
Recognitior. Contracts for premium customers generally hategra of one year and are non-cancellable. Theseamis generally provide the customer with an
annual level of usage, and provide the rate athviiie customer must pay for actual usage abovartheal allowable usage. For these services, wgné&mthe
annual fee ratably as revenue each month. Shatldtamer’s usage of our services exceed the amtioalable level, revenue is recognized for sucheegdn
the period of the usage. Contracts for volume ensts are generally month-toenth arrangements, have a maximum monthly levakafie and provide the ri
at which the customer must pay for actual usaggeite monthly allowable usage. The monthly volmscription and support and usage fees are rexayni
as revenue during the period in which the relatehds collected.
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Revenue recognition commences upon the later ohwte application is placed in a production envinent, or when all revenue recognition criteria have
been met.

Professional services and other revenue sold tema-@lone basis are recognized as the servicggedi@med, subject to any refund or other obliyati

Deferred revenue includes amounts billed to custerfee which revenue has not been recognized, anthply consists of the unearned portion of annual
software subscription and support fees, and defgrefessional service fees.

Revenue is presented net of any taxes collected éustomers.
Multiple-Element Arrangements

We periodically enter into multiple-element servameangements that include platform subscripti@s fsupport fees, initiation fees, and, in certaises,
other professional services.

We assess arrangements with multiple deliverabideuAccounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2009REenue Recognition (Topic 605), Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme— a Consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task FArcangement consideration is allocated to dedibérs based on
their relative selling price.

In order to treat deliverables in a multiple-elet@mangement as separate units of accountingldlieerables must have stand-alone value uponetglivf
the deliverables have stand-alone value upon dglivee account for each deliverable separately s&tion services have stand-alone value as sercfices
are often sold separately. In determining whethefgssional services have stand-alone value, wsidgenthe following factors for each professioraivices
agreement: availability of the services from othendors, the nature of the professional servitestiming of when the professional services comtnas signed
in comparison to the subscription service staredamd the contractual dependence of the subseripérvice on the customer’s satisfaction withpgrafessional
services work. To date, we have concluded thaifalie professional services included in multiplergent arrangements executed have stand-alone, veithe
the exception of initiation and activation fees.

When multiple deliverables included in an arrangenage separated into different units of accountihg arrangement consideration is allocated to the
identified separate units based on a relativergpfrice hierarchy. We determine the relative sglprice for a deliverable based on its vendori§pgembjective
evidence of fair value (VSOE), if available, orlitsst estimate of selling price (BESP), if VSOBd4 available. We have determined that third-paxtglence of
selling price is not a practical alternative duelifferences in our service offerings comparedtteeoparties and the availability of relevant thpatty pricing
information. The amount of revenue allocated taveedd items is limited by contingent revenue nja

We have not established VSOE for our offerings tuthe lack of pricing consistency, the introduntif new services and other factors. Accordinglg,uge
our BESP to determine the relative selling pricee fétermine BESP by considering our overall pri@bgectives and market conditions. Significant imgc
practices taken into consideration include ourdalisting practices, the size and volume of our &atisns, the geographic area where services aile @ite
lists, our go-to-market strategy, historical cootually stated prices and prior relationships artdre subscription service sales with certain elass customers.

The determination of BESP is made through consaitatith and approval by our management, taking ounsideration the go-to-market strategy. As our
go-to-market strategies evolve, we may modify our prigingctices in the future, which could result inrges in selling prices, including both VSOE and BE
We plan to analyze the selling prices used in dacation of arrangement consideration, at a minimon an annual basis. Selling prices will be aredyon a
more frequent basis if a significant change inlousiness necessitates a more timely analysisveg #xperience significant variances in our selpniges.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We offset gross trade accounts receivable withllawance for doubtful accounts. The allowance fouldtful accounts is our best estimate of the amofint
probable credit losses in our existing accountsivable and is based upon historical loss patténesnumber of days that billings are past dueaandvaluation
of the potential risk of loss associated with sfieeiccounts. Provisions for allowances for doubdftcounts are recorded in general and adminiggr&xpense.
If, upon signing a customer arrangement, the rélateount receivable is not considered collectatdewill defer the associated revenue until weemtlthe casl
To date, we have not incurred any significant woitfs of accounts receivable and have not beenimed|to revise any of our assumptions or estimasesl in
determining our allowance for doubtful accounts.oi®ecember 31, 2014, our allowance for doubtbdcants was $181,000.

32




Software Development Cos

Costs incurred to develop software applicationslus®ur on-demand application services consigaptertain external direct costs of materials sentices
incurred in developing or obtaining internal-usenpuiter software and (b) payroll and payroll-relatedts for employees who are directly associateéh, wnd
who devote time to, the project. These costs géigpamnsist of internal labor during configuratiargding and testing activities. Research and dewedmt costs
incurred during the preliminary project stage ostsancurred for data conversion activities, tnagnimaintenance and general and administrativeerhead
costs are expensed as incurred. Capitalizatiombeghen the preliminary project stage is complei@nagement with the relevant authority authorizes a
commits to the funding of the software projectsiprobable the project will be completed, anddbftware will be used to perform the functions imted and
certain functional and quality standards have bmet Qualified costs incurred during the operastage of our software applications relating to apgs and
enhancements are capitalized to the extent itibghle that they will result in added functionalitshile costs that cannot be separated betweentemaince of,
and minor upgrades and enhancements to, intereadaftvare are expensed as incurred. These capiatbsts are amortized on a straight-line bass e
expected useful life of the software, which is thyears. We capitalized $474,000 in 2014, $1.lignilin 2013 and $24,000 in 2012, respectivelynodiinal-use
software development costs. Amortization of sofevdevelopment costs was $397,000 in 2014, $3120P013 and $542,000 in 2012, respectively.

In addition to the software development costs dieedrabove, we incur costs to develop computensoé to be licensed or otherwise marketed to custs.
Costs incurred in the research, design and devedopof software for sale to others are chargedkpeese until technological feasibility is estabéidhWe
capitalize direct computer software developmentscopon achievement of technological feasibilitpjsat to net realizable value considerations. Téitee,
software development costs are capitalized urgilptoduct is released and amortized to productafasdles on a straight-line basis over the lesGthree years
or the estimated economic lives of the respectreelyicts. We have determined that technologicailféi is established at the time a working modél
software is completed. Because we believe our supmcess for developing software will be essdéigt@ompleted concurrently with the establishmeht o
technological feasibility, no costs have been edigiéd to date.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in both the UnitatieS and international jurisdictions, and we s@rtes in determining our provision for incomees
We account for income taxes under the asset abifitfanethod for accounting and reporting for imege taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilitieseregnized
based on temporary differences between the finaregarting and income tax basis of assets andlitiab using statutory rates. This process requue to
project our current tax liability and estimate deferred tax assets and liabilities, includingomdrating losses and tax credit carryforwards skeasing the ne:
for a valuation allowance, we considered our reopetating results, future taxable income projetiand feasible tax planning strategies. We haoeiged a
valuation allowance against our net deferred taesat December 31, 2014 with the exception ofl#ferred tax assets related to Brightcove KK. Rutae
evolving nature and complexity of tax regulationsnbined with the number of jurisdictions in whicle wperate, it is possible that our estimates otaxir
liability could change in the future, which mayuéisn additional tax liabilities and adverselyetf our results of operations, financial conditéord cash flows.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had no materiacognized tax benefits.
Business Combination

We record tangible and intangible assets acquinediabilities assumed in business combinationsutite purchase method of accounting. Amounts fioa
each acquisition are allocated to the assets aatjaind liabilities assumed based on their fairest the date of acquisition. We then allocatethehase price
in excess of net tangible assets acquired to ifiegdnie intangible assets based on detailed valnatibat use information and assumptions provided by
management. We allocate any excess purchase peceie fair value of the net tangible and intalgyéssets acquired and liabilities assumed to gdodiithe
fair value of the assets acquired exceeds our peechrice, the excess is recognized as a gain.

Significant management judgments and assumpti@aneeguired in determining the fair value of acqdiessets and liabilities, particularly acquiredngible
assets. The valuation of purchased intangible asséased upon estimates of the future performandecash flows from the acquired business. Easift &5
measured at fair value from the perspective of katgarticipant.

If different assumptions are used, it could matigrianpact the purchase price allocation and adslgraffect our results of operations, financial dition and
cash flows.

Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

We record goodwill when consideration paid in aghaise acquisition exceeds the fair value of thesstts acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, biktaris
tested for impairment annually or more frequerttfiacts and circumstances warrant a review. Camniitithat could trigger a more frequent impairment
assessment include, but are not limited to, a Bgmt adverse change in certain agreements, ggnifunderperformance relative to historical ajgcted futur:
operating results, an economic downturn in custshiedustries, increased competition, a signifia@auction in our stock price for a sustained pkooa
reduction of our market capitalization relativenit book value. We evaluate impairment by compatiegestimated fair value of each reporting unit<o
carrying value. We estimate fair value primarililiming the market approach, which calculates Ya@itue based on the market values of comparable aoi@p or
comparable transactions. Actual results may diffaterially from these estimates. The estimates waienn determining the fair value of our reportingt
involve the application of judgment, which couldezt the timing and size of any future impairmemaiges. Impairment of our goodwill could signifitgn
affect our operating results and financial position

Intangible assets are recorded at their estimateddlue at the date of acquisition. We amortigeintangible assets over their estimated usefeklbased

on the pattern of consumption of the economic kiengfif that pattern cannot be readily determinew a straight-line basis. Amortization is recatdeer the
estimated useful lives ranging from two to fourtgears.
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We review our intangible assets subject to amditindo determine if any adverse conditions exish ehange in circumstances has occurred that would
indicate impairment or a change in the remainirgfuldife. If the carrying value of an asset exceéd undiscounted cash flows, we will write dowae tarrying
value of the intangible asset to its fair valué¢hia period identified. In assessing recoverabilitg, must make assumptions regarding estimatedefetash flows
and discount rates. If these estimates or relasdnaptions change in the future, we may be requdreecord impairment charges. We generally cateufar
value as the present value of estimated future ftasis to be generated by the asset using a riglstedl discount rate. If the estimate of an inthlegasset's
remaining useful life is changed, we will amortthe remaining carrying value of the intangible agsespectively over the revised remaining usefal |

We adopted ASU No. 2011-OBitangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) Tegtoodwill for Impairment Under ASU 2011-08, we have the option to
assess qualitative factors to determine whetheexistence of events or circumstances leads taesirdmation that it is more likely than not thae tfair value of
a reporting unit is less than its carrying amoordétermine whether further impairment testingesessary. Based on the assessment of these dqualitattors,
we determined that no impairment indicators wereagoallowing us to forego the quantitative analysi

Stock-based Compensation

Accounting guidance requires employee stock-basgthpnts to be accounted for under the fair valuthatk Under this method, we are required to record
compensation cost based on the estimated fair Vatistock-based awards granted over the requgsitéice periods for the individual awards, whicherlly
equals the vesting periods. We use the straightdimortization method for recognizing stock-bassdmensation expense associated with equity awards t
employees.

We estimate the fair value of employee stock optiom the date of grant using the Black-Scholeaoptricing model, which requires the use of highly
subjective estimates and assumptions. For restratteck awards issued we estimate the fair valeaoh grant based on the stock price of our constaok on
the date of grant. As there was no public markebfo common stock prior to February 17, 2012 dffective date of our initial public offering, dPO, and as
the trading history of our common stock was limitecbugh December 31, 2012, we determined the ilitjdor options granted based on an analysisepiorted
data for a peer group of companies that issuedmptivith substantially similar terms. The expeateltility of options granted has been determinsithg an
average of the historical volatility measures @ fheer group of companies. The expected life apiomis based on the “simplified method” for estting
expected term as we do not have sufficient stotiooexercise experience to support a reasonablaae of the expected term. The risk-free interat is
based on a treasury instrument whose term is densiwith the expected life of the stock optionse Wse an expected dividend rate of zero as wentlyeave
no history or expectation of paying dividends on cemmon stock. In addition, we have estimated etgaeforfeitures of stock options based on ourohisal
forfeiture rate and used these rates in develogifudure forfeiture rate. If our actual forfeituiae varies from our historical rates and estimatdditional
adjustments to compensation expense may be requifature periods.

The relevant data used to determine the valueeo$tiick option grants is as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rat 2.1% 1.8(% 1.25%
Expected volatility 52% 54% 57%
Expected life (in years 6.2 6.2 6.2

Expected dividend yiel — — —
Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our results of opieras for the periods presented. The period-togaeciomparison of financial results is not necelsari

indicative of future results.
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Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands

Consolidated statements of operations datz

Revenue

Subscription and support rever $ 120,32: $ 103,11¢ $ 84,257

Professional services and other revenue 4,69 6,77¢ 3,71¢
Total revenug 125,01 109,89¢ 87,97
Cost of revenue

Cost of subscription and support revel 38,01¢ 29,20t 22,55

Cost of professional services and other revenue 5,71¢ 7,58¢ 4,831
Total cost of revenue 43,73 36,79( 27,38¢

Gross profit 81,28« 73,10t 60,58¢
Operating expense

Research and developme 28,25: 21,05: 18,72t

Sales and marketir 46,01« 41,00( 38,72t

General and administrati\ 19,13¢ 18,47¢ 16,73«

Merger-related 3,07t 2,06¢ 1,852
Total operating expenses 96,47 82,59¢ 76,03¢
Loss from operation (15,199 (9,499 (15,44))
Other income (expense

Interest incom 11 58 10€

Interest expens (9€) — (247)

Other expense, net (1,35%) (594) (359
Total other expense, net (1,440 (536) (499
Loss before income taxes and -controlling interest in consolidated subsidi. (16,637) (20,030 (15,94
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 26C 21z (3,489
Consolidated net los (16,899 (10,249 (12,45)
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiary — (20) (734)
Net loss attributable to Brightcove Ir (16,897 (10,267) (13,18¢)
Accretion of dividends on redeemable convertibkefgnred stock — — (733)
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (16,899 $ (10,267) $ (13,919

Overview of Results of Operations for the Years Eneld December 31, 2014 and 2013

Total revenue increased by 14%, or $15.1 milliarR014 compared to 2013 due to an increase in 6pben and support revenue of 17%, or $17.2 millio
respectively, which was offset in part by a decegagprofessional services and other revenue of, 2t%2.1 million, respectively. The increase ibSstription
and support revenue resulted primarily from anéase in the number of our premium customers, whish 1,863 as of December 31, 2014 an increase of 6%
from 1,762 customers as of December 31, 2013, dsawa 7% increase in the average annual subissripgvenue per premium customer and a $6.5 million
contribution of revenue from the acquisition of timin. Our ability to continue to provide the protifumctionality and performance that our custonrergiire
will be a major factor in our ability to continue increase revenue.

Our gross profit increased by $8.2 million, or 1162014 compared to 2013, primarily due to andase in revenue. With the continued growth in otalt
revenue, our ability to continue to maintain oueall gross profit will depend on our ability tordmue controlling our costs of delivery.

Loss from operations was $15.2 million in 2014 caneg to $9.5 million in 2013. Loss from operatiam2014 included stock-based compensation expense,
amortization of acquired intangible assets and ererglated expenses of $6.4 million, $3.2 milliod&3.1 million, respectively. Loss from operatiom2013
included stock-based compensation expense, amtiza acquired intangible assets and mergéated expenses of $6.4 million, $1.7 million &&1 million,
respectively. Over time we expect to reduce ows fosm operations increasing sales to both neweargling customers and from improved efficiencies
throughout our organization as we continue to gao scale our operations.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $22.9 million afesiricted cash and cash equivalents, a decre&kdf million from $33.0 million at December 31,
2013, due primarily to $9.1 million of net cashgas part of the Unicorn acquisition, and $3.5iomillin capital expenditures, which was offset int oy $3.1
million in maturities of investments.

Revenue
Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 Change
Revenue by Percentage ¢ Percentage ¢
Product Line Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

Premium $ 114,80 92% $ 99,46¢ 91% $ 15,33t 15%
Volume 10,21« 8 10,42% 9 (219 (2

Total $ 125,01° 10(% $ 109,89 10(% $ 15,12; 14%
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During 2014, revenue increased by $15.1 million}4f%, compared to 2013, primarily due to an ina@easevenue from our premium offerings, which
consist of subscription and support revenue, abaggbrofessional services and other revenue, &&dSamillion contribution of revenue from the aisjtion of
Unicorn. The increase in premium revenue of $15IBom, or 15%, compared to 2013, is partially tiesult of a 6% increase in the number of premium
customers from 1,762 at December 31, 2013 to 1laB&Rcember 31, 2014, a 7% increase in the averageal subscription revenue per premium customer
during the year ended December 31, 2014 and theilmotion of revenue from the acquisition of UninoDuring 2014, volume revenue decreased by $203,00
or 2%, compared to 2013, due primarily to the disicmiation of entry-level Video Cloud Express oiifgs.

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013
Percentage ¢ Percentage ¢
Revenue by Type Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

Subscription and suppc $ 120,32 96% $ 103,11t 94% $  17,20¢ 17%
Professional services and other 4,69: 4 6,77¢ 6 (2,08¢) (32))

Total $ 125,01 10(% $ 109,89 10(% $ 15,12; 14%

During 2014, subscription and support revenue esed by $17.2 million, or 17%, compared to 2013 iAerease was primarily related to continued ghowt
of our customer base for our premium offeringsluding sales to both new and existing customev8pancrease in the average annual subscriptiomrevper
premium customer and a $6.5 million contributiom®fenue from the acquisition of Unicorn. Profesaicservices and other revenue decreased by $#idrmi
or 31%, due to a decrease in the number of prafeakservice engagements that were related togisoged implementations supporting subscriptioassal
Professional services and other revenue will vesynfperiod to period depending on the number ofémentations and other projects that are in process

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013
Percentage c Percentage ¢
Revenue by Geography Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

North America $ 75,41¢ 60% $ 65,33¢ 59% $ 10,08: 15%
Europe 30,62« 25 27,18( 25 3,44¢ 13
Japar 7,90z 6 6,497 6 1,40¢ 22
Asia Pacific 10,10¢ 8 10,09¢ 9 14 -
Other 962 1 787 1 17€ 22

International subtotal 49,59¢ 40 44 55¢ 41 5,03¢ 11

Total $ 125,01 10(% $ 109,89 10(% $ 15,12: 14%

For purposes of this section, we designate revegigeographic regions based upon the locationsio€estomers. North America is comprised of revenue
from the United States, Canada and Mexico. Int@nat is comprised of revenue from locations owtsil North America. Depending on the timing of new
customer contracts, revenue mix from a geograggmon can vary from period to period.

During 2014, total revenue for North America in@ed $10.1 million, or 15%, compared to 2013. Thegase in revenue for North America resulted

primarily from an increase in subscription and suppevenue from our premium offerings. During 20tbtal revenue outside of North America increa$gd
million, or 11%, compared to 2013. The increaseeirenue internationally was the result of our iasieg focus on marketing our services internatignal
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Cost of Revenue

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013
Percentage ¢ Percentage ¢
Related Related
Cost of Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

Subscription and suppc $ 38,01t 32% $ 29,20¢ 28% $ 8,81( 30%
Professional services and other 5,71¢ 122 7,58¢ 112 (1,867) (25)

Total $ 43,73 35% $ 36,79( 33% $ 6,94: 19%

During 2014, cost of subscription and support rereeimcreased $8.8 million, or 30%, compared to 20h@ increase resulted primarily from an increase
the cost of network hosting services, content égjinetwork expenses, depreciation expense ancdogagrelated expenses of $2.7 million, $2.4 millih.5
million and $650,000, respectively. There was alsdncrease in amortization of acquired intangéssets and third-party software integrated withseuvice
offering of $934,000 and $270,000, respectively.

During 2014, cost of professional services andrativeenue decreased $1.9 million, or 25%, compar@13. The decrease resulted primarily from a
decrease in contractor expenses of $1.8 million.

Gross Profit

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013
Percentage c Percentage ¢
Related Related
Gross Profit Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

Subscription and suppc $  82,30¢ 68% $ 73,91 72% $ 8,39¢ 11%
Professional services and other (1,025 (22) (80€) (12 (219 (27)

Total $ 81,28 65% $  73,10¢ 67% $ 8,17¢ 11%

During 2014, the overall gross profit percentage %8% compared to 67% during 2013. Subscriptionsapgort gross profit increased $8.4 million, o%4dl.
compared to 2013. Professional services and otloss grofit decreased $219,000, or 27%, compar2018. It is likely that gross profit, as a pereay of
revenue, will fluctuate quarter by quarter duehi® timing and mix of subscription and support rexeand professional services and other revenuethangpe,
timing and duration of service required in delingricertain projects.

Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013
Percentage c Percentage ¢
Operating Expenses Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentage

Research and developm $ 28,25 23% $  21,05: 19% $ 7,20C 34%
Sales and marketir 46,01 37 41,00( 37 5,01 12
General and administrati\ 19,13¢ 15 18,47¢ 17 65€ 4
Merger-related 3,07¢ 2 2,06¢ 2 1,00¢ 49
Total $ 9647 77% $  82,59¢ 75% $ 13,87¢ 17%

Research and DevelopmentDuring 2014, research and development expemseased by $7.2 million, or 34%, compared to 201Barily due to
additional employeeelated salaries and associated expenses, reml, taad contractor expenses of $4.8 million, $860, $455,000 and $438,000, respectiv
Expenses related to computer maintenance and supmbstock-based compensation also increased 28,880 and $208,000, respectively. In future pesiod
we expect that our research and development expéghs®ntinue to increase in absolute dollars @&saentinue to add employees, develop new featunés a
functionality for our products, introduce additibsaftware solutions and expand our product andceofferings.
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Sales and Marketing During 2014, sales and marketing expense inete$5.0 million, or 12%, compared to 2013 primadlie to additional employee-
related salaries and associated expenses, trgwehsas and marketing programs of $2.4 million, $dilkon and $572,000, respectively. There wer@als
increases in amortization of acquired intangibke&sand rent expenses of $447,000 and $235,C&atively. These increases were offset by a dseriea
commission expenses of $469,000. We expect thasales and marketing expense will continue to emedn absolute dollars along with our revenuevexs
continue to expand sales coverage and build braademess through what we believe are cost-effectiamnels. We expect that such increases may #tectu
from period to period, however, due to the timifignarketing programs.

General and Administrative During 2014, general and administrative expénseeased by $658,000, or 4%, compared to 2013gpilyrdue to an increase
in outside accounting and legal fees, contractpeages, and employee-related salaries and assbeigienses of $648,000, $342,000 and $294,000,
respectively. These increases were offset by adeerin depreciation and bad debt expenses of B8®@nd $341,000, respectively. In future periegsexpec
general and administrative expenses will increasébsolute dollars as we add personnel and inditiawcil costs related to the growth of our businasd
operations.

Merger-related. During 2014, merger-related expenses increaseirillion, or 49%, compared 2013 primary due #1&8 million increase in costs
incurred in connection with closing the acquisitafrsubstantially all of the assets of Unicorn &id3 million in costs associated with the retentibcertain
employees of Unicorn. These costs were partialigedby a decrease in costs associated with teatieh of certain employees of Zencoder of $1.6iomil

Other Expense, Net

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013
Percentage ¢ Percentage ¢
Other Expense Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

Interest income, ne $ 11 —% $ 58 —% $ (47) B81)%
Interest expens (96) — — — (9€) nm
Other expense, net (1,35%) (1) (594 @ (759 (12¢)
Total $ (1,440 D)% $ (53€) )% $ (902) (168)%

During 2014, interest income, net, decreased by@®@7compared to 2013. The decrease is primaridytdlower average cash balances as interest inidme
generated from the investment of our cash balatessrelated bank fees.

The $96,000 of interest expense during 2014 iseelt interest paid on capital leases. There waaterest expense in 2013.

The $759,000 increase in other expense, net, dafig was primarily due to an increase in foreigrency exchange losses of $768,000 upon collection
foreign denominated accounts receivable.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013
Provision for (Benefit Percentage ¢ Percentage ¢
from) Income Taxes Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ 26C —% $ 212 —% $ 48 23%

During 2014, provision for income taxes increasg®48,000 compared to 2013, and was primarily cisegrof income tax expenses related to foreign
jurisdictions.

Overview of Results of Operations for the Years Eneld December 31, 2013 and 2012

Total revenue increased by 25%, or $21.9 milliarR013 compared to 2012 due to an increase in 6pben and support revenue of 22%, or $18.9 millio
respectively, and an increase in professional sesvand other revenue of 82%, or $3.1 million, eesgely. The increase in subscription and suppaénue
resulted primarily from an increase in the numbeswr premium customers, which was 1,762 as of bées 31, 2013 an increase of 8% from 1,625 custemer
as of December 31, 2012, as well as an increasv@nue from existing customers. In addition, @wenue from volume offerings grew by $2.3 million,28%,
from the prior year.
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Our gross profit increased by $12.5 million, or 21#62013 compared to 2012, primarily due to amease in revenue. With the continued growth intotal
revenue, our ability to continue to maintain oueall gross profit will depend on our ability tordmue controlling our costs of delivery.

Loss from operations was $9.5 million in 2013 comegao $15.4 million in 2012. Loss from operatiam2013 included stock-based compensation expense,
amortization of acquired intangible assets and ererglated expenses of $6.4 million, $1.7 milliod&2.1 million, respectively. Loss from operatiom2012
included stock-based compensation expense, amtizaf acquired intangible assets and mergeredlaikpenses of $5.8 million, $644,000 and $1.9anill
respectively.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $33.0 million afestricted cash and cash equivalents, an incrd&&EL®B million from $21.7 million at December 31,
2012, due primarily to $8.2 million in maturitieiovestments offset by $1.1 million used to pusthéhe non-controlling interest of our Brightcovié K
subsidiary and $3.9 million in capital expendituresupport the business.

Revenue
Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 Change
Revenue by Percentage ¢ Percentage ¢
Product Line Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

Premium $ 99,46¢ 91% $ 79,79¢ 91% $ 19,67: 25%
Volume 10,427 9 8,177 9 2,25( 28

Total $ 109,89 10(% $ 87,97 10(% $ 21,92: 25%

During 2013, revenue increased by $21.9 millior2%#6, compared to 2012, primarily due to an inaeasevenue from our premium offerings, which
consist of subscription and support revenue, abaggbrofessional services and other revenue. fidrease in premium revenue of $19.7 million, or 25%
compared to 2012, is partially the result of ani@®tease in the number of premium customers fr@@23.at December 31, 2012 to 1,762 at December®1R.2
There were also increases in professional servéasue as well as an increase in revenue frontixisustomers. In 2013, volume revenue grew bg $2.
million, or 28%, compared to 2012. The increaselmaattributed to recording a full 12 months of Zester volume revenue during 2013 as compared §oanl
partial year of revenue in the corresponding peoibthe prior year.

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012
Percentage c Percentage ¢
Revenue by Type Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

Subscription and suppc $ 103,11¢ 94% $ 84,257 96% $ 18,85¢ 22%
Professional services and other 6,77¢ 6 3,71¢ 4 3,06: 82

Total $ 109,89 10% $  87,97¢ 100% $ 21,92 25%

During 2013, subscription and support revenue asxd by $18.9 million, or 22%, compared to 2012 ifAerease was primarily related to the continued
growth of our customer base for our premium offgsinincluding sales to both new and existing custsnProfessional services and other revenue isedeay
$3.1 million, or 82%. During 2013, there was arré@ase in the number of professional services emgages that were related to projects and implemiemst
supporting subscription sales.

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012
Percentage c Percentage ¢
Revenue by Geography Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

North America $ 65,33¢ 59% $ 55,83¢ 63% $ 9,50( 17%
Europe 27,18( 25 20,31« 23 6,86¢€ 34
Japar 6,497 6 5,94¢ 7 54¢ 9
Asia Pacific 10,09¢ 9 5,17¢ 6 4,921 95
Other 787 1 70C 1 87 12
International subtotal 44 55¢ 41 32,137 37 12,42 39

Total $ 109,89 100% $  87,97¢ 100% $ 21,92 25%
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For purposes of this section, we designate revbgugeographic regions based upon the locationsio€astomers. North America is comprised of revenue
from the United States, Canada and Mexico. Intéynat is comprised of revenue from locations owsfl North America. Depending on the timing of new
customer contracts, revenue mix from a geogra@gmon can vary from period to period.

During 2013, total revenue for North America in@ea $9.5 million, or 17%, compared to 2012. Thegase in revenue for North America resulted pritp
from an increase in subscription and support regdram our premium offerings. During 2013, totaleaue outside of North America increased $12.4ionill
or 39%, compared to 2012. The increase in revamteenationally was the result of our increasingu®on marketing our services internationally.

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012
Percentage ¢ Percentage ¢
Related Related
Cost of Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

Subscription and suppc $ 29,20¢ 28% $ 22,55 27% $ 6,652 29%
Professional services and other 7,58¢ 112 4,831 13C 2,754 57

Total $ 36,79( 33% $ 27,38¢ 31% $ 9,40¢€ 34%

During 2013, cost of subscription and support rereeimcreased $6.7 million, or 29%, compared to 20h2 increase resulted primarily from an increase
the cost of content delivery network expenses, agtwosting services, employee-related expenseshénadparty software as a service integrated with
service offering of $3.6 million, $1.4 million, $8®00 and $175,000, respectively. There were als@ases in amortization of acquired intangible&sand
expenses related to computer maintenance and sugf%634,000 and $309,000, respectively.

During 2013, cost of professional services andrativeenue increased $2.8 million, or 57%, compape2D12. The increase resulted primarily from an
increase in contractor expenses and employee-dledat@enses of $2.1 million and $493,000, respdgtive order to support the increase in profesdiseavices
engagements.

Gross Profit

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012
Percentage c Percentage ¢
Related Related
Gross Profit Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

Subscription and suppc $ 73,91: 72% $ 61,70« 73% $ 12,207 20%
Professional services and other (80€) (12 (1,11%) (30 30¢ 28

Total $ 73,10¢ 67% $  60,58¢ 69% $ 12,51¢ 21%

During 2013, the overall gross profit percentage %&% compared to 69% during 2012. It is likelyt hyass profit, as a percentage of revenue, wittfiate
quarter by quarter due to the timing and mix ofssmiption and support revenue and professionaicEs\and other revenue, and the type, timing amndtidm of
service required in delivering certain projectse Hnofessional services and other gross profitggeage increased from 2012 to 2013 as we contitwbdild
the professional services organization while bé#eeraging fixed costs with increased customerdémgntation and customization projects.
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Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012
Percentage ¢ Percentage ¢
Operating Expenses Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentage

Research and developm $ 21,05: 19% $  18,72¢ 21% $ 2,327 12%
Sales and marketir 41,00( 37 38,72t 44 2,27¢ 6
General and administratiy 18,47¢ 17 16,73¢ 19 1,74¢ 10
Merger-related 2,06¢ 2 1,852 2 217 12
Total $  82,59¢ 75% $  76,03¢ 86% $ 6,56¢ 9%

Research and DevelopmentDuring 2013, research and development experseadsed by $2.3 million, or 12%, compared to 20dr@arily due to increas:
in employee-related salaries and stock-based cosagien expenses of $1.3 million and $504,000, rtspdy. Rent and travel expenses also increased by
$254,000 and $210,000, respectively.

Sales and Marketing During 2013, sales and marketing expense inece$2.3 million, or 6%, compared to 2012 primadle to increases in employee-
related salaries, stock based compensation expasmarketing programs of $636,000, $619,000 a5 $80, respectively. There were also increasesnn
and amortization of acquired intangible assets6@f1$000 and $417,000, respectively. These increasesoffset by a decrease in commission experfses o
$547,000.

General and Administrative During 2013, general and administrative expemseased by $1.7 million, or 10%, compared 201 arily due to an
increase in outside accounting and legal feesramae and investor relations of $1.2 million, $08®, and $149,000, respectively. There were alse&ses in
bad debt, rent and contractor expenses of $312§161®,000 and $112,000, respectively.

Merger-related. During 2013, we incurred $2.1 million of mergetated expenses, of which $1.7 million was assediwith the retention of certain
employees of Zencoder and $429,000 was relatadnsdction expenses incurred in connection withatwiisition of Unicorn Media. During 2012, we inad
mergerrelated expenses associated with the retentioertdio employees of Zencoder of $826,000, in aolditdo transaction expenses of $1.1 million incuire
connection with the acquisition of Zencoder.

Other Expense, Net

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012
Percentage ¢ Percentage c
Other Expense Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac

Interest income, ne $ 58 —% $ 10€ —% $ (48) (45%
Interest expens — — (241 — 241 10C
Other expense, net (594) (1) (359) (1) (235) (65)
Total $ (53¢€) L)% $ (499 )% $ (42 (9)%

During 2013, interest income, net, decreased by@®@8compared to 2012. The decrease is primariéytdlower average cash balances as interest intome
generated from the investment of our cash balatessrelated bank fees.

The interest expense during 2012 is related toomongs under our term loan which were repaid duthrgfirst quarter of 2012. The increase in other
expense, net during 2013 was primarily due to arease in foreign currency exchange losses of $829pon collection of foreign denominated accounts
receivable.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012
Provision for (Benefit Percentage ¢ Percentage ¢
from) Income Taxes Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands, except percentac
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ 21z —% $ (3,489 (4% $ 3,701 (106)%

The provision for income taxes during 2013 was priflp comprised of income tax expenses relatedteidn jurisdictions. During 2012, we recorded a
benefit from income taxes of approximately $3.4lionl related to the reduction of our valuation axgaiour existing net deferred tax assets to offeghin
deferred tax liabilities on amortizable intangibtesognized upon the acquisition of Zencoder. Uihenclosing of the acquisition of Zencoder, we asstl $3.4
million of net deferred tax liabilities which creat a future source of taxable income for whichmeirdeferred tax assets can be realized and asilawe
reduced the valuation allowance by approximately $3illion during 2012. We also recorded a $193,080¢fit for the release of the valuation allowaretatec
to the remaining deferred tax assets of BrightdéeBased upon the level of historical income ofgitcove KK and future projections, we determinedhe
fourth quarter of 2012 that it was probable we vahlize the benefits of future deductible diffeves in Japan. These benefits were partially offge#109,000 o
expense relating to income tax in foreign jurisdics.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

In connection with our initial public offering indbruary 2012, we received aggregate proceeds obdpmtely $58.8 million, including the proceedsrir
the underwriters’ exercise of their overallotmeption, net of underwriters’ discounts and commissjdut before deducting offering expenses of apprately
$4.3 million. Prior to our initial public offeringye funded our operations primarily through prival@cements of preferred and common stock, asasetrough
borrowings of $7.0 million under our bank creditifsies. In February 2012, we repaid the $7.0 imillbalance under our bank credit facilities. Altloe
preferred stock was converted into shares of onmeon stock in connection with our initial publiderfing.

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow Dai

Purchases of property and equipm $ (3,51¢ $ (3,415 $ (6,299
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,587 5,867 4,66¢
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating actxg 1,48¢ 7,31¢ (1,209
Cash flows (used in) provided by investing actes (10,47) 4,26¢ (45,000
Cash flows (used in) provided by financing actes (802) 74€ 51,10¢

Cash and cash equivalents.

Our cash and cash equivalents at December 31,\20fetheld for working capital purposes and wereated primarily in money market funds. We do not
enter into investments for trading or speculativgppses. At December 31, 2014 and December 31, 284fBicted cash was $201,000 and $322,000,
respectively, and was held in certificates of dépascollateral for letters of credit related e tcontractual provisions of our corporate creditls and the
contractual provisions with a customer. At Decen8igr2014 and December 31, 2013, we had $3.3 midlied $7.9 million, respectively, of cash and cash
equivalents held by subsidiaries in internationabltions, including subsidiaries located in Japahthe United Kingdom. It is our current intentimn
permanently reinvest unremitted earnings in sutisigliaries or to repatriate the earnings only wiaereffective. We believe that our existing castl eash
equivalents will be sufficient to meet our anti¢g@working capital and capital expenditure needs at least the next 12 months.

Accounts receivable, net.

Our accounts receivable balance fluctuates froriog@eo period, which affects our cash flow from ogeng activities. The fluctuations vary dependargthe
timing of our billing activity, cash collectionsnd changes to our allowance for doubtful accountsiany instances we receive cash payment fronseeier
prior to the time we are able to recognize revesnua transaction. We record these payments asrédfezvenue, which has a positive effect on ouoawts
receivable balances. We use days’ sales outstamtii2SO, calculated on a quarterly basis, as asuoreament of the quality and status of our receeabiVe
define DSO as (a) accounts receivable, net of afme for doubtful accounts, divided by total revefar the most recent quarter, multiplied by (1 tumber ¢
days in that quarter. DSO was 63 days at Decenthe2®.4, 67 days at December 31, 2013, and 72atdyscember 31, 2012.

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating actbgiti

Cash provided by operating activities consists grily of net loss adjusted for certain non-casmgeéncluding depreciation and amortization, stoake
compensation expense, the provision for bad detutshee effect of changes in working capital andeotictivities. Cash provided by operating actigitiiring
2014 was $1.5 million and consisted of $16.9 millaf net loss offset in part by non-cash expen§&§ @ million for stock-based compensation expearss
$8.6 million for depreciation and amortization empe. Uses of cash included a decrease in accoaydble and accrued expenses of $2.3 million ar@l $1.
million, respectively. These outflows were offsepiart by decreases in accounts receivable and aslsets of $0.4 million and $1.1 million, respesly, and an
increase in deferred revenue of $6.1 million. lases in deferred revenue primarily related to areamse in sales of our subscription and supporicgesto both
new and existing customers.

Cash flows (used in) provided by investing actwiti
Cash used in investing activities during 2014 wH3.% million, consisting primarily of $9.1 millionsed for the acquisition of substantially all of #hssets of

Unicorn, $3.5 million in capital expenditures tgport the Unicorn business following the acquisitamd $1.0 million for the capitalization of intatruse
software costs. These outflows were offset in ppr$3.1 million from the maturities of investments.
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Cash flows (used in) provided by financing actsti

Cash used in financing activities during 2014 w8000, consisting of payments under capital lebigations of $1.4 million offset in part by peeds
received from the exercise of common stock optimr597,000.

Credit facility borrowings.

On March 30, 2011, we entered into a loan and ggagreement with Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB, piding for an asselbased line of credit. Under this Ic
and security agreement, we could borrow up toehksdr of (i) $8.0 million or (ii) 80% of our elidgdaccounts receivable. The amounts owed unddo#meand
security agreement are secured by substantialtyf allir assets, excluding our intellectual propeftsnounts owed under the loan and security agreemere
due on March 31, 2013, and interest and relatexhfia charges were payable monthly.

On April 29, 2013, we amended our loan and secagtgement with SVB to increase the aggregate anudlnorrowings that may be outstanding under our
asset-based line of credit from $8.0 million to $illion and to extend the maturity date to Ma&€th 2015.

On October 3, 2014, we further amended our loansandrity agreement with SVB pursuant to the Thimeln Modification Agreement (the “Modification
Agreement”) to (i) increase the aggregate amoubbofowings that may be outstanding under our asastd line of credit from $10.0 million to $20.@lion,
(i) increase the aggregate Facility Amount (asraef in the loan and security agreement) availpblsuant to the loan and security agreement frons$1
million to $25.0 million, (iii) provide for an unesl line fee of 0.25% of the average unused podfdahe Maximum Availability Amount (as defined ihet loan
and security agreement) per year and (iv) exteadrthturity date to October 3, 2016. The interest dacreased from the prime rate plus 1.5% to tinegprate
plus 0.75%. Under the Modification Agreement, westreomply with certain financial covenants, inchglimaintaining a minimum asset coverage ratio, a
minimum net income threshold based on non-GAAP atpgg measures and a minimum net cash balancetatrcpoints throughout the year. The interest rate
will increase to the prime rate plus 2.25% if we not able to meet the minimum asset coverage itohad no outstanding borrowings under this diheredit
at December 31, 2014. We were in compliance witbalenants under the loan and security agreenseot Becember 31, 2014.

Net operating loss carryforward

As of December 31, 2014, we had federal and s&tteperating losses of approximately $132.6 milkor $63.8 million, respectively, which are avdiaio
offset future taxable income, if any, through 20B#tluded in the federal and state net operatisgde are deductions attributable to excess taXitsefiem the
exercise of non-qualified stock options of $12.1lioni and $7.7 million, respectively. The tax betehttributable to these net operating lossesedited
directly to additional paid-in capital when reatizd’he Company has not realized any such tax benbfough December 31, 2014. We had research and
development tax credits of $4.6 million and $2.8ion, respectively, which expire in various amasittirough 2034. Our net operating loss and taxtcred
amounts are subject to annual limitations undeti@e882 change of ownership rules of the U.S.riERevenue Code of 1986, as amended. We cometed
assessment to determine whether there may havealf®ection 382 ownership change and determinedttisanore likely than not that our net operatargl tax
credit amounts as disclosed are not subject tavaatgrial Section 382 limitations.

In assessing our ability to utilize our net defdrtax assets, we considered whether it is moréyltk@n not that some portion or all of our netededd tax
assets will not be realized. Based upon the lefrelinhistorical U.S. losses and future projectiomsr the period in which the net deferred tax ssaee
deductible, at this time, we believe it is moreelikthan not that we will not realize the benefitshese deductible differences. Accordingly, weehprovided a
valuation allowance against our net deferred taet@sas of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

We have historically provided a valuation allowaagminst our net deferred tax assets in JapandBgmm the level of historical income in Japan fridre
projections, we determined in the fourth quarte2@f?2 that it was probable that we will realize tiemefits of our future deductible differences.stish, we
released the valuation allowance related to thexneimg deferred tax assets in Japan and recor@483000 income tax benefit in our consolidatetestent of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments.

Our principal commitments consist primarily of @ations under our leases for our office space tedpiase arrangements for certain computer equipme
and contractual commitments for hosting and othppert services. Other than these lease obligatiodscontractual commitments, we do not have coriader
commitments under lines of credit, standby repwehabligations or other such debt arrangementsfdilesving table summarizes these contractual atiians
at December 31, 2014:

Payment Due by Perioc

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 years
(in thousands
Operating lease obligatiol $ 31,11 $ 599% $ 951 $ 7,65 $ 7,951
Capital lease obligatior 1,68¢ 1,15¢ 52t - -
Outstanding purchase obligations 25,07 9,071 16,00( - =
Total $ 57,86¢ $ 16,22¢ $ 26,030 $ 7,65 $ 7,951

43




Anticipated Cash Flows

We expect to incur significant operating coststipalarly related to services delivery costs, saled marketing and research and development, €or th
foreseeable future in order to execute our busipkss We anticipate that such operating costsyedkas planned capital expenditures will constitatmaterial
use of our cash resources. As a result, our natftass will depend heavily on the level of futusales, changes in deferred revenue and our atulityanage
infrastructure costs.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivaleiitbevsufficient to meet our working capital anapital expenditures for at least the next 12 marths
future working capital requirements will dependmany factors, including the rate of our revenueagino our introduction of new products and enhanaas)e
and our expansion of sales and marketing and ptathvelopment activities. To the extent that owhcand cash equivalents, short and long-term imersts
and cash flow from operating activities are instiéfint to fund our future activities, we may needaise additional funds through bank credit arramgets or
public or private equity or debt financings. Weoatsay need to raise additional funds in the eventetermine in the future to acquire businessebntdogies
and products that will complement our existing apiens. In the event funding is required, we matyb®able to obtain bank credit arrangements oitequ
debt financing on terms acceptable to us or at all.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any special purpose entities obaffnce sheet arrangements.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB and the International AccingStandards Board jointly issued ASU No. 201R8yenue from Contracts with Customenghich
clarifies the principles for recognizing revenuel @evelops a common revenue standard for GAAP @atedriational Financial Reporting Standards. The cor
principle of the guidance is that an entity shagldognize revenue to depict the transfer of prothggeods or services to customers in an amountdfiatts the
consideration to which the entity expects to béledtin exchange for those goods and services. A3id is effective for public entities for annualdaimterim
periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Earbptdn is not permitted under GAAP and retrospectipplication is permitted but not required. We are
currently evaluating the impact of adopting thisdgmce on our financial position and results ofrafiens.

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Stand@dard (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Updatd YANSo. 2014-15,Disclosure of Uncertainties
about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Goingn€ern. ASU 2014-15 requires management to evaluate ct &anual or interim reporting period, whether
there are conditions or events that exist thaersigstantial doubt about an entity's ability totgaie as a going concern within one year aftedtte the
financial statements are issued and provide relditedosures. ASU 2014-15 is effective for annweaiqds ending after December 15, 2016 and earlier
application is permitted. The adoption of ASU 20Btis not expected to have a material effect onconsolidated financial statements or disclosures.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

We have operations both within the United Statekiaternationally, and we are exposed to marké&sris the ordinary course of our business. Thedesri
include primarily foreign exchange risks, intenegte and inflation.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments meeting fair value disclogeguirements consist of cash equivalents, accoentsvable and accounts payable. The fair valubesfe
financial instruments approximates their carryingoant.

Foreign currency exchange risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are stbjeftuctuations due to changes in foreign curyeexechange rates, particularly changes in the @nitish
pound, Australian dollar and Japanese yen. Exegptf/enue transactions in Japan, we enter intsactions directly with substantially all of ourdéagn
customers.

Percentage of revenues and expenses in foreiganayris as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013
Revenues generated in locations outside the USitatks 44% 45%
Revenues in currencies other than the United Stiatier (1) 31% 31%
Expenses in currencies other than the United Stitiéer (1) 15% 15%

(1) Percentage of revenues and expenses denomindt@eign currency for the years ended December 314 2nd 2013
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Year Ended
December 31, 2014

Revenues Expenses
Euro 12% 2%
British pound 8 6
Japanese ye 6 3
Other 5 4
Total 31% 15%

Year Ended
December 31, 201

Revenues Expenses
Euro 14% 3%
British pound 7 6
Japanese ye 6 3
Other 4 3
Total 31% 15%

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had $6.9anilind $8.0 million, respectively, of receivablesdminated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar
We also maintain cash accounts denominated inmtige other than the local currency, which expose® foreign exchange rate movements.

In addition, although our foreign subsidiaries hatercompany accounts that are eliminated upos@atation, these accounts expose us to foreigreoay
exchange rate fluctuations. Exchange rate fluanaton short-term intercompany accounts are redardeur consolidated statements of operations ufatber
income (expense), net”, while exchange rate fluaina on long-term intercompany accounts are rembrd our consolidated balance sheets under “aclateat
other comprehensive income” in stockholders’ equaty/they are considered part of our net investraietithence do not give rise to gains or losses.

Currently, our largest foreign currency exposurrestle euro and British pound, primarily becauseEwropean operations have a higher proportioruof o
local currency denominated expenses. Relativer@dgno currency exposures existing at December 314 2a 10% unfavorable movement in foreign currency
exchange rates would expose us to significant $ossearnings or cash flows or significantly dirsimithe fair value of our foreign currency finanéretruments
For the year ended December 31, 2014, we estintlaa¢d 10% unfavorable movement in foreign curremxaghange rates would have decreased revenues by
$3.9 million, decreased expenses by $2.1 millicth @ecreased operating income by $1.8 million. T8teraites used assume that all currencies movesisaime
direction at the same time and the ratio of non-lddllar denominated revenue and expenses to OlBr denominated revenue and expenses does nogeha
from current levels. Since a portion of our reveimudeferred revenue that is recorded at diffefemtign currency exchange rates, the impact tomeg®f a
change in foreign currency exchange rates is rézedrover time, and the impact to expenses is nimomgediate, as expenses are recognized at the ttoreigr
currency exchange rate in effect at the time thpense is incurred. All of the potential change®datbove are based on sensitivity analyses pertbameur
financial results as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Interest rate risk

We had unrestricted cash and cash equivalentsnigt22.9 million at December 31, 2014. Cash arsth exjuivalents were invested primarily in money
market funds and are held for working capital pggm We do not use derivative financial instrumentaur investment portfolio. Declines in interestes,
however, would reduce future interest income. Weeiired $96,000 of interest expense during 2014ael interest paid on capital leases. While weinae to
incur interest expense in connection with our @pétases, the interest expense is fixed and fpésito changes in market interest rates. In #emethat we
borrow under our line of credit, which bears ing¢ra the prime rate plus 0.25%, the related isteggpense recorded would be subject to changés iprime
rate of interest.

Inflation risk
We do not believe that inflation has had a mateffdct on our business, financial condition outesof operations. If our costs were to becomgestiio

significant inflationary pressures, we may not bkeao fully offset such higher costs through piiitereases. Our inability or failure to do so cob&m our
business, financial condition and results of openat
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Brightcove Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgheets of Brightcove Inc. as of December 314201 2013, and the related consolidated statenoé
operations, comprehensive loss, redeemable cobleepreferred stock and stockholdeesjuity (deficit) and cash flows for each of theethyears in the peri
ended December 31, 2014. These financial stateraeatthe responsibility of the Compasyhanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspamian on thes
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaflo(United States). Those standards require th
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablarasse about whether the financial statementsragedf material misstatement. An audit includesm@rang,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amountsiaelosures in the financial statements. An aaldio includes assessing the accounting principdes an
significant estimates made by management, as welValuating the overall financial statement prestean. We believe that our audits provide a reabtsbasi
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referre@ove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated financial position of Brightcove.lat Decemb:
31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated resulitsafperations and its cash flows for each of tived years in the period ended December 31, 20
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounfingciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), Brightcove Ins.internal contrc
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2050 on criteria established in Internal Conknéégrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpon¢
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 &anrk) and our report dated March 5, 2015 expreasashqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 5, 2015




Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $181 a#éfi$at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respect
Prepaid expenst
Deferred tax asst
Other current assets
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill
Restricted cash, net of current port
Other assets
Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Capital lease liability
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue, net of current port
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencieNote 6)
Stockholder’ equity:
Undesignated preferred stock, $0.001 par valu€®BD0 shares authorized; no shares is
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 stearg®rized; 32,424,554 and 29,034,919 shares issud
outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respéc
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive I
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes.
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December 31

2014

2013

(in thousands, except shar
and per share data)

$ 2291¢ $ 33,04
— 3,061

— 121

21,46 21,56(

3,121 2,89t

10¢ 125

1,21¢ 1,11¢

48,83( 61,02

10,37: 8,79t

16,89¢ 8,66¢

50,77¢ 22,01¢

201 201

507 1,51¢

$ 127,58 $ 103,12t
$ 1,616 $ 3,067
11,72: 14,52¢

1,15¢ |

29,64( 23,57

44,13 41,16

64 247

2,61¢ 1,33¢

46,82 42,74

32 29

214,52 176,92t

(77€) (453)

(133,01) (116,129

80,76: 60,38(

$ 12758 $ 103,12t




Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except per share date
Revenue®
Subscription and support rever $ 120,32: % 103,11t $ 84,257
Professional services and other revenue 4,692 6,77¢ 3,71¢
Total revenue 125,01° 109,89! 87,97
Cost of revenue® (3)
Cost of subscription and support revel 38,01t 29,20t 22,55
Cost of professional services and other revenue 5,71¢ 7,58 4,831
Total cost of revenue 43,73¢ 36,79( 27,38¢
Gross profit 81,28¢ 73,10¢ 60,58¢
Operating expense(@ ()
Research and developme 28,25: 21,05 18,72¢
Sales and marketir 46,01« 41,00( 38,72t
General and administrati\ 19,13¢ 18,47¢ 16,73¢
Merger-related 3,07t 2,06¢ 1,852
Total operating expenses 96,47 82,59¢ 76,03¢
Loss from operation (15,199 (9,499 (15,44%)
Other income (expense
Interest incom 11 58 10€
Interest expens (96) — (241)
Other expense, net (1,35%) (594) (35¢)
Total other expense, net (1,440 (53€) (499
Loss before income taxes and -controlling interest in consolidated subsidi (16,639 (20,030 (15,94)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 26C 212 (3,489
Consolidated net los (16,899 (10,249 (12,459
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiary (20) (7349
Net loss attributable to Brightcove Ir (16,899 (10,267) (13,18¢)
Accretion of dividends on redeemable convertiblkefgmred stock (732
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (16,899 $ (10,269 $ (13,919
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldre— basic and diluted $ (059 $ (0.30) $ (0.57)
Weighted-average number of common shares usediputing net loss per share attributable
common stockholders — basic and diluted 31,94¢ 28,35’ 24,62¢
(1) Includes related party revenuddgte 9) $ — % 42 $ 3,51¢
(2) Stocl-based compensation included in above line ite
Cost of subscription and support revel $ 21E % 248 $ 12E
Cost of professional services and other reve 141 14¢ 11€
Research and developme 1,39¢ 1,191 687
Sales and marketir 2,19¢ 2,22¢ 1,60¢
General and administrati 2,43¢ 2,58¢ 3,30¢
(3) Amortization of acquired intangible assetduded in above line item:
Cost of subscription and support revel $ 1,94¢ $ 1,01: $ 37¢
Research and developme 14C 39 15
Sales and marketir 1,11¢ 667 25C

See accompanying notes.
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Brightcove Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Consolidated net los $ (16,899 $ (10,249 $ (12,457)
Other comprehensive los

Foreign currency translation adjustments (323) (1,025 (484)
Comprehensive los (17,216 (11,265 (12,93¢)

Net income attributable to non-controlling intergstonsolidated subsidiary - (20) (734)
Comprehensive loss attributable to Brightcove Inc. $ (17,216 $ (11,287 $ (13,670

See accompanying notes.
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Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertibledferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share data)

Total Stock-
Accumu- holders’ Total Stock-
Series A Series B Series C Series D Additional  lated Other (Deficit) Equity Non- holders’
Redeemable Convertible Redeemable Convertible Redeemable Convertible Redeemable Convertible Paid-In  Comprehensive Accumulatec Attributable to Controlling  (Deficit)
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Capital Income Deficit Brightcove Inc. _ Interest Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares  Par Value

Balance at
December 31
2011 5,375,001 $ 7,53 6,921,85 $ 23,29. 7,392,16 $ 76,400 2,315,84. $ 13,127| 5,22453 ' $ 58% — 3 1,05¢ $ (107,25)$ (106,19) $ 1,10¢

Issuance of
common stocl
upon exercis¢
of stock
options — — — — — — — — 801,09¢ 1 1,34t — — 1,34¢ — 1,34¢

Vesting of
restricted  stc — — — — — — — — — — 101 — — 101 — 101

Issuance o
common stocl
pursuant to
restricted stoc
units — — — — — — — — 13,00¢ — — — — — — —

Issuance o
common stocl
upon net
exercise of
stock warrant: — — — — — — — — 15,78 — — — — — — —

Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stoc
to redemption
value — 1 — 1 — 32 — 5 — — — — (39) (39 — (39

Accretion of
cumulative
dividends on
redeemable
convertible
preferred stoc — 42 — 132 — 464 — 94 — — (677) — (5€) (73%) — (73%)

Stocl-basec
compensation
expense — — — — — — — — — — 5,847 — — 5,847 — 5,847

Issuance o
common stocl
in connection
with initial
public
offering, net o
issuance cost
of $4,347 — = — = = — = — | 5,750,00! 6 54,47( — — 54,47¢ — 54,47¢

Conversion o
redeemable
convertible
preferred stoc
into common
stock (5,375,00) (7,576  (6,921,85) (23,425  (7,392,16) (76,899  (2,315,84) (13,226| 16,150,50 16 106,43t — 14,67 121,12 — 121,12

Reclassification
of warrants to
purchase
shares of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stoc
into warrants
to purchase
common stocl — — — — — — — — — — 39 — — 39¢ — 39¢

Foreign currenc:
translation
adjustmen — — — — — — — — — — — (484 — (484) — (484)

Net (loss) incomt — — — — — — — — — — — — (13,180 (13,18¢) 734 (12,457)

Balance at
December 31
2012 — — — — — — — — | 27,954,92 28 167,91: 57z (105,867 62,65( 1,842 64,49:

Issuance of
common stocl
upon exercise
of stock
options — — — — — — — — 785,52! 1 1,82¢ — — 1,83( — 1,83(

Vesting of
restricted stoc — — — — — — — — — — 8 — — 8 — 8

Issuance of
common stocl
pursuant to
restricted stoc
units — — — — — — — — 294,46t — — — — — — —

Stock-basec
compensation
expense — — — — — — — — — — 6,401 — — 6,401 — 6,401

©®

(105,08
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Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertibledferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) —(continued)
(in thousands, except share data)

Purchase of nc-controlling interest ir
consolidated subsidial
Foreign currency translation adjustm
Net (loss) incom«
Balance at December 31, 20
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock optior
Issuance of common stock pursuan
restricted stock unit
Issuance of common stock up
acquisition
Stock-based compensation expe
Foreign currency translation adjustm
Net (loss) incoms
Balance at December 31, 20

Total Stock-
Series A Series B Series C Series D Accumu- holders’ (Deficit)

Redeemable Redeemable Redeemable Redeemable lated Other Equity Non- Total Stock-

Convertible Preferred Convertible Preferred Convertible Preferred Convertible Preferred Additional ~ Comprehensive Accumulatec Attributable to  Controlling holders’
Stock Stock Stock Stock Common Stock  Paid-In Capital Income Deficit Brightcove Inc. Interest  (Deficit) Equity

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount | Shares  Par Value

— $  — — s — = $  — — $  — —$ —3 7€ $ —$ — 3 7€ S (1,869 % (1,089

_ _ _ _ _ — — — — — — (1,025) — (1,025) — (1,025

= = = = = = = = = = = = (10,267 (10,262 2C (10,247)

— — — — — — — — 29,034,91 2¢ 176,92¢ (45%) (116,129 $ 60,38( — 60,38(

— — — — — — — — 210,73t — 597 — — 597 — 597

— — — — — — — —| 32838 — — — — — — —

— — — — — — — —| 2,850,54 B 30,61: — — 30,61¢ — 30,61t

— — — — — — — — — — 6,387 — — 6,387 — 6,387

— — — — — — — — — — — (329) — (329) — (329)

— — — — — — — — — — — — (16,89Y) (16,899 — (16,89Y)

— $ — — $ — — $ — — $ —132,42455 $ 323 214,52 $ (7760 $  (133,01)$ 80,76¢ $ —$ 80,76!

F-6




Operating activities
Net loss

Brightcove Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby (used in) operating activitie

Depreciation and amortizatic

Stocl-based compensatic

Deferred income taxe

Change in fair value of warrar

Provision for reserves on accounts receivi
Amortization of premium on investmer
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Loss on disposal of equipme

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqaisiti

Accounts receivabl

Prepaid expenst

Other current asse

Other asset

Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi
Investing activities
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acqu
Purchases of investmer
Maturities of investment
Purchases of property and equipm
Capitalization of intern-use software cos
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi
Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock in conneetith initial public offering, net of offerinc

costs
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti

Purchase of nc-controlling interest in consolidated subsidi

Payments under term lo:

Payments under capital lease obligation

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

$ (16,899 $ (10,249 $ (12,457
8,587 5,867 4,66¢
6,387 6,401 5,84:
— 62 (3,600

— — (28)

11€ 44¢ 137

1 73 132

— — 44

86 43 83
40¢ (3,247) (4,43))
(543 (962 77
344 31¢ 347
1,14( (81¢) 90
(2,329 2,117 (1,32))
(1,909 2,47: 3,732
6,07t 4,78¢ 5,477
1,48¢ 7,31¢ (1,20¢
(9,100 — (27,210
— — (14,069
3,06( 8,20( 2,59¢
(3,51¢) (3,41%) (6,299
(1,039 (500) (24)
121 (19 —
(10,479 4,26¢ (45,000
— — 56,76:

597 1,83( 1,34¢€

— (1,089 —
— — (7,000
(1,399 — —
(802) 74€ 51,10¢
(3439 (992 (419
(10,13)) 11,33¢ 4,481
33,047 21,70¢ 17,225
$ 22,91t $ 33,040 $ 21,70¢
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Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — (Continued)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid for income taxes

Cash paid for interest

Supplemental disclosure of no-cash investing and financing activities
Unpaid internal-use software costs

Unpaid purchases of property and equipment

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock

Conversion of warrants to purchase preferred sioekarrants to purchase common stock
Accretion of Series A, B, C and D redeemable catitverpreferred stock issuance costs and

dividends
Vesting of restricted stock
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow related to acdgitions

In connection with the acquisitions of Unicorn &ghcoder on January 31, 2014 and on Augt

14, 2012, respectively, the following transactiossurred:
Fair value of assets acquir
Liabilities assumed related to acquisition
Total purchase pric
Less fair value of common stock issued in conneatidh acquisitior
Add working capital adjustment receival
Less cash and cash equivalents acquired
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired
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Year Ended December 31

2014 2012
(in thousands)

$ 184 $ 12z $ 61
$ % $ — 3 302
$ 6 $ 56 $ =
$ 55¢ §$ 152 $ 46
$ — % — % 121,12¢
$ — 3 — 3 39t
$ — % — % 772
$ — 3 8 $ 101
$ 44,370 $ — % 31,18:
(4,645 — (3,804

39,72¢ — 27,37¢

(30,615 — —

— — 79
13 — (24€)

$ 9,10C $ — $ 27,21(




Brightcove Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
(in thousands, except share and per share data, @wis otherwise noted)

1. Business Description

Brightcove Inc. (the Company) is a leading globamider of cloud services for video which enabgeadtstomers to publish and distribute video torhee
connected devices quickly, easily and in a cogtedffe and high-quality manner.

The Company is headquartered in Boston, Massadbus®t was incorporated in the state of DelawarAugust 24, 2004. At December 31, 2014, the
Company had nine wholly-owned subsidiaries: BrightcUK Ltd, Brightcove Singapore Pte. Ltd., Brighte Korea, Brightcove Australia Pty Ltd, Brightcove
Holdings, Inc., Brightcove Kabushiki Kaisha (Brighte KK), Zencoder Inc. (Zencoder), Brightcove Fizel, and Cacti Acquisition LLC.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statemefiesct the application of certain significant asoting policies as described below and elsewhetiease
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company believes that a significant accounpoigey is one that is both important to the poraagf the Company’s financial condition and resudtsd
requires management’s most difficult, subjectivec@mplex judgments, often as the result of thedrieemake estimates about the effect of mattettsattea
inherently uncertain.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiesve been prepared in conformity with accountinggiples generally accepted in the United Stafes o
America (GAAP). Any reference in these notes toliapple guidance is meant to refer to the authtiviédnited States generally accepted accountingiples
as found in the Accounting Standards CodificatidBC) and Accounting Standards Update (ASU) of timacial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).

Use of Estimates and Uncertainties

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principleth@ United States requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartezlints of assets and liabilities, and the discosticontingent assets and liabilities at the déthe financial
statements, and the reported amounts expensedydheneporting period. Actual results could diffierm those estimates.

Significant estimates relied upon in preparing ¢hesnsolidated financial statements include reveaaegnition and revenue reserves, allowances for
doubtful accounts, contingent liabilities, the exgieg and capitalization of research and developrests for internal-use software, intangible asaéiations,
amortization periods, expected future cash floveslue evaluate the recoverability of long-livedeissthe determination of the fair value of stoslasls issued,
stock-based compensation expense, and the recditgrabthe Company’s net deferred tax assets iahated valuation allowance.

Although the Company regularly assesses theseastmactual results could differ materially frdmege estimates. Changes in estimates are recordeel i
period in which they become known. The Company b#seestimates on historical experience and varaiher assumptions that it believes to be reasenab
under the circumstances. Actual results may dfffem management’s estimates if these results diféen historical experience, or other assumptiomsiot turn
out to be substantially accurate, even if suchraptions are reasonable when made.

The Company is subject to a number of risks an@aimties common to companies in similar industaad stages of development including, but notéid
to, rapid technological changes, competition frarhssitute products and services from larger conggrmiustomer concentration, management of intemeti
activities, protection of proprietary rights, patétigation, and dependence on key individuals.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include ttoants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsiels and non-controlling interest. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have bemimaied in consolidation.

Non-controlling interest in 2012 represents thearity stockholders’ proportionate share (37%) & @ompany’s majority-owned subsidiary, Brightcove
KK, a Japanese joint venture, which was formeduy I8, 2008. The portion of net income attribuéatl non-controlling interest prior to the remagin
acquisition in 2013 is presented as net incoméattable to non-controlling interest in consolidhgibsidiary in the consolidated statements ofaijmers, and
the portion of other comprehensive loss of thissglibry is presented in the consolidated statenwfmesdeemable convertible preferred stock andkstolders’
equity (deficit) and statements of comprehensigs.l&ee Note 8 for further discussion.

On January 8, 2013, the Company acquired the reénggBY% interest in Brightcove KK. The purchaseerof the remaining interest of Brightcove KK was
approximately $1.1 million and was funded by casthand. The Company owned a 63% interest in thghlBrove KK joint venture since its formation in 00
Brightcove KK is now 100% owned by the Company. Phechase was accounted for as an equity transaatid, as such, the Company has continued to
consolidate Brightcove KK for financial reportingnposes; however, commencing on January 8, 20&3;¢mpany no longer records non-controlling inteires
its consolidated financial statements.
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Subsequent Events Considerations

The Company considers events or transactions ttatr @fter the balance sheet date but prior tastheance of the financial statements to provide
additional evidence for certain estimates or taiifg matters that require additional disclosurebSequent events have been evaluated as required. T
Company has evaluated all subsequent events aedrdeéd that there are no material recognized oraaynized subsequent events.

Foreign Currency Translation

The reporting currency of the Company is the Udllad. The functional currency of the Company’sefign subsidiaries is the local currency of each
subsidiary. All assets and liabilities in the balasheets of entities whose functional curreneydsrrency other than the U.S. dollar are trandlate U.S.
dollar equivalents at exchange rates as followsag$et and liability accounts at period-end rg@sincome statement accounts at weighted-average
exchange rates for the period, and (3) stockholéersty accounts at historical exchange rates. fEiselting translation adjustments are excludethfro
income (loss) and reflected as a separate compofstdckholders’ equity. Foreign currency trangacgains and losses are included in net losshier t
period. The Company may periodically have certatarcompany foreign currency transactions thatleesmed to be of a long-term investment nature;
exchange adjustments related to those transaciensiade directly to a separate component of stdd&ls’ equity.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith an original maturity of three months or legghe date of purchase to be cash equivalents.
Investments not classified as cash equivalents méturities less than one year from the balancetstege are classified as short-term investmeritdew
investments with maturities in excess of one yeamnfthe balance sheet date are classified as Emgihvestments. Management determines the apptepri
classification of investments at the time of pussthaand re-evaluates such determination at eaahdmkheet date.

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of castieposit with banks and amounts held in intdsesring money market accounts. Cash equivalents
are carried at cost, which approximates theirrfaarket value. Investments primarily consist of ifieettes of deposit, commercial paper and corporate
debentures. At December 31, 2013, the Companyifitasis investments as held-to-maturity as it vlas Company’s intention to hold such investments
until they mature. As such, investments are reabedemortized cost at December 31, 2013.

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 20t4st of the following:

December 31, 201.
Fair Market  Balance Per

Description Contracted Maturity Amortized Cost Value Balance Shee
Cash Demanc $ 13,34: $ 13,34 $ 13,34:
Money market funds Demand 9,574 9,574 9,57¢

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 2291¢ $ 22,91¢ $ 22,91¢

Cash, cash equivalents and investments as of Dexe3itb2013 consist of the following:

December 31, 201!
Fair Market Balance Per

Description Contracted Maturity Amortized Cost Value Balance Shee
Cash Demanc $ 19,25( $ 19,25( $ 19,25(
Money market funds Demand 13,79; 13,79; 13,79:

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 33,047 $ 33,047 $ 33,04
Certificates of depos 110- 163 days $ 96C $ 961 $ 96(
Corporate debentures 23 - 96 days 2,101 2,10z 2,101
Total short-term investments $ 3,061 $ 3,06: $ 3,061
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Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, restricted cashf&@%,000 and $322,000, respectively, and was hetériificates of deposit as collateral for letters
of credit related to the contractual provisionstef Company’s corporate credit cards and the cotu@hprovisions with a customer.

Disclosure of Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financiafrinsents, which include cash, cash equivalentgats receivable, accounts payable and accrued
expenses, approximated their fair values at DeceBibe2014 and 2013, due to the short-term natiidleese instruments. See Note 5 for discussiorhen t
determination of the fair value of the Company’'sdeterm investments.

The Company has evaluated the estimated fair \al€inancial instruments using available markebmfiation and management'’s estimates. The use of
different market assumptions and/or estimation walogies could have a significant impact on therested fair value amounts. See Note 5 for further
discussion.

Revenue Recognition

The Company primarily derives revenue from the sélés online video platform, which enables itstmers to publish and distribute video to Internet
connected devices quickly, easily and in a costetiffe and high-quality manner. Revenue is derfveah three primary sources: (1) the subscriptioiigo
technology and related support; (2) hosting, badtiwand encoding services; and (3) professionalces, which include initiation, set-up and
customization services.

The Company recognizes revenue when all of theviaitlg conditions are satisfied: (1) there is pesstmevidence of an arrangement; (2) the service
has been provided to the customer; (3) the collaaif fees is probable; and (4) the amount of fedse paid by the customer is fixed or determinable

The Company’s subscription arrangements provideoousrs the right to access its hosted softwarei@gijans. Customers do not have the right to take
possession of the Company’s software during thérgarrangement. Accordingly, the Company recogmizvenue in accordance with ASC 6RByenue
Recognitior. Contracts for premium customers generally hatezra of one year and are non-cancellable. Theseamia generally provide the customer
with a maximum annual level of usage, and providerate at which the customer must pay for actsafj@ above the annual allowable usage. For these
services, the Company recognizes the annual fablyaas revenue each month. Should a customergeusiahe Company’s services exceed the annual
allowable level, revenue is recognized for sucheegadn the period of the usage. Contracts for velaostomers are generally month-to-month
arrangements, have a maximum monthly level of usageprovide the rate at which the customer mugf@aactual usage above the monthly allowable
usage. The monthly volume subscription and supgaitusage fees are recognized as revenue duripgttiog in which the related cash is collected.

Revenue recognition commences upon the later ohuline application is placed in a production enuinent, or when all revenue recognition criteria
have been met.

Professional services and other revenue sold tena-@lone basis are recognized as the servicggedi@med, subject to any refund or other obliati

Deferred revenue includes amounts billed to custerfee which revenue has not been recognized, antagly consists of the unearned portion of
annual software subscription and support feesdafieired professional service fees.

Revenue is presented net of any taxes collected éustomers.
Multiple-Element Arrangements

The Company periodically enters into multiple-eletngervice arrangements that include platform sugitsen fees, support fees, initiation fees, amd, i
certain cases, other professional services.

The Company assesses arrangements with multigleedsbles under ASU No. 2009-1Revenue Recognition (Topic 605), Multiple-Delivéeab
Revenue Arrangemer— a Consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task kdrich amended the previous multiple-element arrareges accounting
guidance. Pursuant to ASU 2009-13, objective ahdhie evidence of fair value of the undeliveredmaénts is no longer required in order to account fo
deliverables in a multiple-element arrangement isgply. Instead, arrangement consideration is atext to deliverables based on their relative sgffirice.
The new guidance also eliminates the use of thduasmethod.

In order to treat deliverables in a multiple-eletm@mangement as separate units of accountingidlixerables must have stand-alone value upon
delivery. If the deliverables have stand-alone @alpon delivery, the Company accounts for eaclveleble separately. Subscription services havelstan
alone value as such services are often sold separkt determining whether professional servicagehstand-alone value, the Company considers the
following factors for each professional serviceseagnent: availability of the services from othenders, the nature of the professional servicestithiag
of when the professional services contract wasesign comparison to the subscription service stai, and the contractual dependence of the sphiscri
service on the customer’s satisfaction with theégssional services work. To date, the Company basladed that all of the professional servicesudet
in multiple-element arrangements executed havalstione value, with the exception of initiation awtivation fees.

When multiple deliverables included in an arrangenage separated into different units of accountihg arrangement consideration is allocated to the
identified separate units based on a relativergpprice hierarchy. The Company determines thdivelaelling price for a deliverable based on gsdor-
specific objective evidence of fair value (VSOE)vailable, or its best estimate of selling pB&ESP), if VSOE is not available. The Company has
determined that third-party evidence of sellingerfTPE) is not a practical alternative due toadéhces in its service offerings compared to gblagties
and the availability of relevant third-party prigimformation. The amount of revenue allocateddlivéred items is limited by contingent revenuegnfy.
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The Company has not established VSOE for its affgridue to the lack of pricing consistency, theohtiction of new services and other factors.
Accordingly, the Company uses its BESP to deterrttivaelative selling price. The Company determBESP by considering its overall pricing objectives
and market conditions. Significant pricing pracsiteken into consideration include the Companyssalinting practices, the size and volume of the
Company'’s transactions, the geographic area wlegwicss are sold, price lists, historical contradiyustated prices and prior relationships andriitu
subscription service sales with certain classesusfomers.

The determination of BESP is made through consaitatith and approval by the Company’s managemnteking into consideration the go-to-market
strategy. As the Company’s go-to-market strategiedve, the Company may modify its pricing pradioe the future, which could result in changes in
selling prices, including both VSOE and BESP. Thenpany plans to analyze the selling prices uséts mllocation of arrangement consideration, at a
minimum, on an annual basis. Selling prices wilbdnalyzed on a more frequent basis if a significiuiainge in the Company’s business necessitatese mo
timely analysis or if the Company experiences $igamt variances in its selling prices.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of costs relatesupporting and hosting the Company’s produferiofgs and delivering professional services. These
costs include salaries, benefits, incentive comgiiors and stock-based compensation expense rétated management of the Company’s data centers,
customer support team and the Company'’s profedssenaces staff, in addition to third-party seeigrovider costs such as data center and networking
expenses, allocated overhead, amortization of st internal-use software development costsietadigible assets and depreciation expense.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company offsets gross trade accounts receivatiean allowance for doubtful accounts. The abiowe for doubtful accounts is the Company’s
best estimate of the amount of probable crediel®as the Company’s existing accounts receivabtbigbased upon historical loss patterns, the nuwibe
days that billings are past due, and an evaluatidhe potential risk of loss associated with sfieeiccounts. Account balances are charged aggiest
allowance after all means of collection have bedraasted and the potential for recovery is considieemote. Provisions for allowances for doubtful
accounts are recorded in general and administratipense.

Below is a summary of the changes in the Compaaijdsvance for doubtful accounts for the years eridedember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

Balance at Beginning Balance at
of Period Provision Write -offs  End of Period
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 461 $ 11€ $ (399 $ 181
Year ended December 31, 2C 33¢ 44¢ (32€) 461
Year ended December 31, 2C 26€ 137 (65) 33¢

Off-Balance Sheet Risk and Concentration of CrediRisk

The Company has no significant off-balance she&t such as foreign exchange contracts, optiorractst or other foreign hedging arrangements.
Financial instruments that potentially expose tleenfany to concentrations of credit risk consistnariily of cash, cash equivalents, investments eadkt
accounts receivable. The Company maintains its andicash equivalents and investments principally accredited financial institutions of high credi
standing. Although the Company deposits its cash multiple financial institutions, its deposits, temes, may exceed federally insured limits. The
Company routinely assesses the creditworthine#s ofistomers. The Company generally has not esspegd any material losses related to receivabbes fr
individual customers, or groups of customers. Then@any does not require collateral. Due to thes®fg, no additional credit risk beyond amounts
provided for collection losses is believed by mamagnt to be probable in the Company’s accountsvatle.

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 arg] A0lindividual customer accounted for more th@% bf total revenue.
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, no individuatamer accounted for more than 10% of net accousivable.
Concentration of Other Risks
The Company is dependent on certain content dglivetwork providers who provide digital media deliy functionality enabling the Company’s on-

demand application service to function as interfdethe Company’s customers and ultimate end-u3érs.disruption of these services could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s busirfesmcial position, and results of operations.
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Software Development Costs

Costs incurred to develop software applicationsluseéhe Company’s on-demand application servicesist of (a) certain external direct costs of
materials and services incurred in developing daioing internal-use computer software, and (b)yplhgnd payroll-related costs for employees whe ar
directly associated with, and who devote timete, iroject. These costs generally consist of ialdabor during configuration, coding, and testing
activities. Research and development costs incutugiehg the preliminary project stage or costs ined for data conversion activities, training, ntaimance
and general and administrative or overhead costexgensed as incurred. Capitalization begins viinepreliminary project stage is complete,
management, with the relevant authority, author&es commits to the funding of the software prqjeds probable the project will be completed, the
software will be used to perform the functions imted and certain functional and quality standaed&tbeen met. Qualified costs incurred during the
operating stage of the Company’s software appboatrelating to upgrades and enhancements arelizgit to the extent it is probable that they wabult
in added functionality, while costs that cannosbparated between maintenance of, and minor upgeadkeenhancements to, internal-use software are
expensed as incurred. These capitalized costsraveiaed on a straight-line basis over the expeuatadul life of the software, which is estimatedtothree
years. Capitalized internal-use software developroests are classified as “Software” within “Prageand Equipment, net” in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 20126bd, the Company capitalized $474, $1,065 and 2pectively, of internal-use software
development costs. The Company recorded amortizatipense associated with its capitalized intensalsoftware development costs of $397, $312 and
$542 for the years ended December 31, 2014, 204 2@h2, respectively.

In addition to the software development costs deedrabove, the Company incurs costs to developpaten software to be licensed or otherwise
marketed to customers. Costs incurred in the rekedesign and development of software for salethers are charged to expense until technological
feasibility is established. The Company capitalizkgible computer software development costs ugthievement of technological feasibility subjechéd
realizable value considerations. Thereafter, sofivd@velopment costs are capitalized until the ypeods released and amortized to product costlesan a
straight-line basis over the lesser of three yeathe estimated economic lives of the respectieelycts. The Company has determined that techreabgi
feasibility is established at the time a workingdabof software is completed. Because the Compalig\ues its current process for developing softweite
be essentially completed concurrently with the ldstament of technological feasibility, no costv@deen capitalized to date.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost aneéclafed over their estimated useful lives usirgdtnaight-line method. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the shorter of the lease term oesttienated useful life of the related asset. Uginement or sale, the cost of assets disposeahdfthe
related accumulated depreciation, are removed frenaccounts, and any resulting gain or loss isiited in the determination of net income or losthim
period of retirement.

Property and equipment consists of the following:

Estimated Useful Life (in Years December 31

2014 2013
Computer equipmer 3 $ 19,81t $ 14,27¢
Software 3-6 9,24¢ 8,47:
Furniture and fixture 5 1,827 1,721
Shorter of lease term or the
Leasehold improvements estimated useful life 92¢ 737
31,81¢  25,20¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 21,44¢ 16,41

$ 10,37: $ 8,79¢

Depreciation and amortization expense, which inetuaimortization expense associated with capitalitedhal-use software development costs, for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 wa885%4,148 and $4,022, respectively.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are ctiamgexpense as incurred, whereas major improvestagatcapitalized as additions to property and
equipment.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets and certintifiable intangible assets for impairment whearewents or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not bevezable. During this review, the Company re-evi@sighe significant assumptions used in determining
the original cost and estimated lives of long-liagets. Although the assumptions may vary froretassasset, they generally include operating tesul
changes in the use of the asset, cash flows, d&md widicators of value. Management then determivtesther the remaining useful life continues to be
appropriate, or whether there has been an impatrofdang-lived assets based primarily upon whethgrected future undiscounted cash flows are
sufficient to support the assets’ recovery. If imnpeent exists, the Company adjusts the carryingevalf the asset to fair value, generally determimed
discounted cash flow analysis.

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 ari?] #81 Company has not identified any impairmeritofong-lived assets.
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Business Combinations

The Company records tangible and intangible assefsired and liabilities assumed in business coatinins under the purchase method of accounting.
Amounts paid for each acquisition are allocatethéoassets acquired and liabilities assumed baséued fair values at the date of acquisition. The
Company then allocates the purchase price in exafasst tangible assets acquired to identifiabtarigible assets based on detailed valuations eat u
information and assumptions provided by managenfent.excess purchase price over the fair valudefrtet tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed is allocated to goodwill. IEtfair value of the assets acquired exceeds oghpse price, the excess is recognized as a gain.

Significant management judgments and assumptianeeguired in determining the fair value of acqdiessets and liabilities, particularly acquired
intangible assets. The valuation of purchased gitd@ assets is based upon estimates of the fperfermance and cash flows from the acquired bssine
Each asset is measured at fair value from the petisp of a market participant.

If different assumptions are used, it could matigrimpact the purchase price allocation and adelgraffect our results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets that have finite lives are amedtiover their useful lives based on the pattemoaumption of the economic benefit or, if thattera
cannot be readily determined, on a straight-lindsband are reviewed for impairment whenever eventhanges in circumstances indicate that the/icayr
amount of an asset may not be recoverable, assdisdwabove.

Goodwill is not amortized, but is evaluated for emmment annually, or whenever events or changesdéumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable.

In assessing the recoverability of goodwill, ther@any must make assumptions regarding the estiniatie@ cash flows, and other factors, to
determine the fair value of these assets. If tesiemates or their related assumptions changeeifutiare, the Company may be required to record
impairment charges against these assets in thetirgpperiod in which the impairment is determin@tie Company has determined, based on its
organizational structure, that it had one reporting as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

For goodwill, the impairment evaluation includescenparison of the carrying value of the reporting to the fair value of the reporting unit. If the
reporting unit’s estimated fair value exceeds #porting unit’s carrying value, no impairment ofogwill exists. If the fair value of the reportingitidoes
not exceed its carrying value, then further analysiuld be required to determine the amount ofrtfgirment, if any.

In accordance with ASU No. 2011-0&fangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) Tegt®oodwill for Impairment the Company has the option to
assess qualitative factors to determine whetheextigtence of events or circumstances leads tdeardmation that it is more likely than not thaé thair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carryamgount to determine whether further impairmertingss necessary. Based on the results of thetgtia¢
review of goodwill performed as of December 31,2@hd 2013, the Company did not identify any ingticeof impairment. As such, the two-phase
process described above was not necessary.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the @éhangquity of a business enterprise during a periom transactions, other events, and
circumstances from non-owner sources. Accumulatieer @omprehensive loss is presented separatdlyeotonsolidated balance sheets and consists
entirely of cumulative foreign translation adjustiteeas of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Net Loss per Share

The Company calculates basic and diluted net lesge@mmon share by dividing the net loss attribletéds common stockholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding dtivengeriod. The Company has excluded (a) all uedesstricted shares that are subject to repurchase
and (b) the Company’s other potentially dilutiveuss, which include redeemable convertible predesteck in 2012, warrants to purchase redeemable
convertible preferred stock in 2012, warrants tochase common stock and outstanding common staangp from the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding as their inclusion irctimputation for all periods would be anti-dilutistee to net losses incurred. The Company’s redelemab
convertible preferred stock were deemed to be@pating securities as defined by ASC 260-28rnings Per Sharebut were excluded from the earnings
per share calculation as they do not have an dldigéo share in the Company’s net losses.
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A reconciliation of the number of shares used ndhlculation of basic and diluted net loss peressimas follows:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except per share d

Computation of basic and diluted net loss per share

Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (16,899 $ (10,262 $ (13,919
Weighte-average shares of common stock outstan 31,94¢ 28,35: 24,66
Less: weighted-average number of unvested restraenmon shares

outstanding — — 36
Weighted-average number of common shares useddulating net loss per

common share 31,94¢ 28,35! 24,62¢
Net loss per share applicable to common stockhe $ (0.59 $ (0.36) $ (0.57)

The following potentially dilutive common shares/hdeen excluded from the computation of weightestage shares outstanding as of December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, as their effect would have ae¢idilutive:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands
Redeemable convertible preferred st — — 2,162
Options outstandin 3,80t 3,331 3,89¢
Restricted stock units outstandi 99C 1,39¢ 384
Unvested restricted shar — — 36
Warrants 28 28 34

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbethe asset and liability method. Under thistimoe, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized based on temporary differences betweefirtancial reporting and income tax bases oftass® liabilities using statutory rates. In aduitithis
method requires a valuation allowance against efefrted tax assets if, based upon the availablieaek, it is more likely than not that some ooélhe
deferred tax assets will not be realized.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positionsgeized in the consolidated financial statementpriscribing a more-likely-than-not threshold for
financial statement recognition and measuremeattak position taken or expected to be taken axadturn. Interest and penalties, if applicalééated to
uncertain tax positions would be recognized asmapoment of income tax expense. The Company hasaurded liabilities for uncertain tax positionsods
December 31, 2014 or 2013.

Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2014, the Company had four stodett@ompensation plans: the Amended and Resta@@dSt0ck Option and Incentive Plan, the
2012 Stock Incentive Plan, the Brightcove Inc. 2B80 Inducement Plan, and the Brightcove Inc. 28tbtk Option Inducement Plan. Additionally,
during March 2009, Brightcove KK adopted the Brighte KK Stock Option Plan. On January 8, 2013 anjenction with the acquisition of the remaining
37% of Brightcove KK, the Brightcove KK Stock Opti®lan was terminated. These plans are more fegribed in Note 7.

For stock options issued under the Company’s shaded compensation plans, the fair value of eatibrogrant is estimated on the date of grant, and
an estimated forfeiture rate is used when caladadiock-based compensation expense for the péfardestricted stock awards issued under the
Company'’s stock-based compensation plans, thedhie of each grant is calculated based on the @ayip stock price on the date of grant. For service
based options, the Company recognizes compensatignse on a straight-line basis over the requssiteice period of the award.

The fair value of each option grant issued underGbmpany’s stock-based compensation plans wasasetl using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. As there was no public market for its comratwtk prior to February 17, 2012, the effectiveed# the Company’s IPO, and as the trading histdry
the Company’s common stock was limited through Dédzer 31, 2014, the Company determined the volafilit options granted based on an analysis of
reported data for a peer group of companies taei$ options with substantially similar terms. Expected volatility of options granted has been
determined using an average of the historical iltjateasures of this peer group of companies. &gected life of options has been determinedzitii
the “simplified method”. The simplified method iaged on the average of the vesting tranches armbttimctual life of each grant. The risk-free et
rate is based on a treasury instrument whose tenorisistent with the expected life of the stockans. The Company has not paid, and does notipate
paying, cash dividends on its common stock; theegfine expected dividend yield is assumed to be. ke addition, based on an analysis of the hisabr
actual forfeitures, the Company applied an estith&d€efeiture rate of approximately 17%, 15% and 1##ahe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively, in determining the expenserdEmbin the accompanying consolidated statemertp@fations.
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The weighted-average fair value of options gramtadhg the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012612, was $4.21, $5.34 and $7.74 per share,
respectively. The weighted-average assumptionizedilto determine such values are presented ifotlosving table:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rat 2.1% 1.8(% 1.25%
Expected volatility 52% 54% 57%
Expected life (in years 6.2 6.2 6.2

Expected dividend yiel — — —

As of December 31, 2014, there was $11,725 of totedcognized stock-based compensation expensedétaunvested employee stock options,
restricted stock awards and restricted stock usstsed under the Company’s stock-based compengatios that is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 3.14 years. The totedeognized stock-based compensation expense wéltipested for future changes in estimated forfegur

The Company accounts for transactions in whichisesvare received from non-employees in exchangedoity instruments based on the fair value of
such services received, or of the equity instrusésued, whichever is more reliably measured.Jtrapany determines the total stock-based
compensation expense related to non-employee awaing the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Auulially, in accordance with ASC 50Bquity-
Based Payments to N-Employeesthe Company accounts for awards to non-employessppctively, such that the fair value of the awasdemeasured at
each reporting date until the earlier of (a) thegrenance commitment date or (b) the date the sesviequired under the arrangement have been cauple

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 ary] &ftck-based compensation expense for stockrepgianted to non-employees in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operati@ssnot material.

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 arz] @14l stock-based compensation expense, induskpense related to stock-based awards
granted under the Brightcove KK Plan, was $6,3874&1 and $5,843, respectively.

See Note 7 for a summary of the stock option agtimder the Company’s stock-based compensatiorsita the year ended December 31, 2014.
Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are charged to operations agiaduThe Company incurred advertising costs 053, $3,215 and $3,881 for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB and the International AccingpiStandards Board jointly issued ASU No. 2014&R8yenue from Contracts with Customers
which clarifies the principles for recognizing rene and develops a common revenue standard for G#iRnternational Financial Reporting Standards.
The core principle of the guidance is that an grtitould recognize revenue to depict the trandferamised goods or services to customers in aruamo
that reflects the consideration to which the ergitpects to be entitled in exchange for those gaodsservices. The ASU is effective for public gesi for
annual and interim periods beginning after DecemBe2016. Early adoption is not permitted underARAand retrospective application is permitted but
not required. The Company is currently evaluathmgitmpact of adopting this guidance on its finahpasition and results of operations.

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standddard (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Updatd)A$o. 2014-15,Disclosure of
Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continag a Going ConcernASU 2014-15 requires management to evaluate,céit @anual or interim reporting
period, whether there are conditions or eventsekist that raise substantial doubt about an ésfyility to continue as a going concern withire grear
after the date the financial statements are isanddorovide related disclosures. ASU 2014-15 isatiffe for annual periods ending after Decembe2036
and earlier application is permitted. The adoptbASU 2014-15 is not expected to have a mateffateon the Company's consolidated financial
statements or disclosures.

3. Business Combinations
Unicorn Media, Inc.

On January 31, 2014, pursuant to the Asset Purdhgieement and Plan of Reorganization (the PurcAgseement) dated as of January 6, 2014, by and
among the Company, Cacti Acquisition LLC, a Delaavimited liability company and wholly-owned sulisi¢y of the Company, Unicorn Media, Inc. (“Unicorn
Media”), Unicorn Media of Arizona, Inc., an Arizoearporation (“Unicorn Arizona Sub”), U Media Linaill, a private limited company registered in England
and Wales (“Unicorn UK Sub” and, together with Watic Media and Unicorn Arizona Sub, “Unicorn”), atie Securityholders’ Representative named therein,
the Company completed its acquisition of substéyt#l of Unicorn’s assets in exchange for common stock of the Coyngaah the assumption by the Comp.
of certain liabilities of Unicorn (the “Acquisitiéh The Company issued 2,850,547 unregistered shafreommon stock of the Company and paid approteina
$9,100 in cash to cover transaction-related expgeosEnicorn, bonus expenses payable by Unicomagsumption of Unicorn’s liability to cash out\adisted
non-qualified stock options and compensatory wasrempurchase the common stock of Unicorn outstanidnmediately prior to the closing (including all
Unicorn withholding obligations in connection therth) and certain other liabilities of Unicorn. Bason a $10.74 price per share of the Company’sroam
stock at the date of closing, the transaction isedat approximately $39,728. Pursuant to the lfage Agreement, 1,285,715 shares were placedrirgsaow
account to settle certain claims for indemnificatfor breaches or inaccuracies in Unicorn’s repred®ns and warranties, covenants and agreenTemgs.
Company recorded revenue from the acquisition dEam of approximately $6,478 in the consolidatedesments of operations from the acquisition dateugt
December 31, 2014. It is impracticable for the Campto determine the amount of net loss from thisition of Unicorn included in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations from theiaitigun date through December 31, 2014 due to dpgraosts of Unicorn being included in the Company
historical departments subsequent to the acquisifibe Company acquired substantially all of Unit®assets to enhance and extend the Companytnexis
offerings with Unicorn’s cloud video ad inserti@thnology. The Acquisition did not result in theléidn of any reportable segments.
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The Acquisition was accounted for using the purelrasthod of accounting in accordance with ASC-80Business Combinationg\ccordingly, the results
of operations of Unicorn have been included inabeompanying consolidated financial statementsediine date of acquisition. The purchase price kas b
allocated to the tangible and intangible assetsiesd| and liabilities assumed based upon the réispesstimates of fair value as of the date ofAkquisition
and using assumptions that the Company’s managdreteates are reasonable given the informationecily available.

The process for estimating the fair values of idiafile intangible assets and certain tangible assguires the use of significant estimates asdraptions,
including estimating future cash flows and deveatgpappropriate discount rates.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coynipanrred merger-related costs related to the Asigon of $2,999. Included in mergeelated expense
are costs incurred in connection with closing thogdisition in addition to costs associated withriention of certain key employees. In additiothi® $39,728
purchase price, pursuant to the Purchase Agreemggmtoximately $1,600 will be paid to retain certkey employees over periods ranging from one myear:
as services are performed. Given that the reteatioount is related to a future service requirentéetrelated expense is being recorded as compamsat
expense in the consolidated statements of opesatioer the expected service period, and was $1@6ag the year ended December 31, 2014.

All of the assets acquired and the liabilities assd in the Acquisition have been recognized at dejuisition date fair values, which was finalizd
December 31, 2014. The total purchase price foctfnihas been allocated as follows:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 13
Other tangible asse 4,17:
Identifiable intangible asse 11,42¢
Goodwill 28,75¢
Liabilities assumed (4,649
Total estimated purchase price $ 39,72¢

The following are the identifiable intangible assatquired and their respective estimated usefesi

Useful Life
Amount (in years)
Developed technolog $ 8,14¢ 8
Customer relationshig 1,96¢ 7
Non-compete agreements 1,31¢ &
Total $ 11,42¢

The fair value of the intangible assets has begmated using the income approach in which therdfte cash flows are discounted to present valhe. T
cash flows are based on estimates used to prideathgaction, and the discount rates applied wenettmarked with reference to the implied rate tfrrefrom
the transaction model as well as the weighted-geecast of capital.

In performing the purchase price allocation, thenpany considered, among other factors, its intarfto future use of the acquired assets, analyses o
historical financial performance, and estimatefutire cash flows from Unicorn’s products and segsi The allocation resulted in acquired intangdtsisets of
$11,429.

The acquired intangible assets consisted of deedlégchnology, customer relationships and non-ceerggreements and were valued using the income
approach in which the after-tax cash flows arealisted to present value. The cash flows are basedtimates used to price the transaction, anditioeunt
rates applied were benchmarked with referenceedntiplied rate of return from the transaction maeivell as the weighted average cost of capital.

The Company assumed certain deferred tax assetsaiities as part of the acquisition. The deéeftax assets relate to the net operating losskestaer tax
benefits acquired from Unicorn as part of the taation. The deferred tax liabilities primarily riddo the tax impact of future amortization or inmpeents
associated with the identified intangible assetpiaied, which are not deductible for tax purpo3ése Company has provided a valuation allowancenagéie
resulting net deferred tax assets from the traisaes management believes it is more likely thairtimat the Company will not realize the benefitthese
deductions.
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The excess of the purchase price over the estinzamedint of net assets as of the effective dateeoAtquisition was allocated to goodwill in accarda
with the accounting guidance. The factors contiitguto the recognition of the amount of goodwik drxased on several strategic and synergistic lisnkeéit are
expected to be realized from the Acquisition. Theseefits include the expectation that the combemdpany’s complementary products will significgntl
broaden the Company'’s offerings in cloud videoregkition. The combined company will benefit froforaader global presence, and with the Companyéctir
sales force and larger channel coverage, the cadlmiompany anticipates significant cresdling opportunities. None of the goodwill is egfes to be currentl
deductible for tax purposes.

Pro Forma Financial Informatiol

The unaudited financial information in the tablédwesummarizes the combined results of operatidise@Company and Unicorn, on a pro forma basis, as
though the Company had acquired Unicorn on Janlia2913. The pro forma information for all periquesented also includes the effects of business
combination accounting resulting from the acqusitincluding amortization charges from acquirgdngibles assets and the compensation expenseleeckr
retain certain key employees.

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013
Total revenue $ 12555¢ $ 115,61:
Net loss $ (15,226 $ (22,629
Net loss per shar- basic and dilute $ 0.47) $ (0.79)

Zencoder

On August 14, 2012, the Company acquired Zenc@delud-based media processing service and HTMtl&ovplayer technology provider, for total
consideration of approximately $27.4 million. Thiansaction was accounted for under the purchasieoth®f accounting. Accordingly, the results of @i®ns
of Zencoder have been included in the Company’saated financial statements since the date @diaition. All of the assets acquired and liabgltiassumed
in the transaction have been recognized at thguiaition date fair values, which were finalizedacember 31, 2012. The acquisition did not resute
addition of any reportable segments.

4. Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Finite-lived intangible assets consist of the fafllng as of December 31, 2014:

Weighted Average
Estimated Useful

Life Gross Carrying Accumulated  Net Carrying
Description (in years) Value Amortization Value
Developed technolog 7% 14,22¢ $ 3,33¢ $ 10,88t
Customer relationshig 12 5,957 93t 5,022
Non-Compete agreemer 3 1,917 99¢ 914
Tradename 3 36¢ 291 77
Total $ 22,46( $ 556: $ 16,89¢

Finite-lived intangible assets consist of the faflog as of December 31, 2013:

Estimated Usefu

Life Gross Carrying Accumulated  Net Carrying
Description (in years) Value Amortization Value
Developed technolog 6 $ 6,07, $ 1,392 $ 4,68:
Customer relationshig 14 3,99¢ 392 3,601
Non-Compete agreemer 2 59€ 41C 18¢€
Tradename 3 36€ 16¢ 19¢
Total $ 11,03. $ 2,36 $ 8,66¢

Amortization expense related to intangible assmtshfe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 andwe&d %$3,200, $1,719 and $644, respectively.
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The estimated remaining amortization expense foh e the five succeeding years and thereaftes feliows:

Year Ending December 31 Amount
2015 $ 3,112
2016 3,03t
2017 2,63¢
2018 2,21¢
2019 1,58¢
2020 and thereafter 4,31¢
Total $ 16,89¢
The following is a rollforward of the Company’s giwill balance:

Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 22,01¢
Gooduwill related to the acquisition of Unicorn Madinc. 28,75¢
Balance as of December 31, 2014 $ 50,77¢

5. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is an exit price, representing the ptiag¢ would be received to sell an asset or patdattsfer a liability in an orderly transactionWween
market participants based on the highest and Isespithe asset or liability. As such, fair valsaimarket-based measurement that should be detgtmi
based on assumptions that market participants wasédn pricing an asset or liability. The Compasgs valuation techniques to measure fair value tha
maximize the use of observable inputs and minirttieeuse of unobservable inputs. These inputs &éted as follows:

¢« Level 1: Observable inputs, such as quoted prices fotickrassets or liabilities in active marke

« Level 2: Inputs, other than the quoted prices in activekets, that are observable either directly or iachity, such as quoted prices for similar asse

liabilities, or marke-corroborated inputs; ar

¢ Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is littlenar market data which require the reporting entitdeévelop its own assumptions about how

market participants would price the assets orlli#s.

The valuation technigues that may be used to medairrvalue are as follows:
A. Market approach— Uses prices and other relevant information gerdrly market transactions involving identical omparable assets or liabilities.

B. Income approach— Uses valuation techniques to convert future arteotma single present amount based on currenteharipectations about those
future amounts, including present value techniqapgpn-pricing models, and excess earnings method.

C. Cost approach— Based on the amount that currently would be megiuio replace the service capacity of an asspla@ement cost).

The following tables set forth the Company’s fin@histruments carried at fair value using thedswevel of input as of December 31, 2014 and 2013

Assets:
Money market fund
Restricted cash
Total assets

Assets:
Money market fund
Restricted cash

Total assets

December 31, 201.

Quoted Prices in Active

Markets for Identical ~ Significant Other Significant
Iltems Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
9,57 $ — $ — $9,57¢
— 201 — 201
9,57« $ 201 $ — $9,77¢

December 31, 201.

Quoted Prices in Active

Markets for Identical ~ Significant Other Significant
Items Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
13,79° $ — 3 — $13,797
— 32z — 32z
13,79 $ 32z $ — $14,11¢
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Realized gains and losses from sales of the Con'mamnestments are included in “Other expense,.net”

The Company measures eligible assets and liabikti¢air value, with changes in value recognizeédarnings. Fair value treatment may be elected
either upon initial recognition of an eligible aseeliability or, for an existing asset or lialyylj if an event triggers a new basis of accountifige Company
did not elect to remeasure any of its existingritial assets or liabilities, and did not electféie value option for any financial assets andilités
transacted in the years ended December 31, 202@1&

6. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Lease Commitments

The Company leases its facilities under non-cattelaperating leases. These operating leases eapiaious dates through March 2022. Future
minimum rental commitments under operating leas&eaember 31, 2014 are as follows:

Year Ending December 31 Operating Lease Commitment
2015 $ 5,99¢
2016 4,997
2017 4,51t
2018 3,87¢
2019 3,77
2020 and thereaft 7,951

$ 31,11¢

Certain amounts included in the table above rajatinco-location leases for the Company’s serverkide usage based charges in addition to base rent

The Company’s primary office lease has the optiorenew the lease for two successive periods efyf@ars each. In connection with the office lease,
the Company entered into a letter of credit inahwunt of $2,404.

Certain of the Company'’s operating leases inclsbalating payment amounts and lease incentivesCbhepany is recognizing the related rent expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the le@bke lease incentives are considered an insegapalol of the lease agreement, and are recognizad a
reduction of rent expense on a straight-line bagés the term of the lease. As of December 31, 20142013, the Company had deferred rent and rent
incentives of $1,548 and $1,304, respectively, biciv $1,483 and $1,261, respectively, is classifie@ long-term liability in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Rent expense foetits gnded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 w280$&5,328 and $4,197, respectively. Income from
sublease rental activity amounted to $0, $0 and f&&Pectively, for the years ended December 31422013 and 2012.

Capital Lease Commitments

In connection with the Purchase Agreement, the Gompssumed various capital lease arrangementefi@in computer equipment for a total obligatién o
$2,899 as of the closing of the Acquisition. Theske arrangements expire at various dates througt2Bte7. Future minimum rental commitments undeitehp
leases at December 31, 2014 are as follows:

Capital Lease

Year Ending December 31 Commitments
2015 $ 1,20¢
2016 464
2017 72
Less — interest on capital leases 56

$ 1,68¢

At December 31, 2014, total assets under capiakle were $2,664 and related accumulated amavtizatis $1,015.

In addition to the operating lease and capitaldeasnmitments discussed above, as of Decembe34, the Company had non-cancelable
commitments of $9,071 payable in 2015, $8,000 playial2016, and $8,000 payable in 2017 primarilydontent delivery network and storage services.

Legal Matters

The Company, from time to time, is party to litigat arising in the ordinary course of business. dMgment does not believe that the outcome of these
claims will have a material adverse effect on thesolidated financial position, results of openasior cash flows of the Company based on the stéitus
proceedings at this time.
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On August 27, 2012, a complaint was filed by Blpé8, LLC naming the Company in a patent infringaetease (Blue Spike, LLC v. Audible Magic
Corporation, et al., United States District Cowrtthe Eastern District of Texas). The complaitegeés that the Company has infringed U.S. Patent No
7,346,472 with a listed issue date of March 18,8 @mtitled “Method and Device for Monitoring anai#yzing Signals,” U.S. Patent No. 7,660,700 with a
listed issue date of February 9, 2010, entitledtidd and Device for Monitoring and Analyzing SignalJ.S. Patent No. 7,949,494 with a listed issatd
of May 24, 2011, entitled “Method and Device for Mtoring and Analyzing Signals” and U.S. Patent B@14,175 with a listed issue date of July 3, 2012
entitled “Method and Device for Monitoring and Apaihg Signals.” The complaint seeks an injunctiajoming infringement, damages and pre- and post-
judgment costs and interest. The Company answert(ilad counterclaims against Blue Spike on Decen® 2012. The Company amended its an:
and counterclaims on July 15, 2013. This complisisubject to indemnification by one of the Compamendors. The Company cannot yet determine
whether it is probable that a loss will be incuriedonnection with this complaint, nor can the @amy reasonably estimate the potential loss, if any

On September 10, 2013, a complaint was filed by&irinc. naming the Company in a patent infringensase (Cinsay Inc. v. Brightcove Inc. and
Joyus Inc., United States District Court for thertern District of Texas). The complaint allegeattthe Company has infringed U.S. Patent No. 8488,
with a listed issue date of November 13, 2012 tledtiInteractive Product Placement and Method €fmt and U.S. Patent No. 8,533,753 with a listed
issue date of September 10, 2013, entitled “Intaraéroduct Placement and Method Therefor.” OnoBet 1, 2013, Cinsay filed an amended complaint
against the Company in which it reasserted thgatiens of infringement of U.S. Patent No. 8,318,48d U.S. Patent No. 8,533,753 and added allegatio
that the Company infringed U.S. Patent No. 8,549 \kBh a listed issue date of October 1, 2013 tledti‘Interactive Product Placement and Method
Therefor.” The amended complaint seeks an injunatigjoining infringement, damages and pre- and-puigiment costs and interest. The Company
answered the amended complaint on November 12, ZB3Company settled the matter on July 15, 26t amount that is not material and, pursuant to
the settlement, all claims against the Company demissed with prejudice on August 14, 2014. Ten@any recorded the impact of the settlement as a
charge to operations in the consolidated statenérgperations for the year ended December 31,.2014

Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

The Company typically enters into indemnificatigreements in the ordinary course of business. Batga these agreements, the Company
indemnifies and agrees to reimburse the indemnfatly for losses and costs incurred by the ind&ethparty, generally the Company’s customers, in
connection with patent, copyright, trade secretber intellectual property or personal right inflrement claim by third parties with respect to the
Company'’s technology. The term of these indemrificeagreements is generally perpetual after exarutf the agreement. Based on when customers first
subscribe for the Company’s service, the maximutemqg@l amount of future payments the Company cbeldequired to make under certain of these
indemnification agreements is unlimited, howeveorerecently the Company has typically limited thaximum potential value of such potential future
payments in relation to the value of the contrBessed on historical experience and information kmew of December 31, 2014, the Company has not
incurred any costs for the above guarantees amhrindies. The Company has received requests fennéfication from customers in connection with
patent infringement suits brought against the custaby a third party. To date, the Company hasageted that the requested indemnification is regulry
the Company’s contract with any such customer.

In certain circumstances, the Company warrantsitharoducts and services will perform in all m&krespects in accordance with its standard
published specification documentation in effedhattime of delivery of the licensed products aed/iges to the customer for the warranty periothef
product or service. To date, the Company has motried significant expense under its warranties aac result, the Company believes the estimaied f
value of these agreements is immaterial.

Beginning on September 18, 2014, the Company sdfarservice disruption resulting from a distrildutienial-of-service attack at third-party data
center facilities used by the Company. By Septer@gbe2014, the Company had restored the servicpadtad by the attack. While this matter has redulte
in the issuance of service credits by the Compargptne customers, and may result in remediatiorresgs, litigation and other liabilities, this inerd did
not have a material impact on the Company’s fir@rmosition, results of operations or cash flowsfand for the year ended December 31, 2014.

7. Stockholders’ Equity

On February 23, 2012, the Company closed its IP@hiich the Company sold and issued 5,750,000 slwéiresmmon stock, including 750,000 shares
of common stock sold pursuant to the exercise ®tttderwriters’ option to purchase additional shanehich were sold to the public at a price of $DIper
share. The Company received aggregate proceeggpuiamately $58.8 million from the IPO, includitige exercise of the underwriters’ overallotment
option, net of underwriters’ discounts and comnaissj but before deducting offering expenses of@pprately $4.3 million. Upon the closing of the IPO
all shares of the Company'’s outstanding redeentdigertible preferred stock automatically conveited 16,150,505 shares of common stock and all
outstanding warrants to purchase redeemable cdoleepreferred stock automatically converted in@rmants to purchase 46,713 shares of common stock a
$3.21 per share.

Common Stock
Common stockholders are entitled to one vote paresiHolders of common stock are entitled to rexéividends, when and if declared by the Board.
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Equity Incentive Plans

At December 31, 2014, the Company had four stodett@ompensation plans, the Amended and Restaf@d3206ck Option and Incentive Plan (the
2004 Plan), the 2012 Stock Incentive Plan (the Z8a2), the Brightcove Inc. 2012 RSU InducemenhRthe RSU Plan), and the Brightcove Inc. 2014
Stock Option Inducement Plan (the 2014 Stock Inthes& Plan). Additionally, during March 2009, Brightve KK adopted the Brightcove KK Stock
Option Plan (the Brightcove KK Plan). As discussedliote 2, on January 8, 2013, in conjunction wihith acquisition of the remaining 37% of Brightcove
KK, the Brightcove KK Plan was terminated. The Bitigpve KK Plan provided for the issuance of stopkians to employees, officers, directors, and
advisors of Brightcove KK and to employees of tlerpany. Stock options granted under the BrightdtkePlan were not exchangeable for either options
or shares of the Company.

The 2004 Plan provided for the issuance of incergivd non-qualified stock options, restricted stacid other equity awards to the Company’s
employees, officers, directors, consultants andsads, up to an aggregate of 7,397,843 shareedCtmpany’s common stock. The Company also
established a UK Sub-Plan of the 2004 Plan undé&chnthe Company was permitted to make grants abonptto employees subject to tax in the United
Kingdom. In conjunction with the effectiveness loé 2012 Plan, the Board voted that no further saptlons or other equity-based awards may be gilante
under the 2004 Plan.

In 2012, the Board and stockholders adopted th@ B@dn, which became effective on February 16, 20bh2 2012 Plan provides for the issuance of
incentive and non-qualified stock options, restricstock and other stock-based awards to the Caorigpafficers, employees, non-employee directors and
certain other key persons of the Company as aeeteel by the Board or the compensation committeedf. In connection with the approval of the 2012
Plan, the Company reserved 1,700,000 shares of consinck for issuance under the 2012 Plan, and7034hares were transferred from the 2004 Plan.
The number of shares reserved and available foaigs under the 2012 Plan automatically increaaes &anuary 1, beginning in 2013, by 4% of the
outstanding number of shares of the Company’s comstmck on the immediately preceding December Fuoh lesser number of shares as determined by
the Company’s compensation committee subject tovanall overhang limit of 30%. This number is subj® adjustment in the event of a stock splitckto
dividend or other change in the Company’s capisilin. At December 31, 2014, 1,215,170 shares aesgable for issuance under all stock-based
compensation plans.

In 2012, the Company adopted the RSU Plan and raeeds of restricted stock units pursuant to the) R&n to 15 new employees in connection with
the acquisition of Zencoder. The awards of regtddtock units cover an aggregate of 77,100 slodtbe Company’s common stock and were made as a
material inducement to the employees enteringemployment with the Company in connection with aleguisition of Zencoder. The restricted stock units
will be settled in shares of the Company’s comntoclsupon vesting.

In 2014, the Company adopted the 2014 Stock Indeoélan and made awards of options pursuant t8ahé Stock Inducement Plan to 61 new
employees in connection with the Purchase Agreenidmt awards of options cover an aggregate of 508sBares of the Company’s common stock in the
form of options to purchase shares of the Compagrsmon stock as an inducement to the employeesieginto employment with the Company in
connection with the Purchase Agreement.

The following is a summary of the stock option wityi for all stock options plans (excluding the @rtcove KK Plan) during the year ended December
31, 2014:

Weighted-Average
Weighted-Average Remaining Contractual
Exercise Term Aggregate

Shares Price (In Years) Intrinsic Value @
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 3,060,58: $ 6.7¢
Grantec 2,080,14: $ 8.07

Exercisec (210,73) $ 2.8 $ 1,49¢
Canceled (852,92) $ 9.67

Outstanding at December 31, 2014 4,077,07. $ 7.02 6.9¢ $ 8,25¢

Exercisable at December 31, 2014 2,001,91 $ 5.5(C 514 $ 6,63(

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 8014 3,5618,46. $ 6.8F 6.6¢ $ 7,745

(1) This represents the number of vested optiorf Becember 31, 2014 plus the number of unvesptidms expected to vest as of December 31, 20k&da
on the unvested options outstanding at Decembe2(®H and adjusted for the estimated forfeiture.

(2) The aggregate intrinsic value was calculatesktian the positive difference between the estirfaie value of the Company’s common stock on Deoem
31, 2014 of $7.78 per share, or the date of exereis appropriate, and the exercise price of thenlying options
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The aggregate intrinsic value for options exercidedng the years ended December 31, 2013 and ®8%27,104 and $8,594, respectively.

The Company has entered into restricted stock(R8tJ) agreements with certain of its employeesyantto the 2012 Plan and the RSU Plan. Vesting
occurs periodically at specified time intervalsgag from three months to four years, and in dptpercentages. Upon vesting, the holder wileree
one share of the Company’s common stock for eathvasted.

The following table summarizes the RSU activityidgrthe year ended December 31, 2014:

Weighted

Average
Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Unvested by December 31, 20 1,177,711 $ 10.2¢
Grantec 346,00( 6.0%
Vested and issue (328,357 8.01
Canceled (279,909 9.8¢
Unvested by December 31, 2014 915,45¢ $ 8.61

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coyngiaamted 156,292 shares of restricted common gstoek employee under the 2004 Plan. Under
the terms of the agreement, the Company had adlepse provision whereby the Company had the righggurchase any unvested shares when/if the
employee terminates, at a price equal to the algirercise price. Accordingly, the Company recdrifes payment received for the purchase of the
restricted shares as a liability at the time ofcpase and subsequently, reclassified such amauatiditional paid-in capital upon vesting of theaass
During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 208 Z.ompany reclassified $8 and $101, respectietlthis amount to additional paid-in capital upon
vesting of a portion of this award. The award walyfvested as of December 31, 2014. The Compashydi grant any shares of restricted common stock
during the years ended December 31, 2014 or 2013.

Warrants

In September 2006, the Company issued fully vestedants to purchase an aggregate of 46,713 sbh&esies B Preferred Stock, at a purchase price
of $3.21 per share, to two lenders in connectidh wiline of credit agreement. The warrants arecisable at any time up until the expiration ddte o
August 31, 2016. The fair value of the warrants veg®rded as a discount on the related debt, ascamartized to interest expense over the life efdébt.
The debt was fully repaid in March 2007. The warteability was reported at fair value until compte of the Company’s IPO in February 2012,
whereupon the warrants automatically convertedwsarants to purchase shares of the Company’s caonstock. At the time of conversion of the warrants
in connection with the Company'’s IPO, the fair \abf the warrants was $395, which was reclassiid component of additional paid-in capital.

During 2012, 18,685 shares exercisable under theanta were exercised pursuant to a net exercsgsion, which resulted in the issuance of 15,781
common shares. There have been no additional egsrtirough December 31, 2014. For the year endedrBber 31, 2012, the Company recorded other
expense of $28 in the accompanying consolidatedratnts of operations, related to the increaskeeridir value of the warrants, which was determined
utilizing the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance
At December 31, 2014, the Company has reservefblioeiing shares of common stock for future issu&nc

December 31, 201

Common stock options outstandi 4,077,07.
Restricted stock unit awards outstanc 915,45¢
Shares available for issuance under all -based compensation pla 1,215,171
Common Stock warrants 28,02¢
Total shares of authorized common stock reserveflifare issuance 6,235,73I

8. Non-controlling Interest

On May 30, 2008, the Company formed Brightcove KKyholly owned subsidiary of Brightcove Inc. Onydii8, 2008, the Company entered into a
joint venture agreement witl-Stream Inc. (J-Stream), Dentsu, Inc. (Dentsu),eEylommunications, Inc. and Transcosmos Investn&mgsiness
Development, Inc. (collectively, the minority stéekders). The minority stockholders invested cashpproximately $4.8 million in Brightcove KK such
that their cumulative ownership interest in thatgmwas 37%, while the Company retained a 63% oslmigrinterest in the entity. The Company determined
that it had a controlling interest and was the priyrbeneficiary of the entity. As such, the Compaagsolidated Brightcove KK for financial reporting
purposes, and a non-controlling interest was rexbfdr the third parties’ interest in the net assetd operations of Brightcove KK to the extenthef non-
controlling partners’ individual investments.
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On January 8, 2013, the Company acquired the reénggBY% interest in Brightcove KK and, as a redBittghtcove KK is now 100% owned by the
Company. The purchase price of the remaining eduigrest was approximately $1.1 million and wasdied by cash on hand. The Company continues to
consolidate Brightcove KK for financial reportingnposes, however, commencing on January 8, 20&3;émpany no longer records a non-controlling
interest in the consolidated financial statemeFi® purchase was accounted for as an equity tramsac accordance with ASC 81Gpnsolidation.
Accordingly, the non-controlling interest in thensolidated subsidiary on the accompanying cons@liibalance sheet was reduced to zero on the
transaction date to reflect the Company’s increasankership percentage, with the excess of the wortralling interest balance on the date of the
acquisition over the $1.1 million purchase priceoreled as additional paid-in capital.

Non-controlling interest represents the minoritpr&holders’ proportionate share of the Company’®ritg owned subsidiary, Brightcove KK. The
following table sets forth the changes in non-aalfitrg interest for the year ended December 313201

Year Ended
December 31
2013
Balance at beginning of peric $ 1,84:
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest in consolidated subsidi. 2C
Purchase of non-controlling interest in consolidatebsidiary (1,867)
Balance at end of period $ —

9. Related Party Transactions

Two of the former non-controlling interest holdérdBrightcove KK, J-Stream and Dentsu, acted aslecbdistributors for the Company in Japan. As
disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated finandialesnents, on January 8, 2013, the Company acqtliesgtmaining 37% interest in Brightcove KK ansl, a
a result, Brightcove KK is now 100% owned by ther@any. As such, J-Stream and Dentsu are not caesidelated parties effective January 8, 2013.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company haditstamding accounts receivable from related parties
For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 art] # Company recorded revenue from related [gaofie

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013® 2012
J-Strearr $ - % 36 $ 3,24(
Dentsu - 6 27¢€
Total related party revenue $ - $ 42 $ 3,51¢

The Company believes that all related party trathsas have been negotiated at arm’s length.

(1) Represents related party revenue for thegdrom January 1, 2013 through January 7, 201&;wik the period prior to the Company’s acquisitaf the
remaining 37% interest in Brightcove KK on Janu@r2013.

10. Income Taxes
Income (loss) before the provision for income tas@ssists of the following:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Domestic $ (17,499 $ (10,740 $ (18,139
Foreign 85¢ 71C 2,19¢
Total $ (16,639 $ (10,030 $ (15,94

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes ie #ticcompanying consolidated financial statememisists of the following:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Current provision
Federal $ — 3 — $ —
State 41 22 16
Foreign 21¢ 12¢ 95
Total current 26C 15C 111

Deferred (benefit)
Federal — — (2,937)
State — — (470
Foreign — 62 (199
Total deferred — 62 (3,600
Total provision (benefit) $ 26C $ 212 $ (3,489

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory reaehe Company’s effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012




Tax at statutory rate (34.0% (34.0% (34.0%

State income taxe (2.0 3.9 (3.9
Change in tax rat (1.€) 5.C 0.4
Permanent difference 16.2 (11.9) 9.€
Foreign rate differentic (0.9 (0.9 0.3
Research and development cre (7.9) (9.5) —
Change in valuation allowan 31.z 56.C 5.2
Other, net 0.1 — —
Effective tax rate 1.€% 2.1% (21.9%

The approximate income tax effect of each typenfgorary difference and carryforward as of Decerie2014 and 2013 is as follows:

As of December 31

2014 2013
Net operating loss car-forwards $ 42,63 $ 30,76
Tax credit carr-forwards 6,482 5,211
Stocl-based compensatic 2,60¢ 3,50z
Intangible assel (6,600 (3,469
Fixed asset 24¢€ 85
Account receivable reserv 97C 96€
Accrued compensatic 1,467 53
Capitalized research and development ¢ — 47
Capitalized sta-up costs 42C 481
Other temporary differences (334) 1,121
Deferred tax asse 47,88¢ 38,76(
Valuation allowance (47,779 (38,63
Net deferred tax asse $ 10¢ $ 12t

The Company is required to compute income tax es@meach jurisdiction in which it operates. Tfiecess requires the Company to project its cuteent
liability and estimate its deferred tax assetslatillities, including net operating loss (NOL) atak credit carry-forwards. In assessing the gbititrealize the
net deferred tax assets, management considersevlieih more likely than not that some portioratirof the net deferred tax assets will not beizeal.

Upon the closing of the Zencoder acquisition, tloeenPany assumed $3.4 million of net deferred téhilitées which created a future source of taxableoime
for which the Company’s net deferred tax assetsbearealized and as a result the Company redueedaihation allowance by approximately $3.4 million
during the year ended December 31, 2012. The Coyrpasprovided a valuation allowance against itsaiaing U.S. net deferred tax assets as of Decefither
2014 and 2013, as based upon the level of histddica losses and future projections over the peirlowhich the net deferred tax assets are dedactbthis
time, management believes it is more likely thahthat the Company will not realize the benefitstafse deductible differences. The increase ivaheation
allowance from 2013 to 2014 principally relateshe current year taxable loss.
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The Company has historically provided a valuatitbovaance against its net deferred tax assets ianldpased upon the level of historical income pada
and future projections, the Company determinethénfourth quarter of 2012 that it was probableiit realize the benefits of its future deductibiéferences. As
such, the Company released the valuation alloweslated to the remaining deferred tax assets ianJapd recorded a $193 income tax benefit in the
consolidated statement of operations for the yrdeeé December 31, 2012. In 2014 a portion of they@my's profits in Japan were offset by lossesapad.
Accordingly, the Company’s deferred tax asset padiadecreased in 2014.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had federhktate net operating losses of approximately l8#lion and $63.8 million, respectively, whichear
available to offset future taxable income, if athypugh 2034. Included in the federal and statepetating losses are deductions attributable tesxtax
benefits from the exercise of non-qualified stopkians of $12.1 million and $7.7 million, respeetiy. The tax benefits attributable to these netafieg losses
are credited directly to additional paid-in capitdlen realized. The Company also had federal atd stsearch and development tax credits of $4l®méand
$2.8 million, respectively, which expire in varioasounts through 2034. The net operating loss @aadredit amounts are subject to annual limitatiomder
Section 382 change of ownership rules under the ldt&mal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Thrduge 30, 2014, the Company completed an
assessment to determine whether there may haveab®ection 382 ownership change and determinedttisanore-likely-than-not that the Company’s net
operating and tax credit amounts as disclosed@rsuibject to any material Section 382 limitations.

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the poovfsr uncertain tax positions under ASC 74ome TaxesThe adoption did not have an impact on
the Company’s retained earnings balance. At DeceBihe2014 and 2013, the Company had no recordédifies for uncertain tax positions.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company hadcrmed interest or penalties related to uncertairpbsitions.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal tax jurisdiction, various state and variom®ign jurisdictions. Since the Company is in &los
carryforward position, the Company is generallyjsabto examination by the U.S. federal, statelandl income tax authorities for all tax years ihigh a loss
carryforward is available.

The Company’s current intention is to reinvestttital amount of its unremitted earnings in the laegernational tax jurisdiction or to repatriateetearnings
only when tax effective. As such, the Company ragnovided for U.S. taxes on the unremitted easiof its international subsidiaries. Upon repétraof
those earnings, in the form of dividends or otheewthe Company may be subject to U.S. income i@xudsect to an adjustment for foreign tax credits)l
withholding taxes payable to the various foreignrdoies. Determination of the amount of the unredogd deferred U.S. income tax liability is notgiieal due
to the complexity associated with this hypothetiatulation.

11. Debt

On March 31, 2011, the Company entered into a &@hsecurity agreement with a lender (the “Loane&grent”) providing for up to an $8.0 million asset
based line of credit (the “Line of Credit”). Undibe Line of Credit, the Company can borrow up ®ldsser of (i) $8.0 million or (ii) 80% of the Cpany’s
eligible accounts receivable. Borrowing availapilinder the Line of Credit changes based uponmi@uat of eligible receivables, concentration ofjiblie
receivables and other factors. The Company haahitigy to obtain letters of credit. Borrowings werdhe Line of Credit are secured by substantglllpf the
Company'’s assets. Outstanding amounts under thedfi€redit accrue interest at a rate equal tthee rate plus 1.5%. Advances under the Line ed@r
were due on March 31, 2013, and interest and ckfatance charges are payable monthly. On April2ZZ8,3, the Company amended the Line of Credit to
increase the aggregate amount of borrowings thgttreautstanding under the Company’s asset-basedaficredit from $8.0 million to $10.0 million anal
extend the maturity date to March 30, 2015. At Defoer 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had no amoutgtanding under the Line of Credit.

On October 3, 2014, the Company amended the Ligredit and entered into the Third Loan Modificatidgreement (the “Modification Agreement”) to (i)
increase the aggregate amount of borrowings thgtreautstanding under the Company’s Line of Crizdin $10.0 million to $20.0 million, (ii) increaske
aggregate Facility Amount (as defined in the Logyme®ment) available pursuant to the Loan Agreerinent $12.5 million to $25.0 million, (iii) providéor an
unused line fee of 0.25% of the average unusedopoof the Maximum Availability Amount (as definédthe Loan Agreement) per year and (iv) extend the
maturity date to October 3, 2016. The interest datreased from the prime rate plus 1.5% to thaerate plus 0.75%. At December 31, 2014 and 20&3,
Company had no amounts outstanding under the lfiQzelit.

Under the Modification Agreement, the Company naashply with certain financial covenants, includimgintaining a minimum asset coverage ratio, a
minimum net income threshold based on non-GAAP aipegg measures and a minimum net cash balancetaircpoints throughout the year. The interest rate
will increase to the prime rate plus 2.25% if thengpany is not able to meet the minimum asset cgeeratio. Failure to comply with these covenantghe
occurrence of an event of default, could permitlteaders under the Line of Credit to declare albants borrowed under the Line of Credit, togethith w
accrued interest and fees, to be immediately ddepagable. In addition, the Line of Credit is sexliby substantially all of our assets and plage&dion the
Company and its subsidiaries ability to incur dabliens and engage in sale-leaseback transactimaige loans and investments, incur additional itetiiess,
engage in mergers, acquisitions and asset sadesatt with affiliates and alter its business. Toenpany was in compliance with all covenants uriderine of
Credit as of December 31, 2014.

F- 25




12. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31

2014 2013
Accrued payroll and related benef $ 547¢ % 7,601
Accrued sales and other tay 1,76¢ 1,367
Accrued professional fees and outside contrac 1,09t 1,56¢
Accrued content deliver 2,232 2,31¢
Accrued other liabilities 1,152 1,67
Total $ 11,72 $ 14,52¢

13. Segment Information

Disclosure requirements about segments of an aigerand related information establishes standard®porting information regarding operating segise
in annual financial statements and requires seldnfermation of those segments to be presentéuténim financial reports issued to stockholderpetating
segments are identified as components of an ergergbout which separate discrete financial infdionas available for evaluation by the chief ofigrg
decision-maker, or decision-making group, in maldegisions on how to allocate resources and apsefsmance. The Company’s chief decision makésis
chief executive officer. The Company and the ctifision maker view the Company’s operations andage its business as one operating segment.

Geographic Data
Total revenue to unaffiliated customers by geogi@ptea, based on the location of the customer,asdsllows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Revenue:

North America $ 75,41¢ $ 65,33¢ $ 55,83¢

Europe 30,62« 27,18( 20,31«

Japar 7,902 6,497 5,94¢

Asia Pacific 10,10¢ 10,09¢ 5,17¢

Other 968 787 70C
Total revenue $ 125,010 $ 109,89 $ 87,97

North America is comprised of revenue from the BdiStates, Canada and Mexico. During the yearsdeddeember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, revenue

customers located in the United States was $69F6®195 and $51,695, respectively. During the yeaded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, no other
country contributed more than 10% of the Compaintal revenue.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, property andoeeemt at locations outside the United States wasnagerial.

14. 401(k) Savings Plan

The Company maintains a defined contribution savjplgn covering all eligible U.S. employees undect®n 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Company contributions to the plan may be madeeatiibcretion of the Board. As of December 31, 2@id Company has made $199,000 in contributioiseto
plan.

15. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

For the three months ended

Dec. 31, 201« Sept. 30, 201« June 30, 201« March 31, 201« Dec. 31, 201! Sept. 30, 201¢ June 30, 2012 March 31, 201%
Revenue $ 31,38: $ 31,52 31,00¢ $ 31,10¢ $ 29,74¢ $ 28,52 26,90: $ 24,72:
Gross profit 20,15¢ 20,70¢ 20,57¢ 19,83¢ 19,79( 19,27¢ 17,72¢ 16,307
Loss from operation (3,449 (3,110 (3,97) (4,65¢) (1,009 (1,317 (3,309 (3,872
Net loss attributable to Brightcove Ir (3,929 (3,80%) (4,327) (4,837 (1,249 (1,26¢) (3,527 (4,229
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (013 8 (017 8 01y $ (0.1 $ (009 $ (0.0 8 (01 8 (0.1%)
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Our management, with the participation of our ppatexecutive officer and principal financial affir, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disobos
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a)Hhd 15d-15(e) under the Securities ExchangefAt934, as amended (the “Exchange Ac@y of the en
of the period covered by this Annual Report on FAG¥K. Based on such evaluation, our principal exge officer and principal financial officer have
concluded that as of such date, our disclosureaisreind procedures were effective.

Managemen's Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinanciaReporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15df16¢
the Exchange Act. Internal control over financeggborting is a process designed to provide reaseregsiurance regarding the reliability of finanoggdorting anc
the preparation of financial statements for extepuaposes in accordance with generally accepteduating principles, and includes those policied an
procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenanaeodrds that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and disposition®of assets; (ii)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions@seded as necessary to permit preparation ofifiaastatements in accordance with generally aeckep
accounting principles, and that our receipts ammkegitures are being made only in accordance withogizations of our management and directors;(aind
provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, esalisposition of our assets that could have arateffect
on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohover financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also, projections of any evatuatf
effectiveness to future periods are subject taigiethat controls may become inadequate becauskarfges in conditions, or that the degree of campé with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness ofteamahcontrol over financial reporting as of Ded&m31, 2014 using the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremgd®ommission (COSO) in its Internal Control-Intgd Framework (2013). Based on this assessment an
those criteria, management concluded that ourriaterontrol over financial reporting was effectag of December 31, 2014.

Management excluded from its assessment of the @oy'pinternal control over financial reportingafs<December 31, 2014 the internal control over
financial reporting of Unicorn Media, Inc. (Unicoktedia), Unicorn Media of Arizona, Inc., an Arizooarporation (Unicorn Arizona Sub), U Media Limited
private limited company registered in England analé¥ (Unicorn UK Sub and, together with Unicorn hMeahd Unicorn Arizona Sub, Unicorn). The Company
acquired substantially all of the assets of Unicamd certain of its subsidiaries on January 314200his exclusion is consistent with guidance ésshy the SE(
that an assessment of a recently acquired busin@g®e omitted from management's report on interomatrol over financial reporting in the year ofjatsition.
Unicorn represented 2% of total assets and 5%talf tevenue as of and for the year ended Decenthe2(3 4.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioil reporting as of December 31, 2014 has beditealby Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registier
public accounting firm, as stated in their repohiceh is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm
There were no changes in our internal control diwancial reporting during our most recent fiscahger that have materially affected, or are reabiyn

likely to materially affect, our internal controber financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountifigm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Brightcove Inc.

We have audited Brightcove Inc.’s internal contreér financial reporting as of December 31, 20546l on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissi@i&framework) (the COSO criteria). Brightcove
Inc.’s management is responsible for maintainidgative internal control over financial reportirand for its assessment of the effectiveness ofriateontrol
over financial reporting included in the accompagyManagemens’' Annual Report on Internal Control Over Finan&aporting. Our responsibility is to expr
an opinion on the company'’s internal control oveaicial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d@nited States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablarasse about whether effective internal controlrdireancial reporting was maintained in all materespects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding térmal control over financial reporting, assesshmgrisk that a material weakness exists, testimbevaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of intezoatrol based on the assessed risk, and perforsuicly other procedures as we considered necessiéuy in
circumstances. We believe that our audit provide=agonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaaesuregarding the reliability of financial repog and
the preparation of financial statements for extepuaposes in accordance with generally accepteduatting principles. A company’s internal contreko
financial reporting includes those policies andcgdures that (1) pertain to the maintenance ofrdscihat, in reasonable detail, accurately andifeaflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets ofdhgany; (2) provide reasonable assurance thatdcsions are recorded as necessary to permit pitepanf
financial statements in accordance with generaltepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are being made anly i
accordance with authorizations of management anetttirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonassearance regarding prevention or timely deteaifon
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition ef¢bmpany’s assets that could have a materialteffethe financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohover financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of any evaturetf
effectiveness to future periods are subject tailethat controls may become inadequate becauskanfges in conditions, or that the degree of ciampé with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management's AhRegort on Internal Control Over Financial Repagtimanagement’s assessment of and conclusion
on the effectiveness of internal control over ficiahreporting did not include the internal consrof Unicorn Media, Inc. (Unicorn Media), Unicornelia of
Arizona, Inc., an Arizona corporation (Unicorn Asim Sub), U Media Limited, a private limited compaegistered in England and Wales (Unicorn UK Sub
and, together with Unicorn Media and Unicorn Ariaddub, Unicorn), which is included in the 2014 adidted financial statements of Brightcove Inad an
constituted 2% of total assets as of December @14 2nd 5% of revenues for the year then endeda@dit of internal control over financial reportin§
Brightcove Inc. also did not include an evaluatidhe internal control over financial reportingficorn.

In our opinion, Brightcove Inc. maintained, in mlhterial respects, effective internal control dieancial reporting as of December 31, 2014, basethe
COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasds the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated balance slas
of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the relatecbtidated statements of operations, comprehensag fredeemable convertible preferred stock and
stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows fach of the three years in the period ended DeceBhe2014 of Brightcove Inc. and our report dateardh 5,
2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Boston, Massachuse
March 5, 201t

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporée Governance

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting wicRholders, which we will file with the SEC within
120 days of the end of the fiscal year to whick tnnual Report on Form 10-K relates.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting wicBholders, which we will file with the SEC within
120 days of the end of the fiscal year to whick tnnual Report on Form 10-K relates.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting mwfc8holders, which we will file with the SEC within
120 days of the end of the fiscal year to whick tnnual Report on Form 10-K relates.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ins and Director Independence

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting wfc8holders, which we will file with the SEC within
120 days of the end of the fiscal year to whick #inual Report on Form 10-K relates.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting wfc8holders, which we will file with the SEC within
120 days of the end of the fiscal year to whick #hnnual Report on Form 10-K relates.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements and Scheda$
(a)(2) Financial Statements.
The response to this portion of Item 15 is settfarder Item 8 above.
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

All schedules have been omitted because they daneqoired or because the required informatioriviergin the Consolidated Financial Statements deblo
thereto set forth under Item 8 above.

(a)(3) Exhibits.
See the Exhibit Index immediately following thersadure page of this Annual Report on FormKLOFhe exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index belowediled ol

incorporated by reference as part of this Annugd®eon Form 10-K.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{(t)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the reaigthas duly caused this report to be signedsolpehalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BRIGHTCOVE INC.
By: /s/ David Mendel:

David Mendels
Chief Executive Office

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose individual signature appearsbleémeby constitutes and appoints Kevin R. Rhodésfmdrew Feinberg, and each of them, with full
power of substitution and resubstitution and fulver to act without the other, as his or her tng lawful attorney-in-fact and agent to act in tiher name,
place and stead and to execute in the name andr@iflof each person, individually and in each cépatated below, and to file any and all amendimém this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the samighwall exhibits thereto, and other documents inrextion therewith, with the Securities and Excleang
Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact agents, and each of them, full power and authtwitio and perform each and every act and thatdying
and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact aggnts or any of them or their or his substituteutrstitutes may lawfully do or cause to be dongitiye
thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf of the registrand
in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ David Mendel: Chief Executive Officer and Directt March 5, 201°¢
David Mendels (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ Kevin R. Rhode Chief Financial Office March 5, 201¢
Kevin R. Rhode! (Principal Financial Officer)
/sl Christopher Stagr Chief Accounting Officel March 5, 201t
Christopher Stagn (Principal Accounting Officer
/sl Jeremy Allaire Chairman of the Board of Directc March 5, 201°¢
Jeremy Allaire
/s/ Deborah Besem: Director March 5, 201°¢
Deborah Beseme
/sl Gary Haroial Director March 5, 201t
Gary Haroiar
/sl Derek Harra Director March 5, 201¢
Derek Harral
/sl Chet Kapoo Director March 5, 201°¢
Chet Kapool
/s/ Scott Kurnit Director March 5, 201°¢
Scott Kurnit
/s/ David Orfac Director March 5, 201¢

David Orfao
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibits
2.1+ Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July2@62, by and among the Registrant, Zebra Acqursi@iorporation, Zencoder Inc. a
the Securityholde’ Representative named there
2.2%(2) Asset Purchase Agreement and Plan of Reorgamizatated as of January 6, 2014, by and amongeéfhetRant, Cacti Acquisition LLC,
Unicorn Media, Inc., Unicorn Media of Arizona, Intl Media Limited and the Securityhold’ Representative named there
3.1 @) Eleventh Amended and Restated Certificate ofrimm@tion.
3.2%(4) Amended and Restated By-Laws.
4.1* 5 Form of Common Stock certificate of the Registran
4.2% (6) Second Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreedated January 17, 2007, by and among the tRegishe investors listed
therein, and Jeremy Allaire, as amenc
4.3« () Warrant to Purchase Stock dated August 31, 288060 by the Registrant to GE Capital CFE, Inc.
4.4 ®) Warrant to Purchase Stock dated August 31, 288060 by the Registrant to TriplePoint Capital LLC.
4.5*(9) Brightcove Inc. RSU Inducement Plan.
4.6* (10) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreementemnthe Brightcove Inc. 2012 RSU Inducement Plan.
10.1*(11) Form of Indemnification Agreement between the iRegnt and its directors and executive officers.
10.21*(12) Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Option and liveeRtan of the Registrant, together with formswfard agreement.
10.31*(13) 2012 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant.
10.41*(14) Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under2012 Stock Incentive Plan.
10.51(15) Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement @wmpany Employees under the 2012 Stock Incentiae.PlI
10.6* (16) Lease dated February 28, 2007 between Mortim&uBkerman, Edward H. Linde and Michael A. Cantalugs Trustees of One
Cambridge Center Trust and Brightcove Inc., as ateé!
10.7+x@7) Lease dated June 15, 2011 between BP Russia Wh@rand Brightcove Inc.
10.8*(18) Loan and Security Agreement dated March 30, 2&tiveen Silicon Valley Bank and Brightcove Inc.aasended.
10.9%(19) Second Loan Modification Agreement dated April 2913 between Silicon Valley Bank and Brightconre. |
10.10*(20) Third Loan Modification Agreement dated OctobeRPB14 between Silicon Valley Bank and Brightcone. |

10.111*(2)
10.121*(22)
10.131*(23)
10.141*(24)
10.151*(25)
10.16*(26)

10.171*@7)

10.181*(28)
10.191*(29)
10.201*(0)
10.211*(B1)
10.221*(32)
10.231*(33)

Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betweeRegistrant and Jeremy Allaire.

Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betwleeiRegistrant and David Mendels.

Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betweeRegistrant and Edward Godin.

Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betweeRegistrant and Andrew Feinberg.

Employment Separation Agreement dated Janue2913 between the Registrant and Edward Godin.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datg®3, 2013 between Brightcove Inc. and Jeremuyifd|

Letter Agreement dated August 25, 2014 betweerRégistrant and Christopher Menard related toNmard’s resignation and

separation from employment with the Registr.
Employment Agreement dated October 1, 2014 betilee Registrant and Jon Corley.

Employment Agreement dated October 1, 2014 betilee Registrant and Paul Goetz.
Employment Agreement dated November 3, 2014 beivilee Registrant and Kevin R. Rhodes.
Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy.

Senior Executive Incentive Bonus Plan.

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under2f12 Stock Incentive Plan.
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Exhibits

10.241*(34) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement fan@pany Employees under the 2012 Stock Incentive. Pla
10.251*(35) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreementfn-Employee Directors under the 2012 Stock Ingerlan.
10.26*(36) Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement lwn-Employee Directors under the 2012 Stock Ineerfilan.
21.1%* Subsidiaries of the Registra
23.1% Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registdtablic Accounting Firm
24.1%* Power of Attorney (included on signature pag
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1%*e Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chi€ihancial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of theb&ae-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS+ XBRL Instance Documen

101.SCH+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

101.CAL+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntn

101.DEF+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe

101.LAB+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PRE+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenty

(1) Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissianjuly 26, 201z
(2) Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registr’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissianlanuary 6, 201

(3) Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment No. 5 to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form Setfilith the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 6, 2012

(4) Filed as Exhibit 3.3 to Amendment No. 5 to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form SeHfilith the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 6, 2012

(5) Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 5 to Regyistrant’'s Registration Statement on Form Seblfiith the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 6, 201%

(6) Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registr’'s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 24, 201
(7) Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Registr’'s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 24, 201
(8) Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registr’'s Registration Statement on Forr-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Augd, 2011
(9) Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registr’'s Registration Statement on Fori-8 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 14, 201:
(10)Filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Registr’'s Registration Statement on Fori-8 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 14, 201:

(11) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Amendment No. 5 te Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form fed fvith the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 6, 2012

(12) Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registr's Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiorAugust 24, 201!

(13) Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Amendment No. 5 te Registrant’'s Registration Statement on Form Bed fvith the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 6, 2012

(14) Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Amendment No. 5 te Registrant’'s Registration Statement on Form Bed fvith the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 6, 2012

(15) Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 5 te Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form fed fvith the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 6, 2012
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(16) Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registr's Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiorAugust 24, 201!
(17) Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registr's Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiorAugust 24, 201!
(18) Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Registr's Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiorAugust 24, 201!
(19) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiampril 30, 2013

(20) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarOctober 7, 201«

(21) Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Registr's Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 24, 201!
(22) Filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Registr's Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 24, 201:
(23) Filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Registr's Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 24, 201:
(24) Filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Registr's Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiorAugust 24, 201
(25) Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrs Annual Report on Form -K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarMarch 5, 2013

(26) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissianJuly 25, 2012

(27) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registr's Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiomNovember 3, 201.
(28) Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registr's Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiomNovember 3, 201«
(29) Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registr's Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiomNovember 3, 201«
(30) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarNovember 10, 201

(31) Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Amendment No. 5He Registrant’s Registration Statement on Formfiged with the Securities and Exchange Commission o
February 6, 2012

(32) Filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment No. 5He Registrant’s Registration Statement on Fornmfigd with the Securities and Exchange Commission o
February 6, 2012

(33) Filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Amendment No. 5hte Registrant’s Registration Statement on Fornfifd with the Securities and Exchange Commission o
February 6, 2012

(34) Filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No. 5hte Registrant’s Registration Statement on Fornfifd with the Securities and Exchange Commission o
February 6, 2012

(35) Filed as Exhibit 10.18 to Amendment No. 5He Registrant’s Registration Statement on Fornmfiged with the Securities and Exchange Commission o
February 6, 2012

(36) Filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 5He Registrant’s Registration Statement on Fornmfiged with the Securities and Exchange Commission o
February 6, 2012

* Incorporated herein by referen

**  Filed herewitr

¢ The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hierare deemed to accompany this Annual Report omA®-K and will not be deemed “fileddr purposes ¢
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 12®84amended. Such certifications will not be deetnduk incorporated by reference into any filingsles
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the i@msuExchange Act of 1934, as amended, excefita@xtent that the Registrant specifically incogpe:
it by reference

+ In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulatiom Shese XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Lagg)alocuments are furnished and not filed or aqfee
registration statement or prospectus for purpoé&ections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1988amended, or Section 18 of the Securities Exehawi
of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not sutbjdiebility under these sectior

t Indicates a management contract or any compenspl@my contract or arrangeme
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Name

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Jurisdiction of Organization

Exhibit 21.1

Brightcove UK Ltd
Brightcove Singapore Pte. Lt
Brightcove K.K.

Brightcove Koree

Brightcove Australia Pty Lt
Brightcove Holdings, Inc
Zencoder Inc

Brightcove F=LLC

Cacti Acquisition LLC

UK
Singapore
Japar
Korea
Australia
Delaware
Delaware
United Arab Emirate
Delaware




Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inféllewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-BB®ertaining to the Amended and Restated 200¢kSdption and Incentive Plan of Brightcove Inc.
and the Brightcove Inc. 2012 Stock Incentive P

(2) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-183315) pertaining to the Brightcove Inc. 2012 R8tducement Plar
(3) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-187051) pertaining to the Brightcove Inc. 2012 &tentive Plan

(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-Da3 pertaining to the Brightcove Inc. 2014 Stocki®pInducement Plan and the Brightcove Inc. 2012
Stock Incentive Plan, ar

(5) Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-192131) of Brightcove Inc

of our reports dated March 5, 2015, with respethéoconsolidated financial statements of Brightctne. and the effectiveness of internal contr@rdinancial
reporting of Brightcove Inc. included in this AnhiiReport (Form 10-K) of Brightcove Inc. for the yemded December 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Boston, Massachuse
March 5, 201¢




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David Mendels, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Brightcove Inc.:

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notato any untrue statement of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuwlieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this ref

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ odimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects theaficia
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preskint¢his report

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer ahare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as definekah&nge
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internatrebover financial reporting (as defined in ExcgarAct Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and hawv

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdobe designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrancluding its consolidated subsidiaries, is mdewn to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this rep@teing preparec

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@gorting to be designed under our supervisio
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réfyabilfinancial reporting and the preparation imfancial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iples;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntad report our conclusions about the effectaenof
the disclosure controls and procedures, as ofrideo&the period covered by this report based @h swaluation

d) Disclosed in this report any change in théstegnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’'s most redisoal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quartethie case of an annual report) that has materiéftbgt®d, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
registran’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer ahidave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuafiinternal control over financial reporting,tte
registran’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which are reasonably like
adversely affect the registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisagtifole in the registrant’s internal control ove
financial reporting

Date: March 5, 201 By:
/s/ David Mendel

David Mendels
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Kevin R. Rhodes, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Brightcove Inc.:

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notato any untrue statement of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuwlieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this ref

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ odimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects theaficia
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preskint¢his report

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer ahare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as definekah&nge
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internatrebover financial reporting (as defined in ExcgarAct Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and hawv

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdobe designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrancluding its consolidated subsidiaries, is mdewn to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this rep@teing preparec

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@gorting to be designed under our supervisio
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réfyabilfinancial reporting and the preparation imfancial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iples;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntad report our conclusions about the effectaenof
the disclosure controls and procedures, as ofrideo&the period covered by this report based @h swaluation

d) Disclosed in this report any change in théstegnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’'s most redisoal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quartethie case of an annual report) that has materiéftbgt®d, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
registran’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer ahidave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuafiinternal control over financial reporting,tte
registran’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which are reasonably like
adversely affect the registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisagtifole in the registrant’s internal control ove
financial reporting

Date: March 5, 201
/sl Kevin R. Rhode

Kevin R. Rhode:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fBaghtcove Inc. for the year ended December 1.4as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), DaMighdels, as Chief Executive Officer of Brightcdwe., hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of tHeaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of mewledge the Report fully complies with the reqments of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, and the information contained in the&efairly presents, in all material respects, financial
condition and results of operations of Brightcone. |

Date: March 5, 2015 By:
/s/ David Mendel:

David Mendels
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officet

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fBaghtcove Inc. for the year ended December R1.4as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), KeRirRhodes, as Chief Financial Officer of Brightedmc., hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.CtiSec
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of tHeaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of mewdedge the Report fully complies with the reqmiemnts of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, and the information contained in th@®&efairly presents, in all material respects, fihancial
condition and results of operations of Brightcome. |

Date: March 5, 2015 By:
/sl Kevin R. Rhode
Kevin R. Rhode:!

Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer




